VILNIUS UNIVERSITY

NATURE RESEARCH CENTRE

JUSTAS DAINYS

MIGRATION OF STOCKED EUROPEAN EELS (ANGUILLA ANGUILLA L.) IN LITHUANIA AND POTENTIAL CONTRIBUTION TO SPAWNING STOCK RESTORATION

Doctoral dissertation

Biomedical Sciences, Ecology and Environmental Science (03B)

Vilnius, 2017

The doctoral dissertation was prepared at the Nature Research Centre in 2012-2016. The right of doctoral studies was granted to Nature Research Centre jointly with Vilnius University.

Scientific Supervisor - dr. **Linas Ložys** (Nature Research Centre, Biomedical Sciences, Ecology and Environmental Science - 03B).

VILNIAUS UNIVERSITETAS GAMTOS TYRIMŲ CENTRAS

JUSTAS DAINYS

ĮŽUVINTŲ EUROPINIŲ UNGURIŲ (*ANGUILLA ANGUILLA* L.) MIGRACIJA LIETUVOJE IR POTENCIALUS INDĖLIS Į NERŠTINIŲ IŠTEKLIŲ ATKŪRIMĄ

Daktaro disertacija

Biomedicinos mokslai, ekologija ir aplinkotyra (03B)

Vilnius, 2017

Disertacija rengta 2012–2016 metais Gamtos tyrimų centre.

Mokslinis vadovas – dr. Linas Ložys (Gamtos tyrimų centras, biomedicinos mokslai, ekologija ir aplinkotyra – 03B).

Contents

| ABBREVIATIONS | 6 |
|---|------|
| INTRODUCTION | 7 |
| Relevance of the study. | 7 |
| Scientific novelty of the study | . 10 |
| Scientific and practical significance | . 10 |
| The key aim of the study | . 12 |
| Study objectives | . 13 |
| Statements to be defended | . 13 |
| Scientific approval and publications | . 14 |
| Structure of the thesis | . 14 |
| List of papers | . 14 |
| Acknowledgements | . 15 |
| 1. LITERATURE REVIEW | . 16 |
| 1.1 General life history | . 16 |
| 1.2 Eel stock | . 18 |
| 1.3 Issues related to stocking | . 20 |
| 1.4 Anthropogenic mortality | . 23 |
| 2. MATERIALS AND METHODS | . 27 |
| 2.1 Laboratory experiment on eel survival | . 27 |
| 2.2 Eel mortality in CINK and Kaplan turbines | . 28 |
| 2.2.1 Large Kaplan turbine | . 28 |
| 2.2.2 Small CINK and Kaplan turbines. | . 28 |
| 2.3 Eel migration patterns and migration success | . 29 |
| 2.4 Accumulated energetic reserves and swimming potential | . 31 |
| 3. RESULTS | . 32 |
| 3.1 Laboratory experiment on eel survival | . 32 |
| 3.2 Eel mortality in CINK and Kaplan turbines | . 33 |
| 3.2.1 Small CINK turbines | . 33 |
| 3.2.2 Large Kaplan turbine | . 33 |
| 3.2.3 Small Kaplan turbine | . 33 |
| 3.3 Eel migration patterns and migration success | . 34 |
| 3.4 Accumulated energetic reserves and swimming potential | . 36 |
| 4. DISCUSSION | . 37 |
| 5. CONCLUSIONS | . 43 |
| 8. RECOMMENDATIONS | . 44 |
| 9. REFFERENCES | . 45 |

Papers:

| Do young on-grown eels, Anguilla anguilla (Linnaeus, 1758), outperform glass eels after | |
|---|-----|
| transition to a natural prey diet? | 56 |
| Mortality of silver eels, Anguilla anguilla (Linnaeus, 1758), migrating through different typ | pes |
| of hydropower turbines in Lithuania | 61 |
| Silver eel, Anguilla anguilla (Linnaeus, 1758), migration patterns in lowland rivers and | |
| lagoons in the North-Eastern region of their distribution range | 76 |
| Are Lithuanian eels, Anguilla anguilla (Linnaeus, 1758), fat enough to reach the spawning | |
| grounds? | 83 |

ABBREVIATIONS

- EMP Eel Management Plan
- EU European Union
- FCF Fulton's Condition Factor
- HPP Hydro-power Plant
- ICES The International Council for the Exploration of the Sea
- MS Migration success

INTRODUCTION

Relevance of the study. According to the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, over 70% of fish populations are fully used, overused or depleted. The European eel (Anguilla anguilla) in particular is one of the most severely affected species. Steep decline in European eel recruitment started in the 1980s and since then eel population abundance has fallen below safe biological limits, with estimates of decline in rates of recruitment ranging from 50% to 99% (ICES, 2010; Jacoby and Gollock, 2014). This population depletion has occurred over the entire range of this species' distribution without a single obvious cause. In response to declines in eel stocks, in 2007 the Regulation of European Council the European Union issued No. 1100/2007, which lays down measures for stock restoration of European eels. The regulation obliges member states to develop national Eel Management Plans. A Lithuanian national eel management plan was approved by European Commission in 2009. The aim of these plans is to restore stocks to sustainable levels, akin to their historical abundance. Restocking of inland waters is considered one of the main tools to accomplish this aim (Dekker and Beaulaton, 2016), but stocking with hatchery-reared fish does not always in fish deliver significant improvements stocks (Larscheid, 1995: Blaxter, 2000). There have been suggestions that eels derived from stocking are less likely to contribute to the spawning stock than those that are produced naturally.

Nowadays, after capture in the wild, glass eels are often on-grown in aquaculture before restocking them into natural water bodies. It has been commonly believed that mortality upon release of these on-grown eels back into the wild is lower when compared with mortality rates among those stocked at the glass eel stage. This tenet is speculative and in need of testing (ICES, 2015b). After several years or even decades spent in fresh or brackish waters, eels previously released from aquaculture farms reach the silver eel

7

stage and start their downstream spawning migration. Results of previous studies (Winter et al., 2006; Winter et al., 2007; Bruijs and Durif, 2009; Aarestrup et al., 2010) have demonstrated that substantial mortality during this migration dramatically reduces the number of spawners. Fishing mortality and injury during passage through HPPs are often considered to be the main causes of eel mortality in rivers (Winter et al., 2006).

There is a general assumption is that turbine related mortality of migrating fish decreases with increasing turbine size (Calles et al., 2010), but eel mortality rates in HPPs are highly variable depending on river physiography, associated hydrological conditions and the type of migration barriers installed (ICES, 2007). Kaplan turbines which are the most commonly used in Europe have been the intensively studied type of HPP and eel morality during passage through these turbines has been reported as ranging between 15% and 30% in large models, and from 50% to 100% in the smaller turbines used in most small-scale HPPs (Monten, 1985; Hadderingh and Baker, 1998). Unlike Kaplan turbines, rates of eel mortality in cross-flow turbines (e.g. Banki, CINK, Ossberger) that are also used in some small-scale HPPs have never been previously studied. These turbines are likely to have a severe impact on migrating eels because mortality rates among other fish species whose passage through cross-flow turbines has been studied have been shown to be significantly higher (up to 75%; Gloss and Wahl, 1983; DuBois and Gloss, 1993) compared to that in Kaplan or Francis turbines. Nevertheless, according to Ložys et al. (2008), approximately half of the Lithuanian eel population is not affected by HPP turbines during downstream migrations. Although there have been numerous studies about eel mortality arising from passage through various HPPs, there are scant data available on eel escapement success or downstream migration speed within unimpeded rivers (e.g. Simon et al., 2011; Bultel et al., 2014; Stein et al., 2016) and lagoons (e.g. Amilhat et al., 2008, Charrier et al., 2012). Moreover, Lithuania's lowland rivers differ in terms of their hydrological conditions (40% of discharge comes from melted snow, 35%

from ground water and only 25% from rain); temperature (2–3 months per year rivers are covered with ice); degree of regulation (most large rivers are natural and historically were not regulated); and flow regime (in spring due to melting snow discharge, flows are 2–3 times higher than in other seasons) compared to Western Europe (Gailiušis et al., 2001). In the context of concerted international efforts to restore eel stocks, it is therefore essential for successful implementation of the national Eel Management Plans to determine the main downstream migration patterns and escapement success of silver eels in the North-Eastern region of their distribution range.

Downstream migration of eels in Lithuania ends when silver eels enter the Curonian Lagoon and from there finally reach the Baltic Sea via the Klaipeda Strait. During the final silvering stage eels do not feed during their oceanic migration phase (Tesch, 2003; Van den Thillart and Dufour, 2009), therefore they must rely completely on accumulating sufficient fat stores during the sedentary yellow eel stage which is spent in coastal or inland waters to obtain energy for migration and gonad maturation (Tesch, 2003). The migration distance to the presumed spawning areas in the Sargasso Sea is at least 4000 km, but from different regions within the species' range may differ up to more than 3500 km (Schmidt, 1923; Clevestam et al., 2011). Eels migrating from the North-Eastern region of their distribution range obviously need more energetic resources and more time to reach the the Sargasso Sea, compared to eels migrating from the Atlantic coast bordering Western Europe. Eels migrating from the inland waters of Eastern Lithuania must cover almost 8000 km (Paper IV). All eels inhabiting inland Lithuanian waters are known to be of stocked origin (Shiao et al., 2006; Lin et al., 2007; Ložys et al., 2008; Ragauskas et al., 2014). Moreover, prior to stocking, glass eels must be translocated by freight for more than 2000 kilometres from the United Kingdom or France and then released into Lithuanian inland waters. Due to a lack of data about energy resources among stocked eels migrating to spawn, it is unclear if European eels translocated over long distances prior to stocking have sufficient capacity to accommodate the extended distances of migration caused by human intervention. Inability of stocked eels in North America to accumulate adequate fat reserves for migration and reproduction has been reported by Couillard et al. (2014). An evaluation of the migratory potential of Lithuanian silver eels of stocked origin to reach their natural spawning grounds is important in gaining a better understanding of the contribution of stocking activities towards recovery of European eel stocks.

Scientific novelty of the study:

- 1. A unique laboratory experiment undertaken within this study indicated that after transitioning to natural food (*Chironomus spp.* larvae) on-grown eels had no advantage in survival compared with glass eels.
- 2. It was estimated that eels passing through small CINK turbines suffer lethal injuries resulting in 100% mortality.
- 3. It was demonstrated that a substantial proportion of eels migrating downstream used fish ladders, originally designed for upstream migration of salmonids.
- 4. Speed of migration and migration success of silver eels were determined in lowland rivers of the North-Eastern part of the species distribution range.
- 5. Swimming potential for silver eels of stocked origin was estimated for the North-Eastern part of the species distribution range.

Scientific and practical significance. Results of the present study allow optimization of measures towards the recovery of European eel stocks. Stocking of eels is one of the main actions carried out to restore stocks to sustainable levels in most European countries. Ongrowing eels prior to stocking has been a widely accepted practice due to the perception that mortality upon release of on-grown eels back into the wild is lower compared to mortality rates among those which have been stocked at glass eel stage. In contrast with this notion, results of the laboratory study on eel survival under treatment with natural food, indicated that survival decreases with increasing duration of the on-growing period and on-grown eels have no advantage in survival compared to glass eels when fed natural food (*Chironomus* spp. larvae). This finding is an essential contribution towards a better understanding of how well eels on-grown in aquaculture can wean from artificial to natural food and how this transition affects their survival in comparison with wild glass eels. Practical application of this finding is important when considering the efficacy of measures targeting restoration of depleted eel stocks to sustainable levels. This is especially the case when restocking of inland waters is one of the main measures for accomplishing restoration. It is for this reason that results of the current study are of interest to a broad readership working in the fields of fisheries, aquaculture and ecological restoration.

After stocked eels mature and reach silver eel stage, they start migrating downstream towards the sea or ocean. During these migrations substantial mortality can drastically reduce the number of successful spawners. Success of Eel Management Plans and restoration activities is gauged in the context EU Regulations by determining in the numbers of silver eels leaving inland waters to spawn. Barriers, especially hydropower installations, are considered to be one of the major threats for eels' downstream spawning migration. Therefore, it is important to determine the extent to which downstream migrating eels use fish ladders originally designed for upstream migration of salmonids and to estimate the proportion of migrating eels which are killed by passing directly through turbines. This study provides an estimate of the mortality rate among downstream migrating eels passing through (1) a hydropower plant with Kaplan turbines and a fish ladder, and (2) a cross-flow CINK turbine. The latter has never been reported before, hence the study provides critical information for both fundamental and applied science. Additionally, the proportion of downstream migrating eels passing through the fish ladder was estimated. Results of the study demonstrated that HPPs may significantly threaten the escapement targets set in eel management plans if stocking is carried out in water bodies upstream from HPPs. This aspect of eel mortality must be taken into account whenever long term strategies for restoration of depleted eel populations are considered. Determination of the patterns of silver eel migration in the rivers of the North Eastern eel distribution range is important in the context of concerted international efforts to restore eel stocks and also provided valuable new data for further research.

Eels have the longest spawning migration route amongst all known fish species and critically they do not feed during their oceanic migrations. Spawning from eels of stocked origin has previously been reported as being insufficient for restoring recruitment. This is based on a presumption that they possess lower energetic resources than eels which have spent their entire lives in the wild (Couillard et al., 2014). Despite suggestions that eels derived from stocking are less likely to contribute to the spawning stock due to lower fitness related to insufficiency of energetic resources, results of the current study provide important evidence to the contrary. The results showed that more than one third of glass eels sourced from up to 2000 km away and subsequently released into inland waters of Lithuania, representing the North-Eastern part of their distribution range, had sufficient energetic resources to successfully reproduce. It can be surmised that stocked eels are likely to contribute to the spawning stock if their navigational abilities in migrating to the ocean are adequate.

The key aim of the study was to evaluate the potential of eels stocked into inland water bodies within the North-Eastern region of their geographical distribution range to contribute to the global spawning stock.

Study objectives:

- 1. To evaluate how well on-grown eels wean from artificial to natural food (*Chironomus* spp. larvae) and how this transition affects their survival in comparison with wild glass eels.
- 2. To evaluate eel mortality caused by different types of hydropower turbines: large Kaplan turbine, small Kaplan turbine and small CINK turbine.
- 3. To evaluate the success and speed of eels migrating downstream to the Curonian Lagoon and Baltic Sea.
- 4. To assess whether or not eels translocated from the coasts of Western Europe to the North-Eastern extremity of their distribution range accumulate enough energy for gonadal maturation and migration to their spawning grounds in the Sargasso Sea.

Statements to be defended:

- 1. Eels ongrown in an aquaculture facility have no advantage in survival compared to glass eels after transition to natural food (*Chironomus* spp. larvae).
- 2. Turbine induced mortality is highly dependent on turbine size and type; Kaplan turbines are more eel-friendly compared to cross-flow CINK turbines. Turbine-related mortality can dramatically reduce the number of spawners returning to the spawning grounds, threatening escapement targets of management measures if stocking occcurs upstream from hydropower plants.
- Average eel migration speed in rivers and in the Curonian Lagoon are similar, but escapement success from the Lagoon into the Baltic Sea was significantly higher than escapement from the river system into the Lagoon.

- 4. Despite the major spawning migration of eels commencing during early spring within inland Lithuanian waterbodies, the peak of eel emigration to the Baltic Sea occurs in mid or late autumn.
- 5. More than one third of silver eels that were previously translocated for a considerable distance and then released into inland waters of the North-Eastern region of their distribution range had sufficient energetic resources for successful spawning migration and gonadal maturation.

Scientific approval and publications. The results of the present study are summarized in four scientific publications (Papers I-IV) and were presented at eight national and international scientific conferences.

Structure of the thesis. The thesis consists of the following chapters: Abbreviations, Introduction, Literature review, Materials and Methods, Results and Discussion, Conclusion, Recommendations, Reference List, Articles on the subject of the thesis.

List of papers. The thesis is based on the following papers referred to in the text by Roman numeral.

I. J. Dainys, H. Gorfine, E. Šidagytė, E. Jakubavičiūtė, M. Kirka, Ž. Pūtys, L. Ložys. 2017. Do young on-grown eels, *Anguilla anguilla* (Linnaeus, 1758), outperform glass eels after transition to a natural prey diet? Journal of Applied Ichthyology, 33:361–365. DOI: 10.1111/jai.13347

II. J. Dainys, S. Stakėnas, H. Gorfine, L. Ložys. Mortality of Silver Eels, *Anguilla anguilla* (Linnaeus, 1758), Migrating Through Different Types of Hydropower Turbines in Lithuania. (Submitted).

III. J. Dainys, S. Stakėnas, H. Gorfine, L. Ložys. 2017. Silver eel, *Anguilla anguilla* (Linnaeus, 1758), migration patterns in lowland rivers and lagoons in

the North-Eastern region of their distribution range. (Accepted, Journal of Applied Ichthyology). DOI: 10.1111/jai.13426

IV. J. Dainys, H. Gorfine, E. Šidagytė, E. Jakubavičiūtė, M. Kirka, Ž. Pūtys, L. Ložys. Are Lithuanian Eels, *Anguilla anguilla* (Linnaeus, 1758), Fat Enough To Reach the Spawning Grounds? (Submitted).

Reproductions of the published papers were made with permission from the publishers.

Acknowledgements. I am grateful to all my colleagues and all institutions that contributed to the completion of this thesis. I am very grateful to my scientific supervisor dr. Linas Ložys for his guidance, great support and kindly advice throughout my PhD research studies. I am also very grateful to dr. Saulius Stakenas for his help during fieldwork and preparation of manuscripts, and dr. Eglė Šidagytė for her assistance with statistical analysis of the data. Also I want to say special thanks to dr. Harry Gorfine for his huge assistance and advice while preparing manuscripts, this thesis, and improving the English language prose. I am grateful to dr. Svetlana Orlovskytė for her helpful comments and advice for improving the expression in Lithuanian language. I express my sincere gratitude to all the staff of the Laboratory of Marine Ecology of the Nature Research Centre and especially to Mindaugas Kirka for his help during fieldwork activities. I am also grateful to staff of the Klaipeda Port and Kaunas Hydropower Plant for their help during field research. The Fisheries Service under the Ministry of Agriculture of the Republic of Lithuania provided funding and young eels for the experimental laboratory study and partly funded the eel migration and mortality studies. And finally my special thanks go to my family for their support during all the years of my studies.

1. LITERATURE REVIEW

In this section a short literature review on biology and main aspects of European eel (*Anguilla anguilla*) ecology is presented. More detailed reviews of scientific literature dealing respectively with relevant biological/ecological issues are presented in each paper.

1.1 General life history. The European eel, Anguilla anguilla (L.), is one among 15 to 18 species of the genus Anguilla (Family Anguillidae, "Freshwater eels") (Wickström, 2001), but taxonomic composition of this family is not yet stable (Eschmeyer, 2014). The species is facultatively catadromous, living in fresh, brackish and coastal waters but migrating to pelagic marine waters to breed (Jacoby and Gollock, 2014). Its geographic distribution extends from the North Cape in Northern Norway, southwards along the coast of Europe, along the entire Mediterranean coastline, and on the North African Coast (Jacoby and Gollock, 2014). Presumptive spawning grounds are located in the Sargasso Sea, situated between the Bermuda Islands and Puerto Rico where circumstantial evidence points towards both Atlantic eel species (A. anguilla and A. rostrata) spawning (Schmidt, 1925; Tesch, 1977). This presumption is made because the smallest sized eel larvae called leptocephali are found in this area (Schmidt, 1923) with a spatial trend of increasing size towards the coasts of the Europe. There is no direct evidence as silver eels have never been observed spawning in the ocean (Tsukamoto, 2009). The earliest larval stages caught in the Sargasso Sea contain the remnants of an oil droplet which is part of the yolk sack of the egg. When eel larvae start feeding they transform into a transparent leaf-shaped morphotype, referred to as leptocephali. Oceanic migration of leptocephali is estimated to take about two years on average before they arrive at the continental shelf (Tesch, 1977; Bonhommeau et al., 2009). By the time the leptocephali reach the continental slope they are as large as c. 100 mm in length and metamorphose into c. 75 mm 0.3 g glass eels which are elongated and have a transparent body (Edeline, 2007). Glass eels enter freshwater as sexually undifferentiated individuals and sex determination is principally driven by environmental factors with density dependency producing more males at high densities (Davey and Jellyman, 2005; Belpaire et al., 2009). These glass eels are observed in the summer and autumn along the Portuguese coasts, and in winter and spring in the North Sea (Jacoby and Gollock, 2014). The start of the glass eel fishing season is dependent on weather conditions but typically lasts from January to March in the United Kingdom and from November to April in France. When the water temperature increases during spring, these glass eels become pigmented and some of them start to ascend fresh water streams and rivers (Wickström, 2001). At this stage they are referred to as elvers. After elvers finish active migration, a sedentary yellow eel stage commences which is the main feeding and growing phase of their lives. The life strategies of males and females differ. From the data available, lower bound age estimates for attaining average length during the continental growth phase are approximately 3–8 years for males and 4–5 years for females with upper bound estimates approximately 12-15 years for males and 18-20 for females (Froese and Pauly, 2005; Durif et al., 2009). Nevertheless, eels are known to be an extremely long-lived fish species with many year classes (up to 50) (Dekker, 2015) and some silver eels caught in the Curonian Lagoon were determined to be as old as 32 years (Ložys and Dainys, 2015). After several years, or even decades, spent in fresh or brackish water, yellow eels mature to reach the silver eel stage and commence their spawning migration which is time-dependent and generally takes places during autumn (Tesch, 1977; Moriarty, 1978; Capoccioni et al., 2014) or even spring (Czeczuga and Czeczuga-Semeniuk, 2000; Ložys et al., 2008).

The spawning migration of the European eel to the Sargasso Sea is one of the greatest migrations in the animal kingdom (Righton et al., 2016). Eels migrating from Lithuanian inland waters must cover more than 7900 km (Paper IV). Migrating silver eels at the final silvering stage do not feed during their migration to the spawning grounds (Van den Thillart and Dufour, 2009).

Instead they rely completely on accumulating sufficient fat stores during the sedentary yellow eel stage, spent in coastal or inland waters, to obtain the energy required for migration and gonad maturation (Tesch, 2003). Survey catches of *leptocephali* larvae suggest that spawning peaks from the beginning of March and continues until July (McCleave, 1993). The adults are assumed to die after spawning (Jacoby and Gollock, 2014).

1.2 Eel stock. According to results from archaeological research, the population of eels in the Baltic region was intensively exploited 5500 years BC (Schmolcke et al., 2006). Steep declines in eel recruitment throughout Europe were not observed until the 1980s (in the Baltic region even earlier) and since then eel population abundance has fallen outside safe biological limits over the entire geographic range (Dekker, 2004; ICES, 2006). Changes in the Gulf stream, migration barriers, fishing pressure, habitat loss, parasites and pollution are the main factors associated with these changes (Feunteun, 2002; Wirth and Bernatchez, 2003; Dekker, 2004), but there is no clear consensus on their relative importance. The impact of anthropogenic and environmental pressures on eels is highly dependent on local conditions and large differences in eel quality and mortality is either absent (egg and larvae stages) or very limited during different life stages and it is extremely difficult to quantify the extent to which anthropogenic and environmental pressures affect eels.

Contemporary eel populations have been assessed to be outside safe biological limits (Astrom and Dekker, 2007). According to ICES (2009) the abundance of eels for all stages including glass, yellow and silver phases, as well as stock recruitment levels, were at historical minima during 2009. Based on ICES recommendations in 2007 the European Council adopted a framework regulation for the recovery of the European eel stock (Council Regulation (EC) No 1100/2007 of 18. September 2007). Each EU Member State was required to establish a national eel management plan. The main objective of each plan

shall be to take actions to reach a rate of escapement to the sea of at least 40% of the total silver eel biomass, relative to the best estimate of escapement that would have existed under pristine conditions (with no anthropogenic pressure). Reducing of anthropogenic mortalities and restocking water bodies with eels is considered to be one of the main actions for the achievement of these aims.

The first known eel transfer and stocking was recorded in France during 1840 (Dekker and Beaulaton, 2016). In the 1920s and 1940s stocking was carried out in many European countries. During this inter-war period eels were stocked predominantly in the United Kingdom, the Netherlands, Germany and Poland, but also in Latvia, Lithuania and Sweden (Dekker and Beaulaton, 2016). Since 1950–1990s numbers of restocked eels have increased significantly: 3682 million (1200 tonnes) glass eels were stocked in Europe from 1945 to 2000. During the stocking peak in 1970s approximately 150 million eels were transferred and restocked annually. As a result, in many countries, restocked eels constituted a substantial proportion of commercial catches.

Stocking of Lithuanian waters with glass eels started in the Vilnius region during 1928 and lasted until 1939. During that period approximately 3.2 million glass eels were released (Mačionis, 1969). Subsequent stocking was carried out in the post-war period during 1956–2007. According to official data a total of 148 lakes and ponds were stocked with 50 million glass and on-grown eels (on average 1.25 million per year) (Ložys et al., 2008). The most intensive stocking period was during 1960–1986 (in total 33.2 million eels were released), while later stocking activities became irregular and only in low numbers. The last considerable stocking, prior to implementation of the Lithuanian Eel Management Plan, was undertaken in 2004 when 70.1 thousand eels were released into Lithuanian water bodies (Fig 1).



Fig 1. Numbers of eels stocked into Lithuanian water bodies during 1928–2016.

The Lithuanian National Eel Management Plan was approved by the European Commission in 2009 and stocking of waters with glass or ongrown eels was considered to be the main measure to achieve the Plan's objectives. Since then, more intensive eel stocking commenced and almost 3 million ongrown eels were released into 154 different water bodies during 2011–2016.

1.3 Issues related to stocking. Despite the long-term practice of stocking different water bodies throughout Europe, many questions related to the 'best practice' for this activity still remain. ICES (2011) suggests that stocking with glass eel in Europe reached a plateau between 1960 and 1988, and then decreased rapidly. In contrast, since the late 1980s an increase has occurred in the number of small yellow eels used for stocking. It is a common practice to ongrow glass eels in an aquaculture facility for approximately one to three months, especially in Northern Europe due to low temperatures and frozen lakes during the high season of the glass eel fishery in the southern part of the European Atlantic coast. The other reason why glass eels are ongrown in

aquaculture facilities prior to release is that their weight increases up to 10-fold during ongrowing period. It is commonly believed that mortality of these eels is lower when compared with mortality rates among glass eels. This tenet, however, is speculative and has not been substantiated with experimental evidence (ICES, 2007; ICES, 2015b).

Moreover, some previous field experiments suggested that stocking with ongrown eels may result in poorer survival rates than for glass eels (Berg and Jørgensen, 1994; Pedersen, 2000; Wickström, 2001; ICES, 2007). Such poorer survival of farmed eels might be related to failure to recognise or respond appropriately to predators (Stunz and Minello, 2001; Alvarez and Nicieza, 2003; Malavasi et al., 2004). Exposure of different fish species to an artificial environment during on-growing has been reported to produce phenotypic changes that give rise to impaired migratory and anti-predator behaviour thereby reducing chances of survival (Brown and Laland, 2001: Svåsand, 2004), and in some instances stocked fish may be unable to adapt to natural food consumed by wild fish (Smirnov et al., 1994). In addition to these negative aspects of rearing eels in a farm, on-growing of glass eels in aquaculture poses risks of spreading parasites and diseases; genotypic population alteration, increase in the proportion of males; release of slower growing individuals caused by size-dependant sorting; and increasing the cost per stocked eel (Egusa, 1979; ICES, 2011). Despite some recent field studies (Simon and Dörner, 2014; Pedersen and Rasmussen, 2016) which do not support the construct that ongrown eels outperform glass eels after release into the wild, there have been no laboratory experiments performed until now to support or reject this hypothesis.

A more detailed literature review of ongrowing effect on eel survival is presented in the paper entitled "Do young on-grown eels, *Anguilla anguilla* (Linnaeus, 1758), outperform glass eels after transition to a natural prey diet?" (Paper I).

21

After release into the wild, stocked eels spend approximately 6 to 20 years (or even up to 50 (Dekker, 2015)) in the yellow eel stage (Bauchot, 1986). During this sedentary stage eels feed and grow in size, but no intensive maturation processes takes place. At the end of the yellow eel phase, eels undergo a second metamorphosis called 'silvering'. This metamorphosis corresponds to physiological and morphological changes that prepare the fish for the oceanic migration back to the Sargasso Sea and reproduction there (Durif et al., 2005). During this process, the body becomes silver, the eyes, nostrils and fins enlarge, the gonads develop and atrophy of the alimentary tract takes place. These changes correlate with an increase in gonadosomatic index (Franzellitti et al., 2015). Silver eels of the last silvering stage do not feed during spawning migrations (Van den Thillart and Dufour, 2009). Silver European eels need to cover a minimum of 4000 km to reach the Sargasso Sea (McCleave, 1993) and considerable energy to cover must expend this large distance (Van Ginneken et al., 2005). This suggests that energy reserves, in the form of lipids, may be critical for gonadal maturation and successful migration to the spawning grounds. The inland Lithuanian eel population is comprised solely of eels from stocked origin (Shiao et al., 2006). Prior to stocking, these eels are shipped to Lithuania by plane for more than 2000 kilometres. There have been suggestions that eels derived from aquaculture farms are less likely to contribute to the spawning stock. Couillard et al. (2014) demonstrated that none of the American silver eels (Anguilla rostrata) of farmed origin that were migrating downstream had enough energetic reserves to complete migration and maturation, whereas more than half of the silver eels of natural origin had adequate reserves. Consequently, the rationale of re-stocking with farmed eels as an approach to mitigating decline in wild eel populations is increasingly being questioned (Brämick et al., 2016). Overall, there is considerable evidence that stocked eels do survive and escape as silver eels, however, evidence about whether or not they contribute to spawning stock is insufficient. Despite previous studies on fat reserves stored by eels (Tesch, 1977; Boetius and Boetius, 1985; Bergersen and Klemetsen, 1988; Larsson et al., 1990; Svedäng and Wickström, 1997; Belpaire et al., 2009), it is not yet clear whether eels migrating from the North-Eastern part of their distribution range, especially those of stocked origin which are translocated over long distances, accumulate sufficient energy reserves for successful spawning migration and gonadal maturation. This important issue has been studied in detail during the current study. A detailed literature review s is presented in the paper "Are Lithuanian Eels Fat Enough To Reach The Spawning Grounds?" (Paper IV).

1.4 Anthropogenic mortality. Human impact during the downstream descent of silver eels involves extra mortality attributable to fisheries and hydropower (Feunteun, 2002). The non-fishing anthropogenic mortality factors can be grouped as those due to (a) hydropower; (b) habitat loss or degradation; and (c) pollution, diseases, and parasites (ICES, 2015b). The effect of each factor varies between river systems, depending on the intensity of fisheries, and the number and allocation of hydropower plants within a catchment area. Fisheries impact on all available continental life stages throughout the distribution area, although fishing pressure varies from area to area, from almost nil to heavy overexploitation (ICES, 2015a). Total landings and effort data are incomplete and therefore ICES does not have the information needed to provide a reliable estimate of total catches of eel (ICES, 2015a). Nevertheless, in the years since the implementation of the EU eel regulation, fishing restrictions in many countries appear to have reduced the catches considerably (ICES, 2016). In Lithuania some measures to reduce fishing mortality are also taken in the context of the EU eel regulation. The Ministry of Environment of the Republic of Lithuania issued an order of the minister in 2009, to reduce the number of rivers available for the commercial eel fishery by 40% and forbid commercial eel fisheries from using trap nets in lakes. The commercial fishery was banned in the Northern part of the Curonian Lagoon near Klaipėda Strait as a means of reducing mortality among migrating fish. Additional regulations forbidding commercial fishing of silver eels were added in autumn, 2010 and since then eel fishing using traps in rivers and streams is allowed only in spring. Silver eel commercial catches in inland waters (rivers and streams) currently total c. 6100 kg per year (ranging from 2220 to 13081 kg in 2006 – 2016).

Downstream runs of silver eels typically start in autumn and can last until early spring (Bruijs and Durif, 2009). Yet along the South-Eastern Baltic coast, most intense spawning migrations commence during early March and last until late May (Czeczuga and Czeczuga-Semeniuk 2000, Ložys et al., 2008). Autumn migrations are also known to occur during September – October, however these are not as intense as those that occur during spring. According to Ložys et al. (2007) approximately 60% of silver eels start their migration in spring, reducing to 10% during summer and 30% in autumn respectively. Commercial fishing mortality is limited to only two months during spring and is restricted to 46 rivers and streams, but there are no official data regarding the occurrence of poaching which might extend beyond this period, thus the combined impact of commercial fishing and poaching on migrating eel stocks cannot be estimated precisely. Current commercial eel catches in the Lithuanian part of the Curonian Lagoon are negligible (872 kg in 2016) when compared to the approximately 124 tonns per year taken during 1960–1980 (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Commercial eel catches (in tonnes) in Curonian Lagoon (Lithuanian area) during 1926–2016.

As adult eels move downstream they may encounter in-stream barriers, in particular hydroelectric dams which can affect their migration in three ways. First, eels may experience migration delays in the upstream reservoirs as they search for a downstream outlet (Haro et al., 2000; Legault et al., 2003; Behrmann-Goel and Eckmann, 2003). Secondly, while eels search for a downstream passage route, they can become impinged and suffocate on hydropower-plant (HPP) intake screens (Boubée et al., 2001: Amaral et al., 2003; Watene and Boubée, 2005). Finally, if eels are entrained into the HPP turbine intakes, they are exposed to turbine-induced injuries or direct turbine mortality. According to official data, available in the Cadastre of rivers, lakes and ponds of Lithuanian Republic, there are 98 HPPs operating currently and only 24 of them have fish ladders originally designed for salmonid upstream migration. None of the HPP are equipped with special guidance structures for migrating eels. The majority (N=67, 68%) of the 98 HPPs built on Lithuanian rivers use Kaplan turbines, in common with the rest of the Europe (Bruijs and Durif, 2009). According to Larinier and Travade (2002) the typical range of mortality rates is between 15% and 30% in large low-head Kaplan turbines, and from 50% to 100% in the smaller turbines used in most small-scale hydropower plants (Monten, 1985; Hadderingh and Baker, 1998). Some Lithuanian rivers (e.g. Šventoji, Dubinga) that are relatively important for downstream migrating eels are dammed with HPPs that have cross-flow CINK turbines. To my knowledge, no detailed evaluation of mortality rates and injuries to migrating eels caused by cross-flow CINK turbines have been previously reported. Studies on mortalities of other fish species indicate that even small adult and juvenile fish passing through crossflow turbines suffer mortality rates up to 75% (Gloss and Wahl, 1983, DuBois and Gloss, 1993), which is significantly higher when compared to Kaplan turbines. Therefore a detailed evaluation of eel mortalities in CINK turbines is highly important.

Moreover, Pedersen et al. (2012) reported that some of the eels they tagged with acoustic transmitters spent a few weeks moving in and out of the power canal before finally passing through or disappearing. They concluded that within the study period, only 23% of the tagged eels reached the tidal limit of the destination estuary, mainly due to difficulties in passing the hydropower dam.

Despite numerous studies on eel mortality during passage of various HPPs (mostly Kaplan), there are few data available on eel downstream migration speed in unimpeded rivers (Simon et al., 2011; Bultel et al., 2014; Stein et al., 2016) and lagoons (e.g. Amilhat et al., 2008, Charrier et al., 2012). Previously reported migration rates in regulated rivers have been highly variable, ranging in displacements of between 17.3 (Klein Breteler et al., 2007), 29.4 (Breukelaar et al., 2009), 53 (Verbiest, et al., 2012) and $64.8-93.6 \text{ km} \cdot \text{day}^{-1}$ (Tesch, 1994). Data on eel migration speed in free flowing rivers are scarce, but Simon et al. (2011) reported mean migration speeds for different eel groups that varied between c. 5 and 70 km·day⁻¹, while Bultel et al. (2014) reported a mean migration speed of 4.5 km \cdot day⁻¹. There is some evidence that the migration process of European eels in large rivers is discontinuous and that in very large rivers eels may need more than one migratory season to reach the sea (Stein et al., 2016) and may even revert to a non-migratory life stage (Durif et al., 2003; 2006). Moreover, due to their geographical position, Lithuanian rivers are different in terms of hydrobiological conditions, temperature and flow regime compared to rivers in Western Europe, therefore it's very important to investigate and identify the main patterns of silver eel migration in the North-Eastern region of their distribution range.

More detailed literature reviews regarding eel mortality during downstream migration and migration patterns are presented in the papers "Mortality of Silver Eels Migrating Through Different Types of Hydropower Turbines in Lithuania" (Paper II) and "Silver eel, *Anguilla anguilla* (Linnaeus, 1758), migration patterns in lowland rivers and lagoons in the North-Eastern region of their distribution range" (Paper III).

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

This section gives a brief overview of the most important methods used within framework of this thesis. More details are given in each publication, respectively (Paper I-IV).

2.1 Laboratory experiment on eel survival

The effect that ongrowing eels in an aquaculture facility had on their survival after transition to Chironomus spp. larvae instead of artificial food was tested during three sequential 30-day laboratory experiments. The experimental treatments were: Glass eels (Group A), eels on-grown in an aquaculture facility for 42 days using an artificial diet (Group B) and eels on-grown in an aquaculture facility for 196 days using an artificial diet (Group C). Eels were reared in an experimental system which consisted of ten 240 litre experimental semi-square tanks connected to a mechanical and biological filter. All environmental conditions (light, temperature, concentration of ammonium, nitrite and dissolved oxygen) were equal in all experiments. During the experiments water temperature was maintained at 18.3 ± 0.4 °C. Concentrations of ammonium and nitrite were $<0.05 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$ and the average concentration of nitrate was $13.2\pm11 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$ for the duration of all experiments. Eels were fed ad libitum with live Chironomus spp. larvae. To evaluate differences between different experiments, specific growth rates (SGR) of each replicate were calculated in addition to mortality rates (M). At the conclusion of experiment with Group C it was evident that weight loss and poor physical condition prevailed among some individuals, although not to the point of obvious morbidity. To allow time for these eels to regain condition this experiment was extended for 30 additional days (Group C_1).

As survival data were non-normal (Shapiro–Wilk's W tests, p < 0.05), both non-parametric and parametric approaches were used to test for group effect (A, B, C) on eel survival after one month in laboratory conditions. Kruskal-Wallis ANOVA was followed by Multiple Comparison tests of mean ranks, and One-Way ANOVA performed on arcsine-transformed data was followed by Tukey HSD post-hoc tests.

2.2 Eel mortality in CINK and Kaplan turbines

2.2.1 Large Kaplan turbine. To assess mortality rates of eels migrating downstream through large Kaplan turbines installed at the Kaunas HPP, 25 silver eels were released into the Kaunas water reservoir near the Kaunas HPP intake. These eels prior to release were tagged with Vemco V9 and V13 acoustic tags. This method has been previously used to successfully tag silver eels (Westerberg et al., 2007, Béguer-Pon et al., 2014) without causing increases in mortality rates (Winter et al., 2005; Heupel et al., 2007).

Four VR2W receivers were installed in the area of Kaunas HPP water intake to detect eels entering turbines; four receivers were installed just below the Kaunas HPP to detect eels that had passed through the turbines and four additional receivers were installed on the navigational buoys within the Nemunas Delta.

To locate eels that had passed through the Kaunas HPP but had become possibly lethally injured, a section of the Nemunas River 25 km below the HPP was scanned with two VR2W receivers installed on an inflatable boat prior to the end of transmitter's estimated battery life.

2.2.2 Small CINK and Kaplan turbines. Eel mortality in the small CINK (Bagdononys HPP and Pabradė HPP) and Kaplan turbines (Valtūnai HPP) was assessed from eels tagged with 12 mm passive integrated transponders (PIT tags). Eels migrating downstream were captured above each HPP using a fyke net and fitted with the tags. After recovery the tagged eels were translocated approximately 2 km to Bagdononys and about 2.5 km to Pabradė

HPPs and using the guidance system described by Oliveira and Pressiat (2011) they were released as close as possible to the turbine's water intake pipe. This release strategy aimed to avoid losses of tagged eels above the HPP due to caseation of migration or predation.

The Valtūnai HPP does not have a water reservoir above the dam wall, thus tagged eels were released just below the site of capture - approximately 800 meters from the HPP.

Following eel passage through the turbine they were recaptured below the HPP in a fyke net.

Eel mortality rate was calculated as the ratio between the number of tagged eels that passed through the turbines and the number of eels which survived without suffering lethal injury.

As the data for eel length, weight and FCF was non-normally distributed (Shapiro–Wilk's W tests, p<0.05), the non-parametric Mann-Whitney test was used to test for the effect of length on eel survival during passage through the turbine, and choice of migration route through turbine or fish ladder (at Valtūnai HPP only), as well as the effects of length and weight on migration success from Kaunas HPP to the Nemunas Delta.

2.3 Eel migration patterns and migration success

A total of 63 silver eels were caught in four rivers in Eastern Lithuania during their spawning migrations and tagged with Vemco acoustic tags during spring and autumn 2014. Migration was studied in four rivers: the Neris, Siesartis and Žeimena in which they could migrate freely downstream, and the Nemunas in which eels had to pass through a HPP. Eels that successfully performed downstream migration were detected with receivers installed in the Nemunas Delta (N = 4) and Klaipėda Strait (N = 4). To locate missing eels, downstream of the eel release sites in the Neris, Žeimena and Siesartis Rivers and a 25 km section of the Nemunas River below the Kaunas HPP were scanned two

months before the end of the estimated duration of transmitter batteries, with VR2W receivers installed on a boat drifting downstream. In addition, Žeimenys Lake was scanned in case tagged eels had migrated upstream from the Žeimena River.

Migration success (MS, %) of the tagged eels was calculated according to the formula:

 $MS = (N \div N_t) \times 100$

Where: N – number of tagged eels detected by acoustic receivers (in the Nemunas Delta and/or Klaipėda Strait); N_t – number of all tagged eels.

MS for eels released upstream the Kaunas HPP was calculated only for eels which had passed the HPP. The fate of eels did not detected in the Nemunas Delta or Klaipėda Strait remains unknown; these eels were omitted from analysis of the migration speed.

The speed of long term downstream migration (V_{long}) was calculated as time spent to cover the distance between the release site and the receivers installed in the Nemunas Delta or in the Klaipėda Strait and expressed as km·day⁻¹. The speed of transient migration (V_{tran}) was calculated in the Nemunas Delta and Klaipėda Strait as the time lag between the first detection of a tag by the first and last receivers (5 km distance in the Nemunas River and 4.6 km in the Klaipėda Strait).

Data for eel migration speed, FCF and the distance between the release site and the Baltic Sea were not normally distributed (Shapiro–Wilk's W tests, p<0.05), the non-parametric Mann-Whitney test was used to test for differences in parameters between the eels released in to dammed (Nemunas) and free-flowing rivers. Simple linear regression was used to test the effect of distance of release site from the Sea, eel length, river slope and K on the speed of downstream migration. Fisher's exact test was used to test eel MS differences between dammed, free-flowing rivers and the Curonian Lagoon.

2.4 Accumulated energetic reserves and swimming potential

In total 114 eels were collected from 10 different rivers in the Eastern and Southern parts of Lithuania for the study. Migrating eels were caught by a fyke net during April–November in 2013–2015. Morphometric measures (total body length and weight; gutted weight; height and width of the eye; length of the pectoral fin; and the weight of liver, gonads and emptied gut) were made immediately after anaesthesia on the fresh fish. The silvering stage of sampled eels was determined as described by Durif et al. (2009). A section of the lateral muscle from both sides of the body, 2.5 cm away from the anal vent, was removed for the analysis of muscle fat content (the total lipid content of the muscle) using a method described by Anderson (2004). Swimming potential was calculated according to van Ginneken and van den Thillart (2000). The distance of migration from eel capture place to the spawning area in the Sargasso Sea was estimated to be c. 7900 km based on Clevestam et al. (2011).

Relationships between the silvering stage and fat content were determined using correlation analysis. As only 7 male individuals were caught (SMII), the correlation analysis was conducted on a dataset of undifferentiated and female eels (SI–SFV). Pearson's correlation test was used and silvering stage variable was log-transformed. One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was followed by generalised Tukey's HSD post-hoc tests to indicate homogenous stage groups.

3. RESULTS

Only the main results are presented in this section. Detailed results are given in each publication, respectively (Paper I-IV).

3.1 Laboratory experiment on eel survival

Average initial weight of Group A was $0.46 \pm 0.01g$ (N = 400), while the weight of Group B and Group C was 1.14 ± 0.1 g (N = 100) and 8.31 ± 1.9 g (N = 100) respectively. Although the absolute average growth rate (abs) of Group A (abs 0.13 ± 0.02 g) was lower than Group B (abs 0.19 ± 0.1 g) over 30 days, however, its relative growth rate (rel) as a proportion (%)of initial weight (rel 26.2 \pm 5.9%; SGR 0.8 \pm 0.1) was higher than Group B (16.8 \pm 8.6%; SGR 0.5 \pm 0.2). In contrast, both absolute and relative growth rates of Group A were larger that Group C (abs -0.5 ± 0.7 g; rel $-5.9 \pm 7.7\%$; SGR -0.2 ± 0.3).

Survival within the first 30 days after transfer from aquaculture to experimental conditions differed significantly between Group A and B as well as between Group B and C. Group A had 100% survival compared to 13% and 1% mortalities for Groups B and C respectively at the end of their 30-day laboratory periods. There were no statistically significant differences in survival rates between Group A and C during the 30-day experimental periods.

After the 30-day period of the experiment with Group C the mortality rate was negligible (only 1 individual died), but weight decreased by 0.5 ± 0.7 g per eel. Accordingly, this experimental treatment was extended for an additional 30 days (Group C₁). After additional 30 days the mortality rate of the eels increased and substantially varied among tanks (15.0 ± 20.1%) yet with a weight gain per surviving eel of 0.6 ± 1.1 g (7.6 ± 12.5% of initial body weight; SGR 0.2 ± 0.4). All mortalities in Group C₁ occurred within the first 11 days of the second phase with none thereafter. The total mortality rate after the first and second phases of the experiment was estimated to be 16%, which is similar to the mortality rate observed for Group B.

3.2 Eel mortality in CINK and Kaplan turbines

3.2.1 Small CINK turbines. All 52 eels released upstream from Bagdononys HPP passed the turbine immediately after release and were recaptured below the HPP. All eels suffered lethal injuries causing 100% mortality.

Out of 26 eels guided to the Pabradė HPP water intake pipe none were recaptured below the HPP.

3.2.2 Large Kaplan turbine. Out of 25 eels released upstream of the Kaunas HPP water intake area, 21 (84%) moved downstream through the turbines and were detected below the HPP. Four eels did not migrate downstream and remained in water reservoir until the end of transmitter battery lifespan. Eleven eels (52.4%) were detected in the Nemunas Delta (212 km downstream from Kaunas HPP). Transmitters showed that five eels (23.8%) remained stationary in close proximity to the Kaunas HPP (from 0.5 km to 6.2 km) until the battery was discharged. As a consequence it was concluded that these eels had died. The fate of the remaining five eels after passing through the HPP turbines remains unknown because the transmission signal ceased between the scanned sector of 25 km downstream HPP and the Nemunas Delta.

3.2.3 Small Kaplan turbine. Following release, all tagged eels (N=64) passed the Valtūnai HPP during the same night. Forty two eels (66%) migrated through the turbine, while the remaining 22 eels (34%) were caught after passing through the fish ladder. Eels caught passing through the fish ladder were significantly larger (p<0.001, mean TL=72.0±7.2 cm, W=681±188 g) than eels passing directly through the turbine (mean TL=66.1±6.4 cm, W=476±109 g); their FCF was also significantly larger (p<0.001, mean

FCF= 0.18 ± 0.02) when compared with eels passing directly through the turbine (mean FCF= 0.16 ± 0.02). Eel mortality in the Kaplan turbine at Valtūnai HPP was estimated to be 52.4% because 22 out of 42 eels suffered lethal injuries while passing through the turbine.

There were no significant differences (p>0.05) in mean length, weight and FCF between eels that suffered lethal injuries (N=22; TL=67.3±7.6 cm, W=494±131 g, FCF=0.16±0.02) and those which passed through the turbine successfully (N=20; TL=64.8±4.5 cm, W=458±77, FCF=0.17±0.01).

3.3 Eel migration patterns and migration success

In total, twenty two out of 63 silver eels released into rivers of Eastern Lithuania were never detected post-release, consequently their fate is unknown. The remaining 31 eels successfully migrated downstream and reached the Nemunas Delta; MS = 49%. Mean V_{long} (\pm SD) of these eels was $11.7 \pm 11.1 \text{ km} \cdot \text{day}^{-1}$. There were no significant differences (p>0.05) in mean length, K and the distance from the release site to the Baltic Sea between eels that reached the Nemunas Delta and those which apparently did not.

Eighteen out of 38 silver eels released into free-flowing rivers (Neris, Žeimena and Siesartis) of Eastern Lithuania were never detected post-release, consequently their fate is unknown. The remaining 20 eels successfully migrated downstream and reached the Nemunas Delta; MS = 53%. Mean V_{long} (± SD) of these eels was 10.7 ± 10.7 km·day⁻¹.

Out of 25 eels released upstream of the Kaunas HPP, 21 (84%) moved downstream through the turbines and were detected below the HPP. Twelve eels migrated within 24 hours after release, while nine eels delayed passing through by one to 47 days. Four tagged eels did not migrate downstream and stayed in the Kaunas Reservoir until at least when the transmitter battery became discharged. Their fate remains unknown. Out of the 21 eels which migrated through the HPP, 11 were detected in the Nemunas Delta (MS = 52.4%). Mean V_{long} (± SD) of these eels was 13.6 ± 12.0 km·day⁻¹.

Most of the tagged eels (N = 54, 86%) were released during late May - early June and nine eels (14%) were released in September. In total thirty-one eels (49.2% of all eels released) were detected migrating through the Nemunas River Delta: one eel (3%) arrived in May, five eels (16%) in June, eight (26%) in July and one (3%) in September. The majority (N = 15, 49%) were detected in October and the one (3%) was detected in November.

 V_{tran} , estimated within the Nemunas Delta was 67.2 ± 39.9 km·day⁻¹ which was significantly (*p*<0.05) higher compared to V_{long} in rivers.

Scanning in smaller rivers (Neris, Žeimena and Siesartis), adjacent lake and section of Nemunas River below the Kaunas HPP did not result in detection of any eels, so the fate of 32 tagged eels (51%) remains unknown.

Out of 31 eels, which were detected entering the Curonian Lagoon, at least four (13%) were caught by fishermen. Until the end of transmitter battery operation, 22 eels (MS = 71%) were detected in Klaipėda Strait prior to entering the Baltic Sea, while the fate of the remaining 5 eels (16%) remains unknown. The mean V_{long} in the Lagoon was estimated to be $14.6 \pm 16.9 \text{ km} \cdot \text{day}^{-1}$. V_{long} (in the rivers, in the Lagoon and total (rivers+lagoon)) was not significantly correlated with distance of the release site from the Baltic Sea, river slope, TL or FCF. Also, there was no significant difference (*p*>0.05) between the mean V_{long} in rivers (11.6 ± 11.1 km·day⁻¹) and the Curonian Lagoon (14.6 ± 16.9 km·day⁻¹).

The V_{tran}, estimated in the Klaipėda Strait was $35.6 \pm 25.79 \text{ km} \cdot \text{day}^{-1}$. There is no significant differences (*p*>0.05) between mean V_{tran} in the Nemunas Delta and in the Strait, however V_{tran} was significantly (*p*<0.05) higher compared to V_{long} in rivers and in the Lagoon.

The peak period of eels entering the Baltic Sea was observed during late fall: 18 eels (82%) were detected in the Klaipėda Strait during October-November

while the remaining four eels were detected once each in June, July, December and January, respectively.

3.4 Accumulated energetic reserves and swimming potential

The majority of eels sampled (65.8%, N = 75) were at the last silvering stage (SFV for females or SMII for males), whereas eels of stage SFIV accounted for 10.5% (N = 12). The yellow eels (stages SI, SFII and SFIII) accounted for 23.7% (N = 27) of all eels sampled.

Migrating male eels of the latest SMII silvering stage had the highest muscle fat content, varying from with their swimming potential varying from 7987 to 8462 km (8152 \pm 174 km, mean \pm SD), while the females of the latest (SFV) silvering stage had an average fat content of 26.3 ± 3.7 with average swimming potential of 6743 \pm 1116 km. Eels at silvering stage SFIV had an average fat content of $26.3 \pm 2.7\%$. The average swimming potential of these eels was equivalent to 6798 \pm 976 km. The yellow eels possessed lower percentages of fat content – SFIII and SFII eels had 25.1 ± 2.8 and $17.6 \pm 4.6\%$ average fat content, respectively. The yellow eels at the silvering stage SI had the lowest fat content (average $4.6 \pm 1.9\%$).

The analytical results indicated that 100% (N = 7) of male eels and 30.9% (N = 21) of female eels at the latest silvering stages (SMII and SFV, respectively) possessed sufficient fat reserves to be capable of migrating to the Sargasso Sea (>7900 km). The remaining 69.1% (N = 47) of the female eels at stage SFV had insufficient energy resources to complete the migration. Four out of 12 (33.3%) eels sampled at the silvering stage SFIV had sufficient energy resources for spawning migration.
4. **DISCUSSION**

Recognition of the dramatic downward trend in European eel recruitment since the 1980s has led to numerous attempts to drive stock recovery forward throughout Europe (ICES, 2011). Recovery measures differ among member states of the European Union but are united by the aim of recovery of the eel stock. To reach the targeted 40% spawner escapement, relative to the best possible estimate of spawner biomass in a pristine state, the Lithuanian Eel Management Plan mainly relies on an extension of stocking programme (Ložys et al., 2008). Since the Lithuanian EMP was approved by European Commission in 2009, intensive eel stocking of inland water bodies started. However, little is known about possible ongrowing effects on European eel growth and survival after stocking (ICES, 2015b). The results of the laboratory experiment on eel survival suggest that after 30 days, there is no significant difference in survival rates between glass eels (Group A) and eels on-grown for 196 days (Group C), even though the survival rate of eels on-grown for 42 days (Group B) is significantly lower. However, the SGR in the experimental group C after the initial 30 day period was negative indicating weight loss and poor physical condition among some individuals, while in all other experimental groups SGR was positive, indicating that these eels were able to gain weight on the Chironomus spp. diet. Chironomids were reported to be one of the main food items found in the eel's stomachs, even when the abundance of larvae in the lake was low (de Nie, 1982). After the additional 30 days of experiment with Group C, their survival rate decreased by an additional 15%, even though the SGR of surviving individuals increased and became positive (Group C_1). Kearney et al. (2011) suggest a link between initial energy reserves in the shortfin glass eel (A. australis) and its survival in captivity. This might explain the performance of the eels in the experiments: the largest eels were well-nourished in the aquaculture facility and had accumulated enough energy reserves to cope with impaired ability to adapt to

feeding on *Chironomus* spp. or insufficient food intake during the first 30 days, thereby delaying the increase in mortality that was observed during the beginning of the second phase of the experiment. Considering the results of the current study and similar findings in field studies (Pedersen, 2000; Wickström, 2001; Simon and Dörner, 2014; Pedersen and Rasmussen, 2016), it could be argued that eels should be stocked as soon as possible after capture, or kept under aquaculture farm conditions for the shortest duration feasible and fed or at least weaned with natural food prior to release to improve their ability to adapt to the natural conditions found in the wild.

After stocking, eels spend several years or even decades in fresh or brackish waters before reaching the silver eel stage and commencing their spawning migration, which is time-dependent and generally takes place during spring and autumn. The practice of stocking eels in Lithuania persisted for many decades, but the motivation was direct enhancement of commercial or recreational fishing success without aiming to facilitate migration to spawning areas to improve population recruitment. Consequently, there was less concern when eels were often stocked above HPPs or dams, despite the substantial mortality that can occur during downstream migrations which will dramatically reduce the number of spawners (Adam and Bruijs, 2006; Winter et al., 2006; 2007; Bruijs and Durif, 2009; Aarestrup et al., 2010) or delay in their spawning migration (Legault et al., 2003). The current study demonstrated that eel migration through small cross-flow CINK turbines results in a 100% mortality rate as all eels used for the field experiment suffered lethal injuries. Nevertheless, mortality rates can be significantly reduced if a fish ladder is available for downstream migrating eels to bypass HPP, as demonstrated in this study. Even though, eels were reported to use fish passes, originally designed for upstream salmonid migration, sporadically (Jansen et al., 2007; Verbiest et al., 2012), the results of the current study suggest that 34% of the eels migrating downstream in the Siesartis River passed through the fish ladder uninjured, in contrast to the 66% of eels observed passing through Kaplan turbines that suffered a 52% mortality rate. Eels caught passing through the fish ladder were significantly larger compared to those caught passing directly through the turbine. This is presumably arose because of the protective 35 mm metallic screens at the HPP water intake zone which prevent larger eels from entering the turbine. Nonetheless, the results of this study suggest that this screening method is insufficient for the protection of all migrating silver eels as c. two thirds of eels pass directly through the turbines resulting in an overall high mortality rate. ICES (2007) recommends that small male silver eels require bar intervals <9mm for protection, whereas females may be prevented from entering turbines by bar intervals <15mm. The effectiveness of a protective screen with a bar interval of c. 10 mm installed in the water intake pipe was also demonstrated in the current study, as none of 26 eels guided into the Pabrade HPP water intake pipe were recaptured below the HPP. This protective screen was not included in the initial HPP construction design and could not be reasonably known in advance of this study. Its presence was only discovered after the field experiment during attempts to identify reasons for the 'disappearance' of all tagged eels guided into the intake of the turbine. This implies that effective screening in the absence of a fish ladder or other effective way for eels to bypass turbines will cause cessation of eel migration, as eels either would be impinged in the screen or unable to find a way to continue their migration.

As was suggested previously, mortality in the large Kaplan turbines at the Kaunas HPP was found to be lower compared to mortality rate in small turbine at the Valtūnai HPP. Out of 21 eels which passed the Kaplan turbines in the Kaunas HPP, 5 eels (23.8%) were detected to be stationary below the HPP until the tag transmitter's battery expired, indicating that the possibility that they remained alive was negligible. The fate of the other 5 eels, which disappeared somewhere between the scanned sector 25 km downstream of the HPP and the Nemunas Delta remains unknown, however it has been suggested that some migrating eels cease their migration for lengthy periods (Winter et al., 2006; Aarestrup et al., 2010). Durif et al. (2003; 2006) suggest that in very large rivers, eels may need more than one migratory season to

reach the Sea and may revert to a non-migratory life stage, thus it is likely that those eels detected well downstream of the HPP survived.

It has been reported that eels may experience migration delays in water reservoirs as they search for a downstream outlet (Larinier and Travade, 1999; Haro et al., 2000; Behrmann-Goel and Eckmann, 2003; Legault et al., 2003) and therefore migration becomes extended in time. Results of the current study partly support this observation as 36% of the eels released upstream from the Kaunas HPP also delayed passing through the turbines for periods from one to 47 days, while 16% of eels did not migrate at all.

Moreover, not all eels that were migrating in unimpeded rivers or free-flowing river sections (Neris, Žeimena and Siesartis) successfully reached the Nemunas Delta before their tag transmitter batteries had fully discharged. Mean downstream migration speed and escapement success were almost the same in the shorter 210 km Nemunas River (53%, 10.7 km·day⁻¹) where eels were exposed to the negative HPP effect as compared to the considerably longer 300–480 km free-flowing rivers (52.4%, 13.6 km·day⁻¹). Overall eel migration success from Lithuanian inland waters was calculated to be 49% with a mean migration speed of 11.7 km·day⁻¹. During downstream migration the eels were not exposed to commercial fishing (except in the Lagoon) because they were all released downstream of licensed fishing sites. The impacts of predation, recreational angling, poaching or other sources of mortality are nevertheless unknown. Scanning with boat-based receivers in the rivers, an adjacent lake, and the section of Nemunas River below the Kaunas HPP did not result in detection of any eels. Presumably the missing eels were either caught by anglers or predators and their tags were taken away from the river, or the eels stayed somewhere in the Nemunas River below the scanned reaches, or perhaps entered small tributaries of the main rivers and were missed during active scanning. Thus migration success is likely to be higher if some eels resumed migration after their transmitter batteries had expired.

Relatively low migration speeds observed in the current study might be related to seasonal differences among eel spawning migrations, as along the SouthEastern Baltic coast, most intense spawning migrations start during early spring (Ložys et al., 2008), whereas downstream runs of silver eels in Western Europe typically start during autumn (Bruijs and Durif, 2009). The earlier commencement of downstream migration has led to an assumption that eels enter the sea earlier as a consequence, but the results from the current study demonstrated that a majority of migrating eels caught in streams during spring did not enter the Baltic Sea until late autumn (October-November). Despite the similarity between the migration speed in the Curonian Lagoon (14.6 km \cdot day⁻¹) to that in rivers, migration success was significantly higher (71%) in the Lagoon. Relatively high migration success in the Lagoon might also be explained by eels reaching the Lagoon at the end of the continental migration phase and, as suggested by Righton et al. (2016), had adopted a rapid migratory strategy, such that most of these eels (N=22) did not cease their migration through the Lagoon. Migration strategies of the four eels caught by fishermen in the Lagoon and the five eels whose fate is unknown (they might also have been caught but not reported) remain unclear.

After downstream migration most eels enter Baltic Sea during late fall (October-November) and presumably continue migrating to the Sargasso Sea spawning grounds. Migrating silver eels at the final silvering stage do not feed (Tesch, 2003); instead they completely rely on accumulating sufficient fat stores during the sedentary yellow eel stage spent in coastal or inland waters to obtain energy for migration and gonad development (Tesch, 2003). Previously it was reported that eels of stocked origin might have insufficient muscle fat reserves (Couillard et al., 2014. However, in contrast to previous observations, results of the current study suggest that at least 37% of silver eels of stocked origin at the final silvering stage (SFV and SMII) have accumulated sufficient energetic stores of fat for gonadal development and spawning migration of c. 7900 km to the Sargasso Sea. The remaining 63% of eels at the final SFV and SMII silvering stages had insufficient fat stores, with an average shortage of 2.5 \pm 0.9%. Four out of 12 eels at the SFIV silvering stage had enough energetic resources to reach the spawning grounds, while the remaining eight

eels were unable to successfully undertake the spawning migration due to insufficient stored energy. However, some eels at silvering stages SFV and SFIV were found to be feeding during downstream migrations (Dainys, unpubl. data; Westin, 2003), thus these eels are possibly able to augment their stored energetic resources. The remaining 27 eels were described to be in the yellow (SI, SFII or SFIII) eel stage with relatively low fat content (18.4 \pm 9.3%). Swimming potential of these eels was not calculated because downstream movements of these eels might have been linked to local movements rather than actual spawning migration (Ovidio et al., 2013; Cobo et al., 2014).

Overall, the results of the current study suggest that aiming to achieve the best results while implementing the National Eel Management Plan, eels should be stocked as soon as possible after their capture in the wild or at least kept under aquaculture conditions for the shortest duration feasible. In addition, they should be fed or at least weaned with natural food before their release. After these stocked eels reach silver eel stage and start their downstream migration, substantial mortality occurring during their downstream migration can dramatically reduce the number of spawners when releases occur upstream of the HPP. Eel stockings should be carried out in water bodies which are not upstream HPP. If due for some reason stocking must be performed upstream of HPP, then a fish ladder in combination with effective screening must be installed to reduce HPP induced eel mortality. Even though eels stocked into Lithuanian waters were shipped by plane for more than 2000 km prior to stocking and had no chance to imprint the entire route from the Sargasso Sea to the stocking area, 37% of the silver eels performing downstream migration accumulated sufficient energetic stores of fat needed for gonadal maturation and migration to the spawning grounds. The remaining 63% of the silver eels had a marginal shortage of energy resources and were likely to increase their muscle lipid content to an adequate level for successful migration. These losses should be factored into any assessment of eel management in Lithuania.

5. CONCLUSIONS

- 1. On-grown eels have no advantage in survival compared with glass eels when fed *Chironomus* spp. in the laboratory. Likely explanation is that eels must switch their diet from artificial to natural food, a transition to which at least some on-grown eels appear unable to cope.
- 2. A CINK turbine was found to be causing lethal injuries resulting in 100% mortality of eels passing into it, whereas Kaplan turbines caused significantly lower mortality rates.
- 3. One third of eels migrating downstream on river impeded by HPP used fish ladder, originally designed for upstream migration of salmonids. Therefore, the installation of fish ladders, especially in combination with effective screening, may be a measure that effectively mitigates some of the impact of HPPs by reducing anthropogenic mortality rates during migration.
- 4. Almost a quarter of all eels engaged in downstream migrations were at the yellow eel stage.
- Overall eel migration success in Lithuanian rivers and the Curonian Lagoon was 35%. The average estimated migration speed was 11.7 km d⁻¹in rivers, and 14.6 km d⁻¹ in the Curonian Lagoon.
- 6. The peak period for eels entering the Baltic Sea was observed during late fall.
- 7. More than one third of silver eels across all stages that had been previously translocated for a considerable distance before their subsequent release into inland waters of the North-Eastern region of their distribution range for restocking natural populations, had sufficient energetic resources for successful spawning migration and gonadal maturation. The remaining two thirds of silver eels had marginal shortages of energetic reserves, but when engaged in downstream migrations these eels were possibly able to feed to increase the fat reserves stored in their muscle tissue.

8. RECOMMENDATIONS

- 1. Considering the results of the survival study and similar findings in field studies, it is recommended that eels should be stocked as soon as possible after capture, or at least kept under aquaculture conditions for the shortest duration feasible. In addition, they should be fed, if possible, using natural food to improve their ability to adapt to the natural conditions found in the wild.
- 2. Seeking for the highest silver eel production escaping to the Sea, the stocking of eels should be carried out in water bodies which are not impeded by HPP's, regardless of whether or not the HPP have a fish ladder installed.
- 3. Cross-flow CINK turbines were found to result in 100% mortality of passing eels. Therefore, replacement of these turbines with more fish-friendly models is crucial. Fish ladders provide a way for migrating eels to get around existing HPP's and in this way reduce the mortality of eels migrating downstream. Therefore, the installation of new fish passes in combination with effective screening is essential in ensuring that restocking strategies are not inefficient.

9. REFFERENCES

- Aarestrup, K., Thorstad, E.B., Koed, A., Svendsen, J.C., Jepsen, N., Pedersen, M.I. and Økland, F. 2010. Survival and progression rates of large European silver eel *Anguilla anguilla* in late freshwater and early marine phases. Aquatic Biology 9: 263–270.
- Adam, B. and Bruijs, M.C.M. 2006. General requirements of fish protection and downstream migration facilities. Investigations on the river Meuse system. In Free Passage for Aquatic Fauna in Rivers and Other Water Bodies. Proceedings of the International DWA Symposium on Water Resources Management. April 3–7, 2006, Berlin, Germany.
- 3. Alvarez, D. and Nicieza, A.G. 2003. Predator avoidance behaviour in wild and hatchery-reared brown trout: the role of experience and domestication. Journal of Fish Biology 63: 1565-1577.
- Amaral, S.V., Winchell, F.C., McMahon, B.J. and Dixon, D.A. 2003. Evaluation of angled bar racks and louvers for guiding silver phase American eels. In: Dixon, D. editor. Biology, management, and protection of catadromous eels. American Fisheries Society Symposium 33, Bethesda, Maryland.
- Amilhat, E., Farrugio, H., Lecomte-Finiger, R., Simon, G., and Sasal, P. 2008. Silver eel population size and escapement in a Mediterranean lagoon: Bages-Sigean, France. Knowledge and Management of Aquatic Ecosystems 5: 390-391.
- Anderson, S. 2004. Soxtec: Its principles and Applications. In: Luthria, D.L. editor. Oil Extraction and Analysis. Critical Issues and Competitive Studies. AOCS Publishing.
- 7. Astrom, M., and Dekker, W. 2007. When will the eel recover? A full life-cycle model. ICES Journal of Marine Science 64: 1491–1498.
- Bauchot, M.L., 1986. Anguillidae. In: Whitehead, P.J.P., Bauchot, M.L., Hureau, J.C., Nielsen J. and Tortonese E. editors. Fishes of the north-eastern Atlantic and the Mediterranean. Volume 2. UNESCO, Paris.
- Béguer-Pon, M., Castonguay, M., Benchetrit, J., Hatin, D., Verreault, G., Mailhot, Y., et al. 2014. Large-scale migration patterns of silver American eels from the St. Lawrence River to the Gulf of St. Lawrence

using acoustic telemetry. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 71: 1579-1592.

- 10. Behrmann-Goel, J. and Eckmann, R. 2003. A preliminary telemetry study of the migration of silver European eel (*Anguilla anguilla* L.) in the River Mosel, Germany. Ecology of Freshwater Fish 12: 196- 202.
- Belpaire, C.G.J., Goemans, G., Geeraerts, C., Quataert, P., Parmentier, K., Hagel, P. and De Boer, J. 2009. Decreasing eel stocks: survival of the fattest? Ecology of Freshwater Fish 18: 197–214.
- 12. Berg, S. and Jørgensen, J. 1994. Stocking experiments with 0+ eels (Anguilla anguilla L.) in Danish streams: post stocking movements, densities and mortality. In: Cowx, I.G. editor. Rehabilitation of Freshwater Fisheries. Fishing News Books, Oxford.
- Bergersen, R. and Klemetsen, A. 1988. Freshwater Eel Anguilla anguilla (L.) from North Norway, with Emphasis on Occurrence, Food, Age and Downstream Migration. Nordic Journal of Freshwater Research 64: 54-66.
- 14. Bevacqua, D., Melià, P., Gatto, M. and De Leo, G. 2015. A global viability assessment of the European eel. Global Change Biology 21: 3323–3335.
- 15. Blaxter, J.H.S. 2000. Enhancement of marine fish stocks. Advances in Marine Biology 38: 2-54.
- 16. Boetius, I. and Boetius. J. 1985. Lipid and protein content in *Anguilla anguilla* during growth and starvation. Dana 4: 1–17.
- 17. Bonhommeau, S., Blanke, B., Tréguier, A.M., Grima, N., Rivot, E., Vermard, Y., Greiner, E. and Le Pape, O. 2009. How fast can the European eel (*Anguilla anguilla*) larvae cross the Atlantic Ocean? Fisheries Oceanography 18:371-385.
- 18. Boubée, J.A., Mitchell, C.P., Chisnall, B.L., West, D.W., Bowman, E. and Haro, A. 2001. Factors regulating the downstream migration of mature eels (*Anguilla* spp.) at Aniwhenua Dam, Bay of Plenty, New Zealand. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 35: 121-134.
- 19. Brämick. U., Fladung, E. and Simon, J. 2016. Stocking is essential to meet the silver eel escapement target in a river system with currently low natural recruitment. ICES Journal of Marine Science 73: 91-100.
- 20. Breukelaar, A.W., Ingendahl, D., Vriese, F.T., de Laak, G., Staas, S. and Klein Breteler, J.G. 2009. Route choices, migration speeds and

daily migration activity of European silver 424 eels *Anguilla anguilla* in the River Rhine, north-west Europe. Journal of Fish Biology 74: 2139-2157.

- 21. Brown, C. and Laland, K. 2001. Social learning and life skills training for hatchery reared fish. Journal of Fish Biology 59: 471–493.
- 22. Bruijs, M.C.M. and Durif, C.M.F. 2009. Silver eel migration and behaviour. In Van den Thillart G, Dufour S, Rankin JC, editors. Spawning Migration of the European Eel. Reproduction Index, a Useful Tool for Conservation Management. Netherlands: Springer; pp. 65-95.
- 23. Bultel, E., Lasne, E., Acou, A., Guillaudeau, J., Bertier, C., and Feunteun, E. 2014. Migration behaviour of silver eels (*Anguilla anguilla*) in a large estuary of Western Europe inferred from acoustic telemetry. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 137: 23–31.
- 24. Calles, O., Olsson, I.C., Comoglio, C., Kemp, P.S., Blunden, L., Schmitz, M., and Greenberg, L.A. 2010. Size-dependent mortality of migratory silver eels at a hydropower plant, and implications for escapement to the sea. Freshwater Biology 55: 2167–2180.
- 25. Capoccioni, F., Costa, C., Canali, E., Aguzzi, J., Antonucci, F., Ragonese, S. and Bianchini, M.L. 2014. The potential reproductive contribution of Mediterranean migrating eels to the *Anguilla anguilla* stock. Scientific Reports 4: 7188.
- 26. Charrier, F., Mazel, V., Caraguel, J. M., Abdallah, Y., Le Gurun, L. L., Legault, A., and Laffaille, P. 2012. Escapement of silver-phase European eels, *Anguilla anguilla*, determined from fishing activities in a Mediterranean lagoon (Or, France). ICES Journal of Marine Science 69: 30–33.
- 27. Clevestam, P., Ogonowski, M., Sjöberg, N.B. andWickström, H. 2011. Too short to spawn? Implications of small body size and swimming distance on successful migration and maturation of the European eel *Anguilla anguilla*. Journal of Fish Biology 78: 1073-89.
- 28. Cobo, F., Sánchez-Hernández, J., Vieira, R. and Servia, M.J. 2014. Seasonal downstream movements of the European eel in a Southwestern Europe river (River Ulla, NW Spain). Nova Acta Cient Compostel Biol 21:77-84.
- 29. Couillard, C.M., Verreault, G., Dumont, P., Stanley, D. and Threader, R.W. 2014. Assessment of Fat Reserves Adequacy in the First Migrant Silver American Eels of a Large-Scale Stocking Experiment. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 34: 802–813.

- 30. Czeczuga, B. and Czeczuga-Semeniuk, E. 2000. Carotenoid content in Anguilla anguilla (L.) individuals undertaking spawning migration. Folia Biologica 48: 1-6.
- 31. Davey, A.J.H. and Jellyman, D.J. 2005. Sex determination in freshwater eels and management options for manipulation of sex. Reviews in fish biology and fisheries 15: 37-52.
- 32. de Nie, H.W. 1982. A note on the significance of larger bivalve molluscs (*Anodonta* spp. and *Dreissena* sp.) in the food of the eel (*Anguilla anguilla*) in Tjeukemeer. Hydrobiologia 95: 307.
- 33. Dekker, W. 2004. Slipping through our hands: population dynamics of the European eel. PhD thesis, University of Amsterdam.
- 34. Dekker, W. 2015. Assessment of the eel stock in Sweden, spring 2015. Drottningholm: (NL, NJ). Department of Aquatic Resources, Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet. Aqua reports; 2015:11
- 35. Dekker, W. and Beaulaton, L. 2016. Faire mieux que la nature? The history of eel restocking in Europe. Environment and history 22: 255-300.
- 36. DuBois, R.B. and Gloss, S.P. 1993. Mortality of juvenile American shad and striped bass passed through Ossberger crossflow turbines at a small scale hydroelectric site. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 13: 178–185.
- 37. Durif C., Dufour, S. and Elie, P. 2005. The silvering process of the European eel: a new classification from the yellow resident stage to the silver migrating stage. Journal of Fish Biology66: 1025-1043.
- 38. Durif, C., Dufour, S. and Elie, P. 2006. Impact of silvering stage, age, body size and condition on reproductive potential of the European eel. Marine Ecology Progress Series 327: 171–181.
- 39. Durif, C., Elie, P., Gosset, C. and Rives, J. 2003. Behavioral study of downstream migrating eels by radio-telemetry at a small hydroelectric power plant. American Fisheries Society Symposium: 1–14.
- 40. Durif, C., Guibert, A. and Elie, P. 2009. Morphological Discrimination of the Silvering Stages of the European Eel. American Fisheries Society Symposium 58: 103–111.
- 41. Edeline, E. 2007. Adaptive phenotypic plasticity of eel diadromy. Marine Ecology Progress Series 341:229-232
- 42. Egusa, S. 1979. Notes on the culture of the European eel (*Anquilla anquilla* L.) in Japanese eel-farming ponds. Rapports et procès-verbaux

des réunions/Conseil permanent international pour l'exploration de la mer 174: 51-58.

- 43. Eschmeyer, W.N. 2014. Catalog of Fishes. Available at: http://research.calacademy.org/research/ichthyology/catalogfishcatmain. asp.
- 44. Feunteun, E. 2002. Management and restoration of European eel population (*Anguilla anguilla*): An impossible bargain. Ecological Engineering 18: 575–591.
- 45. Franzellitti, S., Kiwan, A., Valbonesi, P. and Fabbri, E. 2015. Selection of best-performing reference gene products for investigating transcriptional regulation across silvering in the European eel (*Anguilla anguilla*). Scientific Reports 5: 16966.
- 46. Froese, R. and D. Pauly. Editors. 2005. FishBase. World Wide Web electronic publication. www.fishbase.org.
- 47. Gailiušis, B., Jablonskis, J. and Kovalenkovienė, M. 2001. Lithuanian Rivers. Hydrography and runoff. Kaunas: Lithuanian Energy Institute. (In Lithuanian).
- 48. Gloss, S.P. and Wahl, J.R. 1983. Mortality of Juvenile Salmonids Passing through Ossberger Crossflow Turbines at Small-Scale Hydroelectric Sites. Transactions Of The American Fisheries Society 112: 194-200.
- 49. Hadderingh, R.H. and Baker, H.D. 1998. Fish mortality due to passage through hydroelectric power stations on the Meuse and Vecht rivers. In: Jungwirth, M., Schmutz, S. and Weis, S. (eds.), Fish Migration and Fish Bypasses, Fishing News Books, Oxford, 315–328.
- 50. Haro, A., Castro-Santos, T. and Boubée, J. 2000. Behavior and passage of silver-phase American eels, *Anguilla rostrata* (LeSueur), at a small hydroelectric facility. Dana 12: 33-42.
- 51. Heupel, M.R., Semmens, J.M. and Hobday, A.J. 2007. Automatic acoustic tracking of aquatic animals: scales, design and deployment of listening station arrays. Marine and Freshwater Research 57: 1-13.
- 52. ICES. 2006. Report of the 2006 Session of the Joint EIFAC/ICES Working Group on Eels. Rome, Italy.
- 53. ICES. 2007. Report of the 2007 Session of the Joint EIFAC/ICES Working Group on Eels. Bordeaux, France. ICES CM 2007/ACFM:23.

- 54. ICES. 2009. European eel. In Report of the ICES Advisory Committee, 2009. ICES Advice 2009, Book 9, Section 9.4.9.
- 55. ICES. 2010. Report of the Workshop on Baltic Eel (WKBALTEEL), 2– 4 November 2010: Stockholm, Sweden.
- 56. ICES. 2011. Report of the 2011 Session of the Joint EIFAAC/ICES Working Group on Eels. Lisbon, Portugal, 5–9 September 2011.
- 57. ICES. 2015a. ICES Advice on fishing opportunities, catch, and effort. Northeast Atlantic Ecoregions. ICES Advice 2015, Book 9, Section 9.1.10.
- 58. ICES. 2015b. Report of the Joint EIFAAC/ICES/GFCM Working Group on Eel (WGEEL), 24 November–2 December 2015, Antalya, Turkey. ICES CM 2015/ACOM:18.
- 59. ICES. 2016. Report of the Working Group on Eels (WGEEL), 15–22 September 2016, Cordoba, Spain. ICES CM 2016/ACOM:19.
- 60. Jacoby, D. and Gollock, M. 2014. *Anguilla anguilla*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2014: e.T60344A45833138. Available at http://www.iucnredlist.org/ (last accesed 01 September 2016).
- 61. Jansen, H.M., Winter, H.V., Bruijs, M.C.M. and Polman, H.J.G. 2007. Just go with the flow? Route selection and mortality during downstream migration of silver eels in relation to river discharge. ICES Journal of Marine Science 64, 1437–1443.
- 62. Kearney, M., Jeffs, A. and Lee, P. 2011. Seasonal differences in the quality of shortfin glass eel, *Anguilla australis*, and subsequent effects on growth and survival in captivity. New Zealand Natural Sciences 36, 45–55.
- 63. Kirkegaard, E. 2010. European Eel and Aquaculture. DTU Aqua Report No 229-2010. National Institute of Aquatic Resources, Technical University of Denmark, 19 p.
- 64. Klein Breteler, J., Vriese, T., Borcherding, J., Breukelaar, A., Jörgensen, L., Staas, S., De Laak, G., and Ingendahl, D. 2007. Assessment of population size and migration routes of silver eel in the River Rhine based on a 2-year combined mark-recapture and telemetry study. ICES Journal of Marine Science 64: 1–7.
- 65. Larinier, M. and Travade, F. 1999. La dévalaison des migrateurs: problèmes et dispositifs. Bulletin Français de la Pêche et de la Pisciculture, 353–354: 181–210.

- 66. Larinier, M. and Travade, F.2002. Downstream migration: problems and facilities. Bulletin Français de la Pêche et de la Pisciculture 364: 181–210.
- 67. Larscheid, J.G. 1995. Development of an optimal stocking regime for walleyes in east Okoboji Lake, Iowa. In: Schramm, H.L., Piper, R.G., editors. Uses and effects of cultured fishes in aquatic ecosystems. Bethesda: American Fisheries Society; pp. 472-483.
- 68. Larsson, P., Hamrin, S. and Okla, L. 1990. Fat content as a factor inducing migratory behaviour in the eel (*Anguilla anguilla* L.) to the Sargasso sea. Naturwissenschaften 77: 488-490.
- 69. Legault, A., Acou, A., Guillouet, J. and Feunten. E. 2003. Survey of downstream migration on silver eels through discharge pipe on a reservoir dam. Bulletin Francais de la peche et de la pisciculture 368: 43- 54.
- 70. Lin, Y.J., Ložys, L., Shiao, J.C., Iizuka, Y., Tzeng, W.N. 2007. Growth differences between naturally recruited and stocked European eel *Anguilla anguilla* from different habitats in Lithuania. Journal of Fish Biology 71: 1773-1787.
- 71. Ložys, L., Dainys, J. 2015. Evaluation of eel age and origin. Final report. Vilnius, 26 p. (In Lithuanian).
- 72. Ložys, L., Stakėnas, S., Skrupskelis, K., Pabrinkytė, S. 2007. Assessment of European eel migration from Lithuanian inland waters. Report. Vilnius, 59 p. (In Lithuanian).
- 73. Ložys. L., Repečka, R., Pūtys, Ž., Gurjanovaitė, K. 2008. Scientific justification of European eel (*Anguilla anguilla*) management plan. Report. Vilnius, 92 p. (In Lithuanian).
- 74. Mačionis, A. 1969. Introduction of elvers into the lakes of the former region of Vilnius in 1928-1939. Vilnius: V. Kapsukas Stale University; pp. 241-254. (In Lithuanian).
- 75. Malavasi, S., Georgalas, V., Lugli, M., Torricelli, P. and Mainardi, D. 2004. Differences in the pattern of antipredator behaviour between hatchery-reared and wild European sea bass juveniles. Journal of Fish Biology 65: 143-155.
- McCleave, J.D. 1993. Physical and behavioural controls on the oceanic distribution and migration of leptocephali. Journal of Fish Biology 43: 243-273.

- 77. Monten, E. 1985. Fish and turbines. Fish injury during passage through power station turbines. Vattenfall, Stockholm
- 78. Moriarty, C. 1978. Eels. A natural and unnatural history. New York, Universe Books.
- 79. Oliveira, E. and Pressiat, F. 2011. In situ evaluation of eel mortality in large turbines. In: Baran, P. and Basilico, L. editors. Management plan to save the eel. Optimising the design and management of installation. Paris, France.
- 80. Ovidio, M., Seredynski, A.L., Philippart, J.C. and NzauMatondo, B. 2013. A bit of quiet between the migrations: the resting life of the European eel during their freshwater growth phase in a small stream. Aquatic Ecology 47: 291–301.
- 81. Pedersen, M.I. 2000. Long-term survival and growth of stocked eel, *Anguilla anguilla* (L.), in a small eutrophic lake. Dana 12, 71–76.
- 82. Pedersen, M.I. and Rasmussen, G.H. 2016. Yield per recruit from stocking two different sizes of eel (*Anguilla anguilla*) in the brackish Roskilde Fjord. ICES Journal of Marine Science 73, 158–164.
- 83. Pedersen, M.I., Jepsen, N., Aarestrup, K., Koed, A., Pedersen, S. and Okland, F. 2012. Loss of European silver eel passing a hydropower station. Journal of Applied Ichthyology 28: 189–193.
- 84. Ragauskas, A., Butkauskas, D., Sruoga., A, Kesminas, V., Rashal, I., Tzeng, W.N. 2014. Analysis of the genetic structure of the European eel Anguilla anguilla using the mtDNA D-loop region molecular marker. Fisheries Science 80:463-474.
- 85. Righton, D., Westerberg, H., Feunteun, E., Økland, F., Gargan, P., Amilhat, E., Metcalfe, J., et. al. 2016. Empirical observations of the spawning migration of European eels: The long and dangerous road to the Sargasso Sea. Science Advances 2: 1–14.
- 86. Schmidt, J. 1923. Breeding places and migration of the eel. Nature 111: 51-54.
- 87. Schmidt, J. 1925. The breeding places of the eel. Smithsonian Institution Annual Report 1924: 279-316.
- 88. Schmolcke, D., Endtmann, E., Klooss, S., Meyer, M., Michaelis, D., Rickert, B.H. and Romer, D. 2006. Changes of sea level, landscape and culture: A review of the south-western Baltic area between 8800 and 4000 BC. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 240: 423-438.

- 89. Shiao, J.C., Ložys, L., Iizuka, Y. and Tzeng W.N. 2006. Migratory patterns and contribution of stocking to the population of European eel in Lithuanian waters as indicated by otolith Sr:Ca ratios. Journal of Fish Biology 69: 749–769
- 90. Simon, J. and Dörner, H. 2014. Survival and growth of European eels stocked as glass- and farm-sourced eels in five lakes in the first years after stocking. Ecology of Freshwater Fish 23, 40–48.
- 91. Simon, J., Berends, K., Dörner, H., Jepsen, N., and Fladung, E. 2011. European silver eel migration and fisheries induced mortality in the Havel River system (Germany). River Research and Applications 28: 1510–1518.
- 92. Smirnov, B.P., Chebanova, V.V. and Vvedenskaya, T.V. 1994. Adaption of hatchery-rased chum salmon, *Oncohynchus keta*, and chinook salmon, *O. tshawytscha*, to natural feeding and effects of starvation. Journal of Ichthyology 34: 96-106.
- 93. Stein, F., Doering-Arjes, P., Fladung, E., Brämick, U., Bendall, B. and Schröder, B. 2016. Downstream migration of the European eel (*Anguilla anguilla*) in the Elbe River, Germany: movement patterns and the potential impact of environmental factors. River Research and Applications.
- 94. Stunz, G.W. and Minello, T.J. 2001. Habitat related predation on juvenile wild-caught and hatchery reared red drum Sciaenops ocellatus. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 260: 13-25.
- 95. Svåsand, T. 2004. Why juvenile quality and release strategies are important factors for success in stock enhancement and sea ranching. In: Leber, K.M., Kitada, S., Blankenship, H.L. and Svåsand, T. editors. Stock Enhancement and Sea Ranching Developments, pitfalls and opportunities. Second edition. Oxford: Fishing News Books, Blackwell Science.
- 96. Svedäng, H. and Wickström, H. 1997. Low fat contents in female silver eels: indications of insufficient energetic stores for migration and gonadal development. Journal of Fish Biology 50: 475–486.
- 97. Tesch, F.W. 1977. The Eel. Biology and Management of Anguillid Eels. Chapman and Hall, London.
- 98. Tesch, F.W. 1994. Tracking of silver eels in the Rivers Weser and Elbe. Fischokologie 7: 47–59.
- 99. Tesch, F.W. 2003. The Eel. Oxford: Blackwell Scientific.

- 100. Tsukamoto, K. 2009. Oceanic migration and spawning of anguillid eels. Journal of Fish Biology 74: 1833-52.
- 101. Van den Thillart, G. and Dufour, S. 2009. How to estimate the reproductive success of European silver eels. In: Van den Thillart, G., Dufour, S. and Rankin, J.C., editors. Spawning migration of the European eel. Reproduction index, a useful tool for conservation management. Springer.
- 102. Van Ginneken, V., Antonissen, E., Müller, U.K., Booms, R., Eding, E., Verreth, J. and Van den Thillart, G. 2005.Eel migration to the Sargasso: remarkably high swimming efficiency and low energy costs. Journal of Experimental Biology 208: 1329–1335.
- 103. Van Ginneken, V.J.T. and van den Thillart, G. 2000. Physiology: Eel fat stores are enough to reach the Sargasso. Nature 403: 156–157.
- 104. Verbiest, H., Breukelaar, A.W., Ovidio, M. and Belpaire, C. 2012. Escapement success and patterns of downstream migration of female silver eel *Anguilla anguilla* in the River Meuse. Ecology of Freshwater Fish 21: 395–403
- 105. Watene, E.M. and Boubée, J.A.T. 2005. Selective opening of hydroelectric dam spillway gates for downstream migrant eels in New Zealand. Fisheries Management and Ecology 12: 69-75.
- 106. Westerberg, H., Lagenfelt, I., and Svedäng, H. 2007. Silver eel migration behaviour in the Baltic. ICES Journal of Marine Science 64: 1457-1462.
- 107. Westerberg, H., Sjöberg, N., Lagenfelt, I., Aarestrup, K. and Righton, D. 2014. Behaviour of stocked and naturally recruited European eels during migration. Marine Ecology Progress Series 496: 145–157.
- 108. Westin, L. 2003. Migration failure in stocked eels *Anguilla anguilla*. Marine Ecology Progress Series 254: 307–311.
- 109. Wickström, H. 2001. Stocking as a sustainable measure to enhance eel populations. PhD thesis, Stockholm University.
- 110. Winter, H.V., Jansen, H.M. and Breukelaar, A.W. 2007. Silver eel mortality during downstream migration in the River Meuse from a population perspective. ICES Journal of Marine Science, 64: 1444-1449.

- 111. Winter, H.V., Jansen, H.M. and Bruijs, M.C.M. 2006. Assessing the impact of hydropower and fisheries on downstream migrating silver eel, *Anguilla anguilla*, by telemetry in the River Meuse. Ecology of Freshwater Fish, 15: 221–228.
- 112. Winter, H.V., Jansen, H.M., Adam, B., and Schwevers, U. 2005. Behavioural effects of surgically implanting transponders in European eel. *Anguilla anguilla*. In Spedicato, M.T., Marmulla, G. and Lembo, G. editors. Aquatic telemetry: advances and applications. Rome: FAO/COISPA.
- 113. Wirth, T. and Bernatchez, L. 2003. Decline of North Atlantic eels: a fatal synergy? Proceedings of the Royal Society of London 270: 681-688.

I.

Received: 8 September 2016 Accepted: 22 October 2016 DOI: 10.1111/iai.13347

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

WILEY Applied Ichthyology DWK

Do young on-grown eels, Anguilla anguilla (Linnaeus, 1758), outperform glass eels after transition to a natural prey diet?

J. Dainys $^1~|~$ H. Gorfine $^2~|~$ E. Šidagytė $^3~|~$ E. Jakubavičiūtė $^1~|~$ M. Kirka $^1~|~$ Ž. Pūtys $^1~|~$ L. Ložys $^1~$

¹Laboratory of Marine Ecology, Nature Research Centre, Vilnius, Lithuania

²School of BioSciences, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

³Laboratory of Evolutionary Ecology of Hydrobionts, Nature Research Centre, Vilnius, Lithuania

Correspondence

Justas Dainys, Laboratory of Marine Ecology, Nature Research Centre, Vilnius, Lithuania. Email: dainys@ekoi.lt

Summary

Survival rates among European eels, *Anguilla anguilla* (Linnaeus, 1758), on-grown using a formulated diet in a commercial aquaculture facility, were compared with glass eels from the same cohort following their transition to a natural prey diet in the laboratory. Treatments included zero, 42-day, and 196-day periods of grow-out prior to 30-day experimental periods when eels were fed *Chironomus* spp. larvae (10 tanks, each containing 240-L water and 40 glass or 10 on-growing eels; 12:12 hr photoperiod; water temperature 18°C). All glass eels survived, compared to 87% (42-day) and 99% (196day) for on-grown eels. Although the eels on-grown for 196 days had a high survival rate, they did lose weight. Farm-reared eels may have accumulated sufficient resources over the 196-days to survive the first 30 days after weaning from a formulated diet, but not for an additional 30 days (84% survival). Lack of superior survival rates among on-grown eels challenges the presumed benefits of releasing on-grown eels for population restoration.

1 | INTRODUCTION

Rapid population declines have been observed since the 1980s over the entire distribution range of the European eel (Anguilla anguilla L.; Dekker, 2004; Feunteun, 2002; ICES, 2015; Moriarty & Dekker, 1997). As a consequence, in 2007 the European Union (EU) issued the Regulation of European Council No. 1100/2007, which lays down measures for the restoration of European eel stocks. This regulation obliges member states to develop and implement national Eel Management Plans. The aim of these plans is to allow 40% of spawners (silver eels) from a pristine stock to migrate towards the spawning area in the Sargasso Sea; restocking inland waters is one means to accomplish this (Dekker & Beaulaton, 2015). Nowadays, after capture in the wild, glass eels are often on-grown in aquaculture facilities prior to translocation and release. During the on-growing phase, eels are weaned from a natural diet and fed with specially formulated food. Their weight increases up to 10-fold during this period; consequently, mortality among on-grown eels released back into the wild was believed to be lower when compared to mortality rates among eels liberated at the glass eel stage. This construct is speculative and in need of testing (ICES, 2007, 2015). Moreover, there is evidence that

stocking of hatchery-reared fish does not always deliver significant improvements (Blaxter, 2000; Larscheid, 1995). White and Knights (1994) suggested that any initial growth advantage from releasing on-grown eels is lost after about 5-6 years. Simon and Dörner (2014) found over a 7-year study period following re-stocking, that glass eels exhibited superior growth and condition compared to eels ongrown in an aquaculture facility, and had caught up in body size within 3-4 years post-release. There is also evidence that stocking with ongrown eels may result in poorer survival rates than for glass eels (Berg & Jørgensen, 1994; ICES, 2007; Pedersen, 2000; Wickström, 2001). Exposure of different fish species to an artificial environment during on-growing can produce phenotypic changes that give rise to impaired migratory and anti-predator behaviour, thereby reducing chances of survival (Brown & Laland, 2001; Svåsand, 2004). There has also been speculation that on-growing in aquaculture facilities adversely affects the capacity for the weaning of eel to natural food during the postrelease period (ICES, 2013; Smirnov, Chebanova, & Vvedenskaya, 1994), resulting in increased mortality. In addition to these negative aspects of farm-reared eels, glass eel on-growing in aquaculture facilities poses risks of spreading parasites and diseases, genotypic population alteration, release of slower growing individuals caused by

wileyonlinelibrary.com/journal/jai

J Appl Ichthyol. 2017;1-5.

DAINYS ET AL.

2 WILEY Applied Ichthyology DWK

size-dependent sorting, as well as increasing the cost per stocked eel (Egusa, 1979; ICES, 2011).

To our knowledge, there have been no laboratory studies undertaken to compare survival rates among on-grown European eels and glass eels under controlled conditions. The primary aim of the present study was to test how well on-grown eels could be weaned from a formulated diet to feed on *Chironomus* spp. larvae that are typically consumed by eels in natural water bodies (de Nie, 1982), and how this transition affects their survival in comparison to glass eels under the controlled conditions provided by an indoor laboratory facility.

2 | MATERIALS AND METHODS

The effects of three pre-release options on the survival of translocated wild-caught glass eels were tested during 30-day sequential laboratory experiments when the eels were fed *Chironomus* spp. larvae. These treatments were: Group A, glass eels not on-grown; Group B, eels fed a specially formulated diet whilst on-grown in an aquaculture facility for 42 days; and Group C, fed for 196 days. The experiments were run sequentially to ensure that eels for each treatment were sourced from the same cohort of imported glass eels, to control for inherent differences in growth and survival.

After 30 days in the Group C treatment, it was evident that weight loss and poor physical condition prevailed among some individuals, although not to the point of obvious morbidity. To allow time for these eels to regain condition, this experiment was extended for an additional 30 days (Group C_1).

2.1 | Source of eels for experimental treatments

Glass eels were shipped from the United Kingdom and upon arrival in Lithuania were transported to an aquaculture facility in the Vilnius district for rearing. Initially, the eels in this facility were fed cod roe at 10% of their body weight for the remainder of the glass eel phase. At the beginning of the post-glass eel on-growing phase the eels were transitioned to a specially formulated fish food (ALLER FUTURA EX, GR., http://www.aller-agua.com/introduction-to-fish-feed/ 00-0 warm-freshwater-species). This meant that prior to the transfer of eels from the aquaculture facility to the experimental laboratories at Lithuania's Nature Research Centre (NRC), the Group A glass eels were fed only cod roe, whereas both the B and C groups of on-grown eels were progressively transitioned and reared exclusively on formulated fish feed. Water temperature in the rearing system at the aquaculture facility was maintained within the range of 25-27°C. Immediately after transportation to NRC, the eels were acclimated to a lower water temperature of 18°C in the laboratory experimental system. No mortality was observed during this acclimation period.

2.2 | Experimental system

Ten experimental semi-square fiberglass tanks (length = 0.6 m, width = 0.6 m and depth = 0.8 m), each containing 240-L water were

connected to the same recycling system (mechanical filter Hydrotech drum, USA, mesh size = 40 µm; biological filter Bio-Blok 200, Denmark, volume = 4.5 m^3 , biofilter material inner surface = $200 \text{ m}^2/\text{m}^3$). The experimental system was exposed to simulated day-night cycles of artificial light (Hagen Sun Glo T8 4200K lamps; 12:12 hr photoperiod). Water flow rate from the filter to each experimental tank was 5 L/min (50 L/min through a biological filter) and monitored twice a day. After gradual adaptation, eels were randomly allocated among 10 replicate tanks each containing 40 individuals in the Group A experiment (N = 400), and 10 individuals in each of Group B (N = 100) and Group C (N = 100). During all experiments the eels were fed ad libitum with live Chironomus spp. larvae. Eels in all replicates were fed at the same time and all uneaten larvae were removed within 2 hr after feeding. Throughout the experiments accumulated faeces were removed every 2 days before feeding. Total wet weights of eels within each experiment replicate, i.e., 10 replicates per group, were weighed at the beginning and end of each experiment. Individual measurements were not taken in order to minimise the risk of handling-induced mortality. Weights of a sample (N = 40) of individual eels retained in the aquaculture facility were measured periodically and their means calculated over duration of the study. Fish health was monitored in each tank daily; no external symptoms of any diseases were noted during this series of experiments. Tests for ammonium and nitrite concentrations were performed at 2-day intervals and for nitrate at 5-day intervals (Aquamerck Nitrite Test 14658, Aquaquant Ammonium Test 14400; Aquamerck Nitrate Test 11170; Merck, Germany). Samples for water quality tests were taken from outlet pipes of each tank.

2.3 | Data analysis

Specific growth rates (SGR) of each replicate were calculated in addition to the survival rates (S). The SGR was calculated as described in Wootton (1990) and used to monitor eel condition.

As survival data were non-normal (Shapiro–Wilk's W tests, p < .05), both non-parametric and parametric approaches were used to test for group effect (A, B, C) on eel survival after 1 month in laboratory conditions. Kruskal–Wallis ANOVA was followed by Multiple Comparison tests of mean ranks, and One-Way ANOVA performed on arcsinetransformed data was followed by Tukey HSD post-hoc tests. Statistical analysis was conducted with StatSoft STATISTICA[®] 8 software.

3 | RESULTS

During the experiments water temperature was maintained at 18.3 ± 0.4 °C. Concentrations of ammonium and nitrite were <0.05 mg/L and the concentration of nitrate was <38 mg/L for the duration of all experiments.

3.1 | Growth

Average initial weight of Group A was 0.46 ± 0.01 g (N = 400), while the weighs of groups B and C were 1.14 ± 0.1 g (N = 100) and



FIGURE 1 Changes in mean individual weight of eels (*Anguilla anguilla*) in an aquaculture facility (open circles) and among different age groups when transferred to laboratory conditions (boxplots: median, quartiles, min-max). Group A eels fed with cod roe, Group B eels raised 42 and Group C 196 days on formulated fish food. Pie charts with percentages = survival for each treatment group (cumulative in 196-day group). The *x*-axis represents total days of on-growing and experimental treatment, amounting to 256 days in Group C₁

8.31 ± 1.9 g (N = 100), respectively. Although the absolute average growth rate (abs) of Group A (abs 0.13 ± 0.02 g) was lower than Group B (abs 0.19 ± 0.1 g) over 30 days, its relative growth rate (rel) as a proportion (%)of initial weight (rel 26.2 ± 5.9%; SGR 0.8 ± 0.1) was higher than Group B (16.8 ± 8.6%; SGR 0.5 ± 0.2). In contrast, both absolute and relative growth rates of Group A were larger that Group C (abs -0.5 ± 0.7 g; rel $-5.9 \pm 7.7\%$; SGR -0.2 ± 0.3 ; Figure 1).

3.2 | Survival

Survival within the first 30 days after transfer from aquaculture to experimental conditions differed significantly between groups A and B as well as between groups B and C (Table 1). Non-parametric and parametric tests gave congruent results. Group A had 100% survival compared to 13% and 1% mortalities for groups B and C, respectively, at the end of their 30-day laboratory periods. There were no statistically significant differences in survival rates between groups A and C during the 30-day experimental periods.

3.3 | Extension of experiment with Group C

The limited duration and sequential conduct of experiments with groups A and B precluded comparison of how each treatment would affect survival over the longer term. Nevertheless, the SGR of these two experimental groups was positive and physical condition was evidently good, suggesting that these eels were feeding and gaining weight in contrast to those in Group C.

TABLE 1 Pair-wise comparisons of survival rates after 30-day experiments among Groups A. B and C

| experiments among ore | aport, b ana o | | | |
|-----------------------|----------------|-------|-------|--|
| Treatment Group | А | В | с | |
| А | - | <.001 | .870 | |
| В | .019 | - | <.001 | |
| С | 1.000 | .048 | - | |

p-values of Tukey HSD tests following One-Way ANOVA ($F_{2,27} = 14.1$, *p* < .001) given above diagonal; *p*-values of Multiple Comparison tests of mean ranks following the Kruskal–Wallis ANOVA ($H_{2, N=30} = 14.8$, *p* < .001) given below diagonal. Bold = significant probabilities (*p* < .05).

After the 30-day period of the experiment with Group C the mortality rate was negligible (only one individual died), but weight decreased by 0.5 ± 0.7 g per eel. It was evident that weight loss and poor physical condition prevailed among some individuals, although not to the point of obvious morbidity. Accordingly, this experimental treatment was extended for an additional 30 days (Group C1) to allow sufficient time for these eels to regain condition. The average weight of eels at the beginning of the second phase of this experiment was 7.81 ± 1.9 g. After an additional 30 days the mortality rate of the eels increased and varied substantially among tanks (15.0 ± 20.1%) yet with a weight gain per surviving eel of 0.6 \pm 1.1 g (7.6 \pm 12.5% of initial body weight; SGR 0.2 \pm 0.4). All mortalities in Group C₁ occurred within the first 11 days of the second phase, with none thereafter. The total mortality rate after the first and second phases of the experiment was estimated to be 16%, similar to the mortality rate observed for Group B.

4 | DISCUSSION

Results of this study are consistent with field studies that showed survival rates to be worse among farmed eels released into the wild when compared to wild eels and stocked glass eels (Pedersen, 2000; Pedersen & Rasmussen, 2016; Simon & Dörner, 2014; Wickström, 2001). This also calls into question current recommendations for stocking glass and on-grown eels into Lithuanian water bodies at a ratio 4:1. After 30 days of feeding on Chironomus spp. under laboratory conditions there were no significant differences in survival rates between groups A and C, but the survival rate of Group B was significantly lower. The negative SGR in Group C after the initial 30-day period was due to weight loss and apparent poor physical condition among some individuals. Positive SGR values for groups A and B indicated that these eels were able to gain weight on the Chironomus spp. diet. Chironomids have been reported to be one of the main food items among eel stomach contents, even when the aquatic environment had only low abundance of larvae (de Nie, 1982). The survival rate for the eels in the Group C₁ treatment decreased by an additional 15%, but the SGR in the survivors increased to become positive. It is plausible that if Group B had also been extended for a further 30 days as the Group B1 and no further mortalities had occurred, then there would have been no difference between the two on-grown treatments and

4 WILEY Applied Ichthyology

both would have differed significantly from Group A, thereby further strengthening support for an hypothesis of superior performance of glass eels.

Kearney, Jeffs, and Lee (2011) suggested a link between initial energy reserves in the shortfin glass eel (Anguilla australis) and its survival in captivity. This might explain the observations in our study where larger eels that were well-nourished in the aquaculture facility had accumulated enough energy reserves to cope with an impaired ability to adapt to feeding on Chironomus spp. or had an insufficient food intake during the first 30 days, thereby delaying the onset of mortality as observed during the beginning of the second 30-day phase of the experiment. Such phenomena might be related to a sudden change in food from dry formulated fed to a naturally occurring live prey. This is a hypothesis also supported by Bohlin, Sundström, Johnsson, Höjesjö, and Pettersson (2002) and Sundström, Bohlin, and Johnsson (2004), who suggested that decline in condition and growth among brown trout (Salmo trutta) was often observed after sudden transition from formulated to wild food. The decrease in the Group C1 survival rate of 15.2%, compared to only 1% during the first 30day interval of Group C, we attribute to insufficient food intake. These losses may have contributed to the increase in the final average SGR during the second phase with the elimination of weaker eels from the group.

Although this experimental study was conducted in a laboratory that cannot emulate the environmental conditions encountered by eels following their release into natural water bodies, the overall results imply that the ability of eels to wean from formulated food to natural prev is to some extent limited by the duration of time spent consuming a formulated diet. We acknowledge that the 30-day experimental period may have been less than optimal for testing, and that growth rates on specially formulated feed under farm conditions were better than what was achieved with Chironomus spp. larvae during this study. Our study suggests that although on-growing with formulated food provides reserves against starvation, this cannot fully compensate for reduced capability to adapt to feeding on wild prey. This inference is supported by Smirnov et al. (1994), who concluded that hatcheryreared fish used for stocking might be unable to adapt to natural food consumed by wild fish and as a result, stocked fish are often considered to be inefficient feeders unable to adapt to the consumption of natural prey (Maynard, McDowell, Tezak, & Flagg, 1996; Olla, Davis, & Ryer, 1998; Paszkowski & Olla, 1985). As a result, released fish can show substantial weight loss (Baer, 2009). This suggests that fish fed with formulated food might in some cases suffer from post-release starvation caused by impaired ability to locate or correctly identify food items in the wild.

Simon, Dörner, Scott, Schreckenbach, and Knösche (2013) showed that eels released into the wild at the glass eel stage exhibited a superior performance after 4 years than those sourced from commercial farms where they had been on-grown to a larger size. Simon et al. (2013) concluded that eels stocked as farm eels require more time to adapt to natural prey and to develop new foraging strategies than eels stocked as glass eels, whereby during this adaptation period the eels rely on stored energy reserves. Survival rates in the wild are likely to be lower than those in this study. Hatchery-reared fish are known to show poorly developed predator-avoidance behaviour (Einum & Fleming, 2001; Olla et al., 1998; Youngson & Verspoor, 1998). Larger eels may suffer less predation in the wild due to their size, but if time spent in farm tanks affected their ability to evade or escape predators, then their survival rates would likely be lower. In any event, poorer survival among larger eels retained in captivity for longer will translate into reduced cost effectiveness.

Group A, exposed to aquaculture conditions for a relatively short time, exhibited superior ability to switch from cod roe to Chironomus sp. larvae compared to those on-grown on formulated feed for periods of 42 days or longer. Despite implications from this study, the use of on-grown eels for stocking might be unavoidable because glass eels are often available only at the end or beginning of the year, when the surface waters of most lakes in Northern Europe are frozen. ICES (2013) recommends stocking on-grown eels as a better option than glass eels in situations where water temperatures are very low, which may lead to only modest glass eel survival. Considering the results of the current study and similar findings in field studies, it could be argued that eels should be stocked as soon as possible after capture. or at least kept under aquaculture farm conditions for the shortest duration feasible, and, when possible, fed-or at least weaned-with natural food prior to release to improve their ability to adapt to the natural conditions found in the wild. The lack of superior survival rates among on-grown eels also suggests that a policy of releasing glass eels at a four-fold greater rate than on-grown eels on the basis of weight equivalency and presumed poorer survival may be ill founded. If future studies of glass and on-grown eel survival in the wild display similar survival patterns to what we observed in the laboratory, then a revision of recommendations for stocking densities should be considered.

5 | CONCLUSION

Results of the current study suggest that on-grown eels had no survival advantage in comparison to glass eels when fed *Chironomus* spp. in the laboratory, likely because eels must switch their diet from formulated to natural food, a transition with which at least some ongrown eels appear unable to cope.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank the Fisheries Service under the Ministry of Agriculture of the Republic of Lithuania for providing glass and on-grown eels used in experiments. Constructive criticisms from two anonymous reviewers substantially improved the manuscript.

REFERENCES

Baer, J. (2009). Erfahrungswerte zum Freilandbesatz mit europäischen Welsen (Silurus glanis) aus einer Kreislaufanlage. Fischer & Teichwirt, 60, 328–330.

- Berg, S., & Jørgensen, J. (1994). Stocking experiments with 0+ eels (Anguilla anguilla L.) in Danish streams: Post stocking movements, densities and mortality. In I. G. Cowx (Ed.), Rehabilitation of freshwater fisheries (pp. 314–325). Oxford: Fishing News Books.
- Blaxter, J. H. S. (2000). Enhancement of marine fish stocks. Advances in Marine Biology, 38, 2–54. doi:10.1016/S0065-2881(00)38002-6
- Bohlin, T., Sundström, L. F., Johnsson, J. I., Höjesjö, J., & Pettersson, J. (2002). Density-dependent growth in brown trout: Effects of introducing wild and hatchery fish. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 71, 683–692.
- Brown, C., & Laland, K. (2001). Social learning and life skills training for hatchery reared fish. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 59, 471–493. doi:10.1111/ j.1095-8649.2001.tb02354.x
- Dekker, W. (2004). Slipping through our hands: Population dynamics of the European eel. PhD thesis, University of Amsterdam.
- Dekker, W., & Beaulaton, L. (2015). Faire mieux que la nature? The history of eel restocking in Europe. *Environment and History*, 22, 255–300. doi: 10.3197/096734016X14574329314407
- Egusa, S. (1979). Notes on the culture of the European eel (Anquilla anquilla L.) in Japanese eel-farming ponds. Rapports et Proces-Verbaux des Reunions, Conseil Internationale pour l'Exploration de la Mer, 174, 51–58.
- Einum, S., & Fleming, I. A. (2001). Implications of stocking: Ecological interactions between wild and released salmonids. Nordic Journal of Freshwater Research, 75, 56–70.
- Feunteun, E. (2002). Management and restoration of European eel population (Anguilla anguilla): An impossible bargain. Ecological Engineering, 18, 575–591. doi:10.1016/S0925-8574(02)00021-6
- ICES (2007). Report of the 2007 session of the joint eifac/ices working group on eels. Bordeaux, France. ICES CM 2007/ACFM:23. Retrieved from http://www.fao.org/docrep/012/a1584e/a1584e.pdf (last accessed 4 May 2016).
- ICES (2011). Report of the 2011 session of the joint eifaac/ices working group on eels. Lisbon, Portugal. ICES CM 2011/ACOM:18. Retrieved from http://www.ices.dk/sites/pub/Publication%20Reports/Expert%20 Group%20Report/acom/2011/WGEEL/wgeel_2011.pdf (last accessed 4 May 2016).
- ICES (2013). Report of the joint eifaac/ices working group on eels (WGEEL). 8–22 March 2013 in Spain, 4–10 September 2013 in Denmark. ICES CM 2013/ACOM:18. Retrieved from http://www.ices.dk/sites/pub/ Publication%20Reports/Expert%20Group%20Report/acom/2013/ WGEEL/wgeel 2013.pdf (last accessed 4 May 2016).
- ICES (2015). Report of the joint eifaac/ices/gfcm working group on eel (WGEEL). 24 November-2 December 2015, Antalya, Turkey. ICES CM 2015/ACOM:18. Retrieved from http://ices.dk/sites/pub/ Publication%20Reports/Expert%20Group%20Report/acom/2015/ WGEEL/wgeel_2015_final.pdf (last accessed 4 May 2016).
- Kearney, M., Jeffs, A., & Lee, P. (2011). Seasonal differences in the quality of shortfin glass eel, *Anguilla australis*, and subsequent effects on growth and survival in captivity. *Nature and Science of Sleep*, 36, 45–55.
- Larscheid, J. G. (1995). Development of an optimal stocking regime for walleyes in east Okoboji Lake, Iowa. In H. L. Schramm Jr & R. G. Piper (Eds.), Uses and effects of cultured fishes in aquatic ecosystems (pp. 472– 483). Bethesda, MD: American Fisheries Society.
- Maynard, D. J., McDowell, G. C., Tezak, E. P., & Flagg, T. A. (1996). Effects of diets supplemented with live food on the foraging behavior of cultured fall chinook salmon. *The Progressive Fish-Culturist*, 58, 187–191.

Moriarty, C., & Dekker, W. (1997). Management of the European eel. Fishery Bulletin, 15, 110.

- de Nie, H. W. (1982). A note on the significance of larger bivalve molluscs (Anodonta spp. and Dreissena sp.) in the food of the eel (Anguilla anguilla) in Tjeukemeer. Hydrobiologia, 95, 307. doi:10.1007/BF00044491
- Olla, B. L., Davis, M. W., & Ryer, C. H. (1998). Understanding how the hatchery environment represses or promotes the development of behavioural survival skills. *Bulletin of Marine Science*, 62, 531–550.
- Paszkowski, C. A., & Olla, B. L. (1985). Foraging behavior of hatcheryproduced coho salmon (Oncorhynchus kisutch) smolts on live prey. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science, 42, 1915–1921.
- Pedersen, M. I. (2000). Long-term survival and growth of stocked eel, Anguilla anguilla (L.), in a small eutrophic lake. Dana, 12, 71–76. doi:10.1111/eff.12050
- Pedersen, M. I., & Rasmussen, G. H. (2016). Yield per recruit from stocking two different sizes of eel (Anguilla anguilla) in the brackish Roskilde Fjord. ICES Journal of Marine Science, 73, 158–164. doi:10.1093/ icesjms/fsv167
- Simon, J., & Dörner, H. (2014). Survival and growth of European eels stocked as glass- and farm-sourced eels in five lakes in the first years after stocking. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish*, 23, 40–48. doi:10.1111/ eff.12050
- Simon, J., Dörner, H., Scott, R. D., Schreckenbach, K., & Knösche, R. (2013). Comparison of growth and condition of European eels stocked as glass and farm sourced eels in lakes in the first 4 years after stocking. *Journal* of Applied Ichthyology, 29, 323–330. doi:10.1111/jai.12078
- Smirnov, B. P., Chebanova, V. V., & Vvedenskaya, T. V. (1994). Adaptation of hatchery-raised chum salmon, Oncohynchus keta, and Chinook salmon, O. tshawytscha, to natural feeding and effects of starvation. Journal of lchthyology, 34, 96–106.
- Sundström, L. F., Bohlin, T., & Johnsson, J. I. (2004). Density-dependent growth in hatchery-reared brown trout released into a natural stream. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 65, 1385–1391.
- Svåsand, T. (2004). Why juvenile quality and release strategies are important factors for success in stock enhancement and sea ranching. In K. M. Leber, S. Kitada, H. L. Blankenship & T. Svåsand (Eds.), Stock enhancement and sea ranching Developments, pitfalls and opportunities (2nd ed., pp. 61–70). Oxford: Fishing News Books, Blackwell Science.
- White, E. M., & Knights, B. (1994). Elver and eel stock assessment in the Severn and Avon. Bristol: National Rivers Authority.
- Wickström, H. (2001). Stocking as sustainable measure to enhance eel populations. PhD Thesis, University of Stockholm, Stocholm.
- Wootton, R. J. (1990). Ecology of teleost fishes. London: Chapman and Hall.
- Youngson, A. F., & Verspoor, E. (1998). Interactions between wild and introduced Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science, 55(Suppl. 1), 153–160.

How to cite this article: Dainys J, Gorfine H, Šidagytė E, et al. Do young on-grown eels, *Anguilla anguilla* (Linnaeus, 1758), outperform glass eels after transition to a natural prey diet? *J Appl Ichthyol*. 2017;00:1–5. https://doi.org/10.1111/jai.13347

II.

Mortality of Silver Eels, *Anguilla anguilla* (Linnaeus, 1758), Migrating Through Different Types of Hydropower Turbines in Lithuania

Justas Dainys^{1*}, Saulius Stakėnas², Harry Gorfine³, Linas Ložys¹

¹ Nature Research Centre, Laboratory of Marine Ecology, Vilnius, Lithuania

² Nature Research Centre, Laboratory of Ecology and Physiology of Hydrobionts, Vilnius, Lithuania
³School of BioSciences, University of Melbourne, Parkville Campus, Victoria, Australia

* Corresponding author. E-mail: <u>dainys@ekoi.lt</u>

Abstract

Hydropower plants (HPP) are considered to be one of the major threats to the survival of European eels when migrating downstream along inland waterbodies during the early part of their annual journey to the spawning area in the Sargasso Sea. There are 98 HPPs in Lithuania and thousands throughout Europe. Numerous studies describe mortality rates among European eels caused by HPPs as variable depending on various local, environmental and technical factors. This heterogeneity in effect complicates theoretical extrapolation to eel mortality arising from different HPPs, necessary for effective management of local stocks. Silver eel mortality was estimated for four different HPPs in Lithuania. Mortality was estimated using RFID (PIT) tags and acoustic telemetry in a large HPP (>100 MW) with Kaplan turbines, a small HPP (<1 MW) with a Kaplan turbine and fish ladder, and for the first time in two small HPPs (<1 MW) with CINK turbines. The results supported a hypothesis that the mortality rate of migrating eels depends mainly on the type and size of the turbine. HPP induced mortality varied from 100% in a small CINK turbine down to 23.8% in the large HPP with Kaplan turbines. The importance of simple mitigation measures was highlighted by 34% of all tagged eels bypassing the HPP via a fish ladder constructed for upstream migration of salmonids. The observed differences in mortality provide essential information for long term strategies designed to restore depleted eel populations in Lithuania and other European countries.

Key words: Anguilla anguilla, hydropower, eel migration, Kaplan turbine, CINK turbine

Introduction

Steep declines in European eel *Anguilla anguilla* recruitment started in the 1980s and since then eel population abundance has fallen outside safe biological limits (Dekker, 2004; ICES, 2006). This population crash happened over the entire range of this species' distribution without a single obvious cause, but a number of different reasons such as changes in the Gulf stream, migration barriers, fishing pressure, habitat loss, parasites or pollution have been postulated (Dekker, 2004; Wirth, 2003). Despite all these factors contributing to the decline in eel populations there is no consensus on their relative importance. Results from previous studies (e.g. Winter et al., 2006; Bruijs and Durif, 2009; Aarestrup et al., 2010) demonstrated that substantial mortality during downstream migration of eels, which in Lithuania is most intensive in spring (Ložys et al., 2008), could dramatically reduce the number of spawners. Fisheries and loss from passage of hydropower plants (HPPs) are often considered to be the main causes of eel mortality in rivers (Winter et al., 2006). The two principal direct causes of mortality at HPPs are turbine-related trauma and impingement on protective screens (Monten, 1985; Calles et al., 2010).

It has been generally assumed that turbine related mortality of migrating fish decrease with increasing turbine size (Calles et al., 2010). However, eel mortality rates in HPPs are variable depending on the site, river physiography, associated hydrological conditions, and the type of migration barriers installed (ICES, 2007). Eels tend to have 4 to 5 times higher mortality rates compared to e.g. juvenile salmonids when transiting HPPs (Hadderingh and Baker, 1998), mostly due to mechanically-induced injuries because of their elongated morphology (Monten, 1985; Larinier and Travade, 2002). Previous studies have demonstrated negative impacts of hydropower on migrating eels, with mortalities ranging from 5 to 100%. Kaplan turbines are the most commonly used in Europe (Bruijs and Durif, 2009) and according to Larinier and Travade (2002) the range of reported mortality is between 15% and 30% in large Kaplan turbines, and from 50% to 100% in the smaller turbines used in most small-scale HPPs (Monten, 1985; Hadderingh and Baker, 1998). We did not find any studies on the rates of eel mortality in cross-flow turbines (e.g. Banki, CINK, Ossberger), however, mortality rate of other fish species passing through cross-flow turbines is significantly higher (up to 75%; Gloss and Wahl, 1983; DuBois and Gloss, 1993) compared to that in Kaplan or Francis turbines. Many behavioural studies (e.g. Calles et al. 2010; Behrmann-Godel and Eckmann 2003; Durif et al., 2003) suggest that eels approaching HPPs and dams often hesitate to continue with their migration, thereby extending their migration time. Pedersen et al. (2012) reported that some of eels spent weeks moving in and out of the power canal before finally passing or disappearing beyond the detection range. In that study only 23% of the tagged eels reached the tidal limit within the study period, mainly due to difficulties in traversing the hydropower dam.

Global production of hydroelectricity has grown steadily by about 3% per year on average since 1980 (Moller, 2016). The role of hydropower, along with other renewable energy sources, is expected to become increasingly important in the future. The highest growth rates are expected in developing countries with high but unexploited hydropower potential, e.g. parts of Eastern Europe (Voigtländer et al., 1999). Thus, the negative impact of HPPs on migrating fish is likely to increase in the future.

The main objective of this study was to assess mortality rates of silver eels passing low-head HPP turbines of two types: Kaplan (large and small) and CINK (small). An additional aim of the study was to estimate the importance of fish ladders for bypassing HPP during downstream eel migration.

Study area

The study area encompassed part of the Nemunas River catchment and several of its tributaries in which a total of eight HPP are located four of which were included in this study (Fig. 1). The Nemunas River is the largest river in Lithuania, with a total length of 937 km and catchment area of 98 200 km². The Kaunas HPP with four Kaplan turbines was built on Nemunas River in 1960 and is situated 223 km upstream the Curonian lagoon with a further 67 km to the Baltic Sea (Table 1). The dam creates the 63.5 km² Kaunas water reservoir above the HPP. There are no other fish migration barriers between the Kaunas HPP and the Baltic Sea.

Figure 1. Location of Pabradė, Bagdononys, Valtūnai and Kaunas HPPs, and others within the catchments that were not included in this study.



| River | HPP | Turbine | Water head, m | Installed power | Mean annual river flow at HPP, m ³ s ⁻¹ |
|-----------|----------------|---------|------------------|--------------------|--|
| Nemunas | Kaunas HPP | Kaplan | 15 | 101 MW | 375 |
| Siesartis | Valtūnai HPP | Kaplan | 3.8 | 170 kW | 5 |
| Strėva | Bagdononys HPP | CINK | 10.9 | 90 kW | 0.8 |
| Dubinga | Pabradė HPP | CINK | 10.5 | 315 kW | 3.4 |

Table 1. Main technical parameters of studied HPPs (Lithuanian hydropower assotiation, 2011).

The Siesartis River (Fig. 1) is 64 km long and its catchment area is 616 km². This river is dammed by Valtūnai HPP at 11 km from its confluence (377 km from the Baltic Sea) (Table 1); there are no other fish migration barriers between the HPP and the Baltic Sea.

The Strèva River is 74 km long and its catchment area is 759 km²; the river drains to the Kaunas water reservoir above Kaunas HPP. The Bagdononys HPP with one cross-flow CINK turbine is situated 60.5 km from the mouth of Strèva River and 412 km from the Baltic Sea (Table 1, Fig. 1). The Strèva River is dammed by five HPPs at 9, 30.4, 40.5, 56.6, and 60.5 km from the river's mouth.

The Dubinga River is 17.8 km long and its catchment area is 410.4 km². The Pabrade HPP (Table 1) is located 1.4 km from the mouth of Dubinga River and 540 km from the Baltic Sea (Fig. 1) with no other fish migration barriers between the HPP and the Baltic Sea.

Materials and Methods

Large Kaplan turbine

To assess mortality rates of eels migrating downstream through large Kaplan turbines installed at the Kaunas HPP, 25 silver eels were caught in a small tributary of the Nemunas River upstream of the HPP. Immediately after capture the eels were translocated to the release site (~60 km) near Kaunas HPP in plastic transportation bags supplied with water and oxygen. Then the eels were placed in submerged cages to allow full recovery after transportation prior to surgery. Eels were anaesthetised with 2-phenoxy ethanol (0.8 ml 1^{-1}) for 5–10 minutes. A ~12–15 mm incision for Vemco V9 tags (weight 4.7 gram in air, length 29 mm, estimated tag life 159 days) and ~18–22 mm incision for Vemco V13 tags (weight 11 gram in air, length 36 mm, estimated tag life 262 days) was made on the mid-ventral line, in the posterior quarter of the body cavity. V9 tags were used to tag eels between 352 and 550 g while V13 tags were used for tagging eels >550 g. Tag-to-body weight ratios varied between 0.6 and 1.9%. The transmitter was inserted into the intra-peritoneal cavity and positioned 3–4 cm anterior of the incision. Surgery took 5–6 minutes to complete and the incision was then sutured with 4/0 Vicryl[®]Polyglactin absorbable surgical thread and treated with antiseptic *Methylrosanilinni chloridum* 2% solution. After the surgery eels were transferred back to the cages for recovery from

anaesthesia for 20-30 minutes. The V13 tags in the larger eels were selected for the longer battery life necessary to track silver eels over a long period, but these migration data are not presented as they were beyond the scope of the current study. Despite its relatively big size the V13 tag has been previously used to successfully tag silver eels (Westerberg et al. 2007, Béguer-Pon et al. 2014) without causing increases in mortality rates (Winter et al., 2005; Heupel et al., 2007). After recovery, the tagged eels were released into the reservoir near the Kaunas HPP intake (N=13 on May 30, N=3 on June 13 and N=9 on October 7, 2014) between 10 a.m. and 12 a.m.

The eel silvering stage was determined as described by Durif et al. (2009). Fulton's condition factor (FCF) was calculated as described by Ricker (1975). All silver eels >55 cm were considered to be females (Tesch, 1977).

Four receivers were installed in the area of Kaunas HPP water intake to detect eels entering turbines; four receivers were installed just below the Kaunas HPP to detect eels that had passed through the turbines. Data from the receivers was downloaded monthly. Time taken to pass through the turbines was calculated as the time-lag between the last detection of an eel upstream of the HPP and the first detection below the HPP. To detect eels that successfully migrated downstream, four additional receivers were installed on the navigational buoys within the Nemunas Delta.

To locate eels that had passed through the Kaunas HPP but had become possibly lethally injured, a section of the Nemunas River 25 km below the HPP was scanned with two VR2W receivers installed on an inflatable boat prior to the end of transmitter's estimated battery life.

Small CINK and Kaplan turbines

Eel mortality in the small CINK (Bagdononys HPP and Pabradė HPP) and Kaplan turbines (Valtūnai HPP) was assessed from eels tagged with 12 mm passive integrated transponders (PIT tags). Eels migrating downstream were captured above each HPP using a fyke net. Immediately after capture eels were anaesthetised as described above and fitted with PIT tags injected into the peritoneal cavity. After recovery the tagged eels were translocated approximately 2 km to Bagdononys and about 2.5 km to Pabradė HPPs. After transportation the eels were allowed to recover for c. 30 minutes and using the guidance system described by Oliveira and Pressiat (2011) they were released as close as possible to the turbine's water intake pipe. This release strategy aimed to avoid losses of tagged eels above the HPP due to caseation of migration or predation. Following their passage through the turbine eels were recaptured below the HPP in a fyke net.

The Valtūnai HPP does not have a water reservoir above the dam wall, thus tagged eels were released just below the site of capture - approximately 800 meters from the HPP. After release, the eels migrated downstream and were recaptured below the HPP or in a fish ladder. Fyke nets set below and above the HPP were checked every 30 minutes to remove trapped eels and were only removed from the river after all of the PIT tagged eels had been recaptured.

Immediately after recapture eels were euthanized by an overdose of anaesthetic. After euthanasia eels were scanned for their ID numberand transported to the Lithuanian Nature Research Centre for further analyses. Injuries were considered to be lethal if an eel's spine or skull were fractured or if the internal organs had evidence of severe trauma. Other fish species, if any, caught below HPP were also examined for injuries.

Morphometric parameters (TL; W), FCF and the silvering stage of eels used for evaluation of mortality rates in CINK and Kaplan turbines are presented in Table 2.

| НРР | Turbine | N | Tagging | TL, mm | W, g | FCF | Silvering |
|-------------------|---------|----|-------------------|----------|---------|-----------|--------------------------------------|
| | | | method | (±SD) | (±SD) | (±SD) | stage |
| Bagdononys HPP | CINK | 52 | PIT | 681±84 | 576±153 | 0.18±0.04 | FIII (N=20) FV (N=32) |
| Pabradė HPP | CINK | 26 | PIT | 691±51.9 | 629±139 | 0.19±0.04 | FIII (N=6) FIV (N=1) FV (N=19) |
| Valtūnai HPP | Kaplan | 64 | PIT | 681±73 | 545±174 | 0.17±0.02 | FV (N=64) |
| Kaunas HPP | Kaplan | 25 | Acoustic VEMCO | 761±93 | 897±398 | 0.19±0.03 | FIV (N=7) FV (N=18) |

Table 2. Morphometric parameters and tagging method of eels used for evaluation of mortality rates caused by CINK and Kaplan turbines

Eel mortality rate was calculated as the ratio between the number of tagged eels that passed through the turbines and the number of eels which survived without suffering lethal injury.

As the data for eel length, weight and FCF was non-normally distributed (Shapiro–Wilk's W tests, p<0.05), the non-parametric Mann-Whitney test was used to test for the effect of length on eel survival during passage through the turbine, and choice of migration route through turbine or fish ladder, as well as the effects of length and weight on migration success from Kaunas HPP to the Nemunas Delta.

Results

Small CINK turbines

All 52 eels released upstream from Bagdononys HPP passed the turbine immediately after release and were recaptured below the HPP. All eels suffered lethal injuries causing 100% mortality. All other fish caught below Bagdononys HPP experienced 100% mortality. These included Roach (*Rutilus rutilus*)

N=12, mean TL 8.8±1.1 cm; Tench (*Tinca tinca*) N=1, TL 7.5 cm; and Bleak (*Alburnus alburnus*) N=6, mean TL 11.3±0.2 cm.

Laboratory examination revealed that all eels suffered fractures of the spine and injuries to their internal organs; most eels (N=44, 84.6%) suffered laceration of skin and muscles. Thirty four eels (65.4%) had fractures of the skull. Marks from the turbine runner were evident over the entire body surface. The mean number of spinal fractures was 12 ± 2 per eel.

Out of 26 eels guided to the Pabrade HPP water intake pipe none were recaptured below the HPP.

Large Kaplan turbine

There is no fish ladder installed on the Kaunas HPP and its spillway operates only during extreme flooding events ensuring that all migrating eels had to pass directly through the turbines. Out of 25 eels released upstream of the Kaunas HPP water intake area, 21 (84%) moved downstream through the turbines and were detected below the HPP. Twelve eels migrated within 24 hours after release, while nine eels delayed passing through by one to 47 days. Three of them stayed close to the HPP water intake zone prior passing through the turbines, whereas remaining six eels were moving actively in and out of the water intake area prior to passage. Four eels did not migrate downstream and remained in water reservoir until the end of transmitter battery lifespan. A majority of eels (76%, N= 16) migrated through the HPP during daylight hours between 9.00 a.m. and 8.00 p.m., whereas another 5 eels (24%) migrated during night time between 10.00 p.m. and 5.00 a.m. The mean TL among eels which failed to migrate and instead stayed within the Kaunas Reservoir was 690±71 mm, and mean W is 534±65 g, whereas eels detected below the Kaunas HPP were 775 ± 93 mm in length with the mean 967 ± 398 g weight. There were no statistically significant differences (p>0.05) in TL and FCF between of these two eel groups, whereas eels that did not migrate through turbines had significantly lower W (p<0.05). Time taken to pass the Kaplan turbines was diverse and varied between 35 seconds and almost ten hours, but more than half of all eels (N=12, 57%) passed through the turbines within 5 minutes. Statistical analysis demonstrated that there was no significant difference between time taken to pass the turbines when comparing eels which reached the Nemunas Delta and those which have not.

Out of 21 eels which migrated through turbines, 11 (52.4%) were detected in the Nemunas Delta (212 km downstream from Kaunas HPP). Transmitters showed that five eels (23.8%) remained stationary in close proximity to the Kaunas HPP (from 0.5 km to 6.2 km) until the battery was discharged. As a consequence it was concluded that these eels had died. The fate of the remaining five eels after passing through the HPP turbines remains unknown because the transmission signal ceased between the scanned sector of 25 km downstream HPP and the Nemunas delta.

Eels that successfully reached the Nemunas Delta were slightly smaller (mean TL= 762 ± 84 mm and W= 874 ± 281 g), compared with eels that migrated through turbines but did not reach the Nemunas Delta before the transmitter battery expired (mean TL= 790 ± 104 mm and W= 1070 ± 491 g). This

difference was not significant and neither was the difference in W between the two groups. Four (36.4%) out of 11 eels detected in the Nemunas Delta were at the silvering stage FIV, while the other seven eels (63.4%) were at the silvering stage FV. Four (80%) out of five eels that suffered lethal injuries during passage through the Kaplan turbines were at the silvering stage FV and one (20%) at silvering stage FIV. Three (60%) out of five eels that disappeared between the scanned sector downstream of the Kaunas HPP and the Nemunas Delta were at the silvering stage FV and two (40%) at the silvering stage FIV.

Small Kaplan turbine

Following release, all tagged eels (N=64) passed the Valtūnai HPP during the same night. The most intense passage was observed between 0.30 a.m. and 4.30 a.m. when 83% (N=53) of the eels were recaptured below either the HPP or the fish ladder. All recaptured eels had implanted PIT tags and no other eels were caught. Forty two eels (66%) migrated through the turbine, while the remaining 22 eels (34%) were caught after passing through the fish ladder. Eels caught passing through the fish ladder were significantly larger (p<0.001, mean TL=72.0 \pm 7.2 cm, W=681 \pm 188 g) than eels passing directly through the turbine (mean TL=66.1 \pm 6.4 cm, W=476 \pm 109 g); their FCF was also significantly larger (p<0.001, mean FCF=0.18 \pm 0.02) when compared with eels passing directly through the turbine (mean FCF=0.16 \pm 0.02). Eel mortality in the Kaplan turbine at Valtūnai HPP was estimated to be 52.4% because 22 out of 42 eels suffered lethal injuries while passing through the turbine. During same period, out of 29 salmonid juveniles (TL=12.8 \pm 1.2 cm) that were caught below the Valtūnai HPP, eight (27.6%) suffered lethal injuries during their turbine passage, while the rest were without any visible injuries.

Laboratory examination indicated that 20 (48%) out of 42 eels that migrated through the turbine suffered fractures of the spine, 14 eels (33%) suffered injuries to their internal organs, and 18 eels (43%) had lacerations of their skin and muscles. Two eels (5%) had skull fractures. Marks from the turbine's runner (absence of scales or small scratches) were visible on 38 out of 42 eels (90.6%), but in only 22 cases (52%) were these injuries lethal.

There were no significant differences (p>0.05) in mean length, weight and FCF between eels that suffered lethal injuries (N=22; TL=67.3 \pm 7.6 cm, W=494 \pm 131 g, FCF=0.16 \pm 0.02) and those which passed through the turbine successfully (N=20; TL=64.8 \pm 4.5 cm, W=458 \pm 77, FCF=0.17 \pm 0.01).

Discussion

Results of this study support conclusions from similar studies (e.g. Hadderingh and Baker, 1998; Verbiest et al., 2012) that show the occurrence of substantial mortality among silver eels due to injury when passing through HPP. It is apparent that HPP are among the main factors liable for decline in eel stocks.

Successful eel migration through small cross-flow CINK turbines was virtually impossible with 100% mortality recorded at the Bagdononys HPP. This HPP does not have a fish ladder, thus all eels passed through the turbine suffering lethal injuries as a consequence. We conclude that cross-flow CINK turbines should be considered as the most hazardous type for migrating eels. Mortality rates of juveniles of other fish species (e.g. shad and salmonids) in cross-flow turbines has been reported to be up to 75% (Gloss and Wahl, 1983; DuBois and Gloss, 1993), but in the current study the mortality among other fish species (roach, bleak, tench) in the small cross-flow CINK turbine was estimated to be 100%.

None of 26 eels guided into the Pabradè HPP water intake pipe were recaptured below the HPP. After the field experiment was conducted, it was found out that the HPP was equipped with an additional protective screen in the water intake pipe with a bar interval of c. 10 mm. This protective screen was not included in the initial HPP construction design and could not be reasonably known in advance of this study. It presence was only discovered after the field experiment during attempts to identify reason for the 'disappearance' of all tagged eels guided into intake of the turbine. This implies that effective screening in the absence of fish ladder or other effective way for eels to bypass turbines will cause cessation of eel migration, as eels either would be impinged in the screen or unable to find a way to continue their migration. On the other hand, the experiment demonstrated effectiveness of 10 mm bar intervals in preventing eels of being drawn into turbines and suggests that screening materials of similar dimensions could be used for the constructions of bypasses to guide migrating eels away from the intakes of turbines and redirect them towards fish ladders.

Eel mortality rates in HPPs can be significantly reduced by fish ladders. A substantial proportion of eels (34%) at Valtūnai HPP migrated through the fish ladder thereby avoiding the injuries suffered by those which had passed through the Kaplan turbine. Our findings contrast with studies reporting only sporadic usage of ladders (originally designed for fish upstream migration) by eels migrating downstream (Verbiest et al., 2012; Jansen et al., 2007). Eels caught during passage via a fish ladder were significantly larger and had higher FCF in comparison with those passing directly through a turbine. This is presumably caused by protective 35 mm metallic screens at the HPP water intake zone which prevent larger eels from entering the turbine. Fish with elongated morphology tend to have higher mortality rates compared with other morphologies (e.g. salmonids) (Monten, 1985; Larinier and Travade, 2002), implying that larger eels were also expected to suffer higher mortality rates. However, there were no significant length and FCF differences between eels which suffered lethal injuries during passage through the small Kaplan turbine and those that survived. Length variation among eels which passed through the turbine was relatively small (from 57.5 to 85 cm) in our study, hence small males that usually grow up to 35 cm (Bauchot, 1986) are likely to have lower mortality rates.

According to national regulatory measures to protect fish from small hydropower plants, each small HPP in Lithuania must have turbine screening by metal grids with bar intervals <35mm, but in practice the grids are not less than 35 mm. Our results indicate that such screening is insufficient for protection of eels and approximately two thirds of eels at the Valtūnai HPP pass directly through the turbines. ICES (2007) recommends that small male silver eels require bar intervals <9mm for protection,

whereas females may be prevented from entering turbines by bar intervals <15mm. Different screens and trash racks in front of water intakes have also been known to cause damage if fish are impinged and pressed against the racks by strong water currents (Adam and Bruijs, 2006; Calles et al., 2010), however the average flow rates of Lithuanian lowland rivers are relatively slow and in conjunction with large bar intervals of ~35mm, impingement on screens should be negligible, if any. Installation of effective screens at HPP in combination with fish ladders may reduce eel mortality rates to negligible levels. However, in Lithuania only three new fish ladders were installed during past nine years which is evidently insufficient to significantly reduce eel mortality rates. If such improvements were undertaken then more water bodies may become suitable for restocking and restoration of depleted eel populations.

The majority of the 98 HPPs built on Lithuanian rivers (N=67, 68%) use Kaplan turbines, as with the rest of the Europe (Bruijs and Durif, 2009). According to the Bruijs and Durif (2009) review, eel mortality in Kaplan turbines at large (>10 MW) HPPs typically ranges from 20% to 38%, thus the results of the current study fall within an expected mortality range. Out of 21 eel which have passed Kaplan turbines in the Kaunas HPP, 5 eels (23.8%) remained stationary below HPP until the transmitter's battery expired, suggesting that the chance that they were still alive was negligible. The fate of the other 5 eels, which disappeared somewhere between the scanned sector 25 km downstream of the HPP and the Nemunas Delta remains unknown. Winter et al. (2006) and Aarestrup et al. (2010) suggest that some migrating eels cease migration for lengthy periods, thus it is likely that those eels survived. Tag induced morbidity and mortality are also considerations when tracking migrating eels. Jepsen et al. (2002) suggests that tag size should be minimized as much as possible. Cottrill et al. 2006 demonstrated that swimming capacity of silver American eels is not affected by the presence of telemetry transmitters and surgically implanting transmitters is the preferred method of affixing telemetry transmitters, especially for long-term telemetry studies. Despite the V13 acoustic tags being relatively large, we assume that they had no significant negative impact on eel swimming performance and behaviour as it was suggested by Westerberg et al. (2007) and some most recent studies (e.g. Besson et al. 2016) have tagged eels with a higher tag to body mass ratio (>2.5%).

Considerably higher mortality rate for eels passing through the Kaplan turbines installed in the Valtūnai HPP was likely caused by the smaller size of the turbine, given that turbine related mortality is expected to be decreasing with increasing size of turbine (Marmulla, 2007).

Despite eels being typically nocturnal animals (Tesch, 1977) more than half of the eels passed through the Kaunas HPP turbines during daytime. Durif (2003) suggests that eel migration during daytime is related to increased water turbidity and water flow rate. The mean depth of the Kaunas Reservoir is approximately 12 m and water turbidity is relatively high, therefore eels were exposed to a relatively dark environment even under conditions of daylight during passage through the turbines, which are located near the bottom (in ~15 m depth). This daytime behaviour was observed only in the Kaunas HPP. In the small rivers with shallow depth (Siesartis, Dubinga and Strèva) eels were captured only during night time. Previous behavioural studies (Behrmann-Godel and Eckmann, 2003; Durif et al., 2003; Gosset et al., 2005; Calles et al., 2010) suggested that HPPs and dams may have indirect

negative effect on eel migration: migrating eels often delay their passage through an obstacle and consequently their migration becomes extended. Results of the current study support this observation as 36% of eels released upstream from the Kaunas HPP also delayed passing through the turbines for periods from one to 47 days, while 16% of eels did not migrate at all. The remaining 48% of tagged eels passed turbines of Kaunas HPP within 24 hours after their release.

We conclude that all eels passing through small CINK turbines suffer lethal injuries resulting in 100% mortality, whereas Kaplan turbines cause lower mortality rates ranging from c. 24% to 52% depending upon size of the turbine. Results from this study suggest that 34% of eels migrating downstream used fish ladders, originally designed for upstream migration of salmonids. Installation of fish ladders, especially in combination with effective screening, may be an effective measure to substantially reduce mortality rates among migrating eels. The results of our study demonstrate that HPPs may significantly threaten escapement targets specified in eel management plans if re-stocking is conducted in water bodies upstream from HPPs in the absence of any mitigation.

Acknowledgements

This study was partly granted by Fisheries Service under the Ministry of Agriculture of the Republic of Lithuania. Authors are grateful to staff of Klaipėda State Sea Port Authority, Lithuanian Maritime Safety Administration, Lithuanian Inland Waterways Authority and Kaunas Hydroelectric Power plant for their help during field research. We appreciate the suggestions and comments of Dr. Niels Jepsen who helped us to substantially improve the manuscript.
References

Aarestrup, K., Thorstad, E.B., Koed, A., Svendsen, J.C., Jepsen, N., Pedersen, M.I., & Økland, F. (2010). Survival and progression rates of large European silver eel *Anguilla anguilla* in late freshwater and early marine phases. *Aquatic Biology* 9, 263–270. DOI: 10.3354/ab00260.

Adam. B., & Bruijs, M.C.M. (2006). General requirements of fish protection and downstream migration facilities. Investigations on the river Meuse system. In *Free Passage for Aquatic Fauna in Rivers and Other Water Bodies*, pp. 70-84.

Béguer-Pon, M., Castonguay, M., Benchetrit, J., Hatin, D., Verreault, G., Mailhot, Y., ... Dodson, J. (2014). Large-scale migration patterns of silver American eels from the St. Lawrence River to the Gulf of St. Lawrence using acoustic telemetry. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 71(10): 1579-1592. DOI: 10.1139/cjfas-2013-0217.

Behrmann-Godel, J., & Eckmann, R. (2003). A preliminary telemetry study of the migration of silver European eel (*Anguilla anguilla* L.) in the River Mosel, Germany. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish*, 12, 196–202. DOI:10.1034/j.1600-0633.2003.00015.x.

Besson, M.L., Trancart, T., Acou, A., Charrier, F., Mazel, V., Legault, A., Feunteun, E. (2016). Disrupted downstream migration behaviour of European silver eels (*Anguilla anguilla*, L.) in an obstructed river. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 99, 779. DOI: 10.1007/s10641-016-0522-9.

Bruijs, M.C.M., & Durif, C.M.F. (2009). Silver eel migration and behaviour. In G. Van den Thillart, S. Dufour, J.C. Rankin (Eds.), *Spawning Migration of the European Eel. Reproduction Index, a Useful Tool for Conservation Management.* (pp. 65-95). Netherlands: Springer.

Calles, O., Olsson, I.C., Comoglio, C., Kemp, P.S., Blunden, L., Schmitz, M., & Greenberg, L.A. (2010). Size-dependent mortality of migratory silver eels at a hydropower plant, and implications for escapement to the sea. *Freshwater Biology*, 55(10), 2167–2180.

Cottrill, R.A., Okland, F., Aarestrup, K., Jepsen, N, Koed, A., Hunter, K.J., ..., McKinley R.S. (2006). Evaluation of three telemetry transmitter attachment methods for female sliver-phase American eels (*Anguilla rostrata* Lesueur). *Journal of Great Lakes Research*, 32(3), 502–511.

Dekker, W. (2004). Slipping through our hands: population dynamics of the European eel. University of Amsterdam. (Doctoral dissertation).

DuBois, R.B., & Gloss, S.P. (1993). Mortality of juvenile American shad and striped bass passed through Ossberger crossflow turbines at a small scale hydroelectric site. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management*, 13, 178–185.

Durif, C., Elie, P., Gosset, C., Rives, J., & Travade, F. (2003). Behavioural study of downstream migrating eels by radio-telemetry at a small hydroelectric power plant. In D.A. Dixon (Ed.), *Biology, management and protection of catadromous eels.* (pp. 345-356). Bethesda, USA: American Fisheries Society.

Durif, C.M.F., van Ginneken, V., Dufour, S., Müller, T., & Elie, P. (2009). Seasonal evolution and individual differences in silvering eels from different locations. In G. Van den Thillart, S. Dufour, J.C. Rankin (Eds.), *Spawning Migration of the European Eel. Reproduction Index, a Useful Tool for Conservation Management.* (pp. 13-38). Netherlands: Springer.

Gloss, S.P., & Wahl, J.R. (1983). Mortality of juvenile salmonids passing through Ossberger crossflow turbines at small-scale hydroelectric sites. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, 112(2A), 194-200.

Gosset, C., Travade, F., Durif, C., Rives, J., & Elie, P. (2005). Tests of two types of bypass for downstream migration of eels at a small hydroelectric power plant. *River Research and Applications*, 21, 1095–1105. DOI: 10.1002/rra.871.

Hadderingh, R.H., & Baker, H.D. (1998). Fish mortality due to passage through hydroelectric power stations on the Meuse and Vecht rivers. In M. Jungwirth, S. Schmutz, S. Weis (Eds.), Fish Migration and Fish Bypasses (pp. 315–328). Oxford, UK: Fishing News Books.

Heupel, M.R., Semmens, J.M., & Hobday, A.J. (2007). Automatic acoustic tracking of aquatic animals: scales, design and deployment of listening station arrays. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 57(1), 1-13.

ICES (2006). Report of the 2006 Session of the Joint EIFAC/ICES Working Group on Eels. Rome, Italy.

ICES (2007). Report of the 2007 Session of the Joint EIFAC/ICES Working Group on Eels. Bordeaux, France.

Jansen, H.M., Winter, H.V., Bruijs, M.C.M., & Polman, H.J.G. (2007). Just go with the flow? Route selection and mortality during downstream migration of silver eels in relation to river discharge. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 64(7), 1437–1443. DOI: 10.1093/icesjms/fsm132.

Jepsen, N., Koed, A., Thorstad, E.B., & Baras, E. (2002). Surgical implanting of telemetry transmitters in fish. How much have we learned? *Hydrobiologia*, 483, 239-248. DOI: 10.1023/A:1021356302311.

Larinier. M., & Travade, F. (2002). Downstream migration: problems and facilities. *Bulletin français de la pêche et de la protection des milieux aquatiques*, 364: 181–210.

Lithuanian hydropower association. (2011). Hydropower in Lithuania.

Ložys, L., Repečka, R., Pūtys, Ž., & Gurjanovaitė, K. (2008). Scientific justification of European eel (*Anguilla anguilla*) management plan. (In Lithuanian). Vilnius.

Marmulla, G. (2001). Dams, fish and fisheries. Opportunities, challenges and conflict resolution. Rome: FAO Fisheries Technical Paper.

Moller, H. (2016). Hydropower continues steady growth. Earth Policy Institute. 01 Sept 2016. Available from: http://www.earth-policy.org/data_highlights/2012/highlights29.

Monten, E. (1985). Fish and turbines. Fish injury during passage through power station turbines. Stockholm: Norstedts Tryckeri.

Oliveira, E., & Pressiat, F. (2011). In situ evaluation of eel mortality in large turbines. In P. Baran & L. Basilico (Eds.), *Management plan to save the eel. Optimising the design and management of installation* (pp. 111-114). Paris, France.

Pedersen, M.I., Jepsen, N., Aarestrup, K., Koed, A., Pedersen, S., & Okland, F. Loss of European silver eel passing a hydropower station. *Journal of Applied Ichthyology*, 28, 189–193. DOI: 10.1111/j.1439-0426.2011.01913.x.

Ricker, W.E. (1975). Computation and interpretation of biological statistics of fish populations. *Bulletin of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada*, 191: 1-382.

Tesch, F.W. (1977). The eel: biology and management of anguillids eels. New York: John Wiley & Sons.

Verbiest, H., Breukelaar, A.W., Ovidio, M.,& Belpaire, C. (2012). Escapement success and patterns of downstream migration of female silver eel *Anguilla anguilla* in the River Meuse. *Ecology of Freshwater Fishes*, 21: 395–403. DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-0633.2012.00559.x

Voigtländer, P., Gattinger, M. (1999). Potentiale: Wasserkraft. In H. Brauch, G. Czisch, G. Knies, (Eds.), *Regenerativer Strom für Europa durch Fernübertragung elektrischer Energie* (pp. 15-25). Moosbach: AFES-Press.

Westerberg, H., Lagenfelt, I., & Svedäng, H. (2007). Silver eel migration behaviour in the Baltic. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 64(7), 1457-1462. doi: 10.1093/icesjms/fsm079.

Winter, H.V., Jansen, H.M., & Bruijs, M.C.M. (2006). Assessing the impact of hydropower and fisheries on downstream migrating silver eel, *Anguilla anguilla*, by telemetry in the River Meuse. *Ecology of Freshwater Fishes*, 15: 221–228. DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-0633.2006.00154.x

Winter, H.V., Jansen, H.M., Adam, B., & Schwevers, U. (2005). Behavioural effects of surgically implanting transponders in European eel. *Anguilla anguilla*. In M.T. Spedicato, G. Marmulla, & G. Lembo (Eds.), *Aquatic telemetry: advances and applications* (pp. 1–9). Rome: FAO/COISPA.

Wirth, T., & Bernatchez, L. (2003). Decline of North Atlantic eels: a fatal synergy? Proceedings of the Royal Society B. Biological Sciences, 270: 681–688.

III.

 Received: 28 February 2017
 Accepted: 30 May 2017

 DOI: 10.1111/jai.13426
 Image: Content of the second seco

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

WILEY Applied Ichthyology DWK

Silver eel, Anguilla anguilla (Linnaeus, 1758), migration patterns in lowland rivers and lagoons in the North-Eastern region of their distribution range

J. Dainys¹ | S. Stakėnas² | H. Gorfine³ | L. Ložys¹

¹Nature Research Centre, Laboratory of Marine Ecology, Vilnius, Lithuania ²Nature Research Centre, Laboratory of

Ecology and Physiology of Hydrobionts, Vilnius, Lithuania

³School of BioSciences, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, Vic., Australia

Correspondence

Justas Dainys, Laboratory of Marine Ecology, Nature Research Centre, Vilnius, Lithuania. Email: dainys@ekoi.lt

Funding information

Fisheries Service under the Ministry of Agriculture of the Republic of Lithuania

Summary

Escapement success and migration patterns of silver eels *Anguilla anguilla* (L.) was studied by acoustic telemetry in three natural free-flowing and one dammed river and in Curonian Lagoon in Lithuania. Mean downstream migration speed and escapement success were almost the same in the shorter 210 km dammed river (52%, 13.6 km/day) and the considerably longer 300–480 km free-flowing rivers (53%, 10.7 km/day). Despite the similarity between migration speed in the Curonian Lagoon (14.6 km/day) to that in rivers, migration success was significantly higher (71%) in the Lagoon. Although a majority of silver eels in Lithuania start migrating downstream in spring, the peak of eel migration into the Baltic Sea was observed during late fall. Overall migration success in the rivers and the Lagoon was 35%. Relatively low escapement may have negative consequences on the success on eel stock restoration and must be addressed when strategically planning for the production of spawners.

1 | INTRODUCTION

Since the 1970s, recruitment of the European eel (Anguilla anguilla L.) has declined over 90% due to various causes, such as migration barriers, habitat destruction and pollution, fisheries, diseases and parasites (Dekker & Casselman, 2014). Previous studies (Aarestrup et al., 2010; Bruijs & Durif, 2009; Winter, Jansen, & Bruijs, 2006) demonstrated that substantial mortality during downstream migration could dramatically reduce the number of silver eels. The main causes of this mortality are fishing and lethal injuries from passage through the turbines of hydropower plants (HPP) (Winter et al., 2006).

The practice of stocking eels in Lithuania has endured for decades, but eels were originally released to bolster commercial or recreational fisheries without aiming to facilitate migration to increase spawning. Eels were often stocked above HPP or dams thereby incurring substantial mortalities (Winter et al., 2006) and disruption of migration (Legault, Acou, Guillouet, & Feunteun, 2003). Despite the 98 HPPs and 1,025 dams constructed in Lithuania, the main eel migration routes to the Baltic Sea are along free flowing rivers or river sections of up to c. 600 km (Ložys, Repečka, Pūtys, & Gurjanovaitė, 2008). Despite numerous studies about eel mortality arising from passage through HPPs, there are scant data available on eel escapement success or downstream migration speed within free flowing rivers (e.g., Bultel et al., 2014; Simon, Berends, Dörner, Jepsen, & Fladung, 2011; Stein et al., 2016) and lagoons (e.g., Amilhat, Farrugio, Lecomte-Finiger, Simon, & Sasal, 2008; Charrier et al., 2012). Lithuania's free flowing lowland rivers differ in terms of hydrological conditions (40% of discharge comes from melted snow, 35% from ground water and only 25% from rain), temperature (2-3 months per year rivers are covered with ice); degree of regulation (most large rivers are natural and historically were not regulated); and flow regime (in spring due to melting snow discharge, flows are 2-3 times higher than in other seasons) compared to Western Europe (Gailiušis, Jablonskis, & Kovalenkovienė, 2001). In the context of concerted international efforts to restore eel stocks, it is therefore also important to determine the main patterns of silver eel migration in the rivers of North Eastern Europe.

The objective of this study was to assess overall escapement success and migration patterns of silver eels migrating through natural free-flowing and dammed rivers in Lithuania, prior to escaping to the Baltic Sea via the Curonian Lagoon.

wileyonlinelibrary.com/journal/jai

2 | MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 | Study area

Eel migration was studied in four rivers: the Neris, Siesartis and Žeimena in which they could migrate freely downstream, and the Nemunas in which eels had to pass through a HPP.

The Kaunas HPP with its four low head Kaplan turbines is built on Nemunas River (Figure 1), c. 223 km from the Curonian Lagoon and c. 290 km from Baltic Sea. The height of the dam is 24.6 m, water head 15 m, installed power 100.8 MW with maximum flow of 760 m³/s (Lithuanian Hydropower Association, 2011). The dam creates the 63.5 km^2 Kaunas Water Reservoir. There are no other migration barriers or regulating structures which impede river flow between the Kaunas HPP and the Baltic Sea.

The Neris River (Figure 1) is a tributary of the Nemunas River, and besides the Vileika HPP upstream in Belarus, there are no other migration barriers or other flow regulating structures on the river in Lithuanian territory.

The Siesartis River is dammed by one HPP with a pool and weir type fish ladder installed 11 km upstream from the river mouth, but

eels were released below this HPP. The Žeimena River (Figure 1) is free-flowing throughout its entire length. The main morphological and hydrological parameters for each of these rivers are presented in Table 1.

The non-tidal Curonian Lagoon is a shallow semi-enclosed water body covering 1,584 km² adjacent to the South Eastern rim of the Baltic Sea (Figure 1). The southern and central regions of the Lagoon are freshwater while the northern part is oligohaline with irregular salinity fluctuations up to 8 ppt (Zettler & Daunys, 2007). The Nemunas River provides the main water inflow into the Lagoon, which discharges to the Sea through Klaipėda Strait.

2.2 | Eel tagging

A total of 63 silver eels were caught in four rivers in Eastern Lithuania during their spawning migrations using fyke nets of 16–20 mm mesh size and tagged with Vemco acoustic tags in spring and autumn 2014 (Table 2). Prior to tag implantation, weight, total length, eye diameter, length and height of pectoral fin were measured. The silvering index, based on total body length, body weight, pectoral fin length and mean eye diameter, was determined as described by Durif, van



FIGURE 1 Eel release sites in Nemunas, Neris, Žeimena and Siesartis Rivers; the location of Kaunas and Valtūnai HPPs; and the location of acoustic receivers installed in the Nemunas Delta and Klaipėda Strait (four at each location)

DAINYS ET AL.

TABLE 1 Main parameters of the rivers into which tagged eels were released

| | | | | Rain ever | nts in the release site | Annual rainfall (mm) in the release site | |
|-----------|------------|------------------------------------|--|-----------|------------------------------------|--|---------------------------------------|
| River | Length, km | Catchment area, km ² | Mean annual flow, m ³ /s | 2014 | Multiannual average (1981–2010) | 2014 | Multiannual average (1981–2010) |
| Nemunas | 937 | 98,200 | 375 | 154 | 180 | 641 | 637 |
| Neris | 510 | 25,100 | 180 | 166 | 175 | 613 | 685 |
| Žeimena | 80 | 2,793 | 27 | 176 | 175 | 713 | 754 |
| Siesartis | 64 | 616 | 5 | 158 | 176 | 647 | 659 |

TABLE 2 Morphological parameters of tagged eels, river slope and the distance of migration route from the release site to the Baltic Sea

| Eel catch/ release site | Date | N | Length ± SD, cm | Weight ± SD, g | K ± SD | Silvering stage | River slope | Distance to the BS, km |
|----------------------------|------------|----|-----------------|----------------|------------------|-----------------|-------------|---------------------------|
| Siesartis | 20/05/2014 | 7 | 76.6 ± 9.4 | 835 ± 279 | 0.18 ± 0.01 | FIV; FV; MII | 0.21 | 366.9 |
| Žeimena, I | 21/05/2014 | 8 | 70.9 ± 3.3 | 636 ± 106 | 0.18 ± 0.02 | FV FV; MII | 0.27 | 549.7 |
| | 22/05/2014 | 2 | 61 ± 10.0 | 462 ± 235 | 0.19 ± 0.008 | FV; MII | 0.27 | 549.7 |
| | 28/05/2014 | 8 | 70.3 ± 8.4 | 686.9 ± 272 | 0.19 ± 0.03 | | 0.27 | 549.7 |
| Žeimena, II | 22/05/2014 | 2 | 72.0 ± 2.8 | 696 ± 33 | 0.19 ± 0.01 | FV | 0.27 | 499 |
| Žeimena, III | 02/06/2014 | 7 | 69.7 ± 5.9 | 608 ± 200 | 0.17 ± 0.02 | FV | 0.25 | 482.8 |
| Neris | 29/05/2014 | 4 | 73.2 ± 4.9 | 719 ± 130 | 0.18 ± 0.03 | FV | 0.24 | 434.4 |
| Nemunas | 30/05/2014 | 13 | 79.6 ± 8.9 | 1,045 ± 462 | 0.2 ± 0.03 | FIV; FV | 0.1 | 278 |
| (Kaunas water | 13/06/2014 | 3 | 79.5 ± 4.8 | 892 ± 167 | 0.18 ± 0.003 | FV FIV; FV | 0.1 | 278 |
| reservoir) | 07/10/2014 | 9 | 70.0 ± 8.6 | 686 ± 248 | 0.19 ± 0.03 | | 0.1 | 278 |

Ginneken, Dufour, Müller, and Elie (2009). All silver eels >55 cm were considered to be females (Tesch, 2003). Prior to surgery eels were anaesthetised with 2-phenoxy ethanol (0.8 ml/L) for 8-10 min. An incision c. 12-15 mm for V9 tags (weight 4.7 g in air, length 29 mm, estimated tag life 159 days, emission delay for first 45 days 20-50 s, later 30-60 s) or c. 18-22 mm for V13 tags (weight 11 g in air, length 36 mm, estimated tag life 262 days, emission delay first 45 days 20-50 s, later 40-100 s) was made on the mid-ventral line, in the posterior quarter of the body cavity. The transmitter was inserted into the intra-peritoneal cavity cranially and positioned 3-4 cm forward of the incision by using a plastic plunger. V9 tags were used to tag eels up to 550 g, while V13 tags were used for tagging eels over 550 g. Transmitter implantation was not expected to affect eel behaviour or cause mortality in this study, as eels were successfully tagged with these transmitters in several other studies (e.g., Simon et al., 2011; Westerberg, Lagenfelt, & Svedäng, 2007). The surgery took 5-6 min to complete. The wound was sutured with 4/0 Vicryl®Polyglactin soluble surgical thread and treated with antiseptic Methylrosanilinni chloridum 2% solution. After the surgery eels were transferred to special cages in the site of intended release, where recovery from anaesthesia lasted 30 min (Table 2).

All eels were released in their place of capture (Table 2 and Figure 1) except for those (N = 25) released upstream of the Kaunas

HPP (eels were caught in a tributary of the Nemunas River c. 60 km upstream HPP).

2.3 | Installation of receivers

Four Vemco VR2W receivers were installed in the vicinity of the Kaunas HPP water intake to detect eels entering turbines and four receivers were installed just below the Kaunas HPP to detect those eels that had passed through. To detect eels that successfully migrated downstream, four receivers were installed on navigational buoys in the Nemunas Delta and four in the Klaipėda Strait (Figure 1).

Range tests were performed at each detection station to ensure complete coverage of the area. All eels that were detected were registered by all receivers deployed along their migration route, hence it is a reasonable assumption that all tagged eels passing within the range of a detection station during the study period would have been recorded.

To locate missing eels, downstream of the eel release sites in the Neris, Žeimena and Siesartis Rivers and a 25 km section of the Nemunas River below the Kaunas HPP were scanned 2 months before the end of the estimated duration of transmitter batteries, with VR2W receivers installed on a boat drifting downstream. In addition, Žeimenys Lake was scanned in case tagged eels had migrated upstream from the Žeimena River.

DAINYS ET AL.

 4
 WILEY
 Migration success and long term migration speed (V_{long}) of eels in free flowing and dammed rivers and Curonian Lagoon

| Release site (River) | N | Detected in the Nemunas Delta, N (%) | Mean V _{long} in riv- ers ± SD, km/day | Detected in the Klaipėda Strait, N (%) | Mean V _{long} in the Curonian Lagoon ± SD, km/day |
|---------------------------------|---------|---|--|---|---|
| Siesartis | 7 | 3 (42.9) | 13.1 ± 12.3 | 2 (28.6) | 49.9 ± 23.5 |
| Žeimena | 27 | 13 (48.1) | 8.2 ± 5.5 | 6 (22.2) | 10.0 ± 12.8 |
| Neris | 4 | 4 (100) | 16.7 ± 20.4 | 3 (75) | 17.5 ± 14.1 |
| Total (free- flowing rivers) | 38 | 20 (52.6) | 10.7 ± 10.7 | 11 (29.0) | 19.3 ± 20.4 |
| Nemunas (dammed river) | 25 (21) | 11 (52.4) | 13.6 ± 12.0 | 10 (40) | 9.3 ± 10.7 |

2.4 | Data analysis

Migration success (MS, %) of the tagged eels was calculated according to the formula:

 $MS = 100 - (100 \times (N_t - N) \div N_t)$

where: N-number of tagged eels detected by acoustic receivers (in the Nemunas Delta and/or Klaipėda Strait); N_t-number of all tagged eels. MS for eels released upstream the Kaunas HPP was calculated only for eels which had passed the HPP. The fate of eels not registered in the Nemunas Delta or Klaipėda Strait remains unknown; these eels were omitted from analysis of migration speed.

The speed of long term downstream migration (V_{long}) was calculated as time spent to cover the distance between the release site and the receivers installed in the Nemunas Delta or in the Klaipėda Strait and expressed as km/day. The speed of transient migration (V_{tran}) was calculated in the Nemunas Delta and Klaipėda Strait as the time lag between the first detection of a tag by the first and last receivers (5 km distance in the Nemunas River and 4.6 km in the Klaipėda Strait). Fulton's condition factor (*K*) representing the condition of the eel was calculated as described by Ricker (1975). River slopes between eel release sites and the Lagoon were taken from the Lithuanian rivers dataset (Jablonskis, 1962).

Data for eel migration speed, *K* and the distance between the release site and the Baltic Sea were not normally distributed (Shapiro-Wilk's *W* tests, p < .05), the non-parametric Mann–Whitney test was used to test for differences in parameters between the eels released in to dammed and free-flowing rivers. Simple linear regression was used to test the effect of distance of release site from the sea, eel length, river slope and *K* on the speed of downstream migration. Fisher's exact test was used to test eel MS differences between dammed, freeflowing rivers and the Curonian Lagoon.

3 | RESULTS

Mean length ranged between 94 and 51 cm, among the 63 eels that were released into four different rivers (Table 2). Mean weight of these eels ranged between 224 and 1,847 g, and mean K between 0.12 and 0.24. Three of these eels were determined to be males at

silvering stage MII, 10 eels were females at silvering stage FIV, and the remaining 50 eels were females at silvering stage FV (Table 2).

3.1 | Migration in free flowing rivers

Eighteen out of the 38 silver eels released into free-flowing rivers of Eastern Lithuania during May–June 2014 were never detected post-release, consequently their fate is unknown. The remaining 20 eels successfully migrated downstream and reached the Nemunas Delta; MS = 52.6% (Table 3). Mean V_{long} (±*SD*) of these eels was 10.7 ± 10.7 km/day (range 2.6–46.0 km/day). Migration lasted 77 ± 47.4 days on average (range 8–151 days) to reach the Curonian Lagoon after release.

There were no significant differences (p > .05) in mean length, K and the distance from the release site to the Baltic Sea between eels released to free-flowing rivers that reached the Nemunas Delta and those which apparently did not.

3.2 | Migration in dammed river

Out of 25 eels released upstream of the Kaunas HPP, 21 (84%) moved downstream through the turbines and were detected below the HPP. Twelve eels migrated within 24 hr after release, while nine eels delayed passing through by one to 47 days. Four tagged eels did not migrate downstream and stayed in the Kaunas Reservoir until at least when the transmitter battery became discharged. Their fate remains unknown. Absence of a fish ladder at HPP means that all eels must pass directly through the turbines. Out of the 21 eels which migrated through the HPP, 11 were detected in the Nemunas Delta (MS = 52.4%) (Table 3). Mean V_{long} (±*SD*) of these eels was 13.6 ± 12.0 km/day (range 1.5–35.3 km/day). Migration lasted 59 ± 66.7 days on average (range 6–144 days) to reach the Curonian Lagoon after the release.

There was no significant difference (p > .05) between the V_{long} of eels released in free-flowing and dammed rivers.

3.3 | Migration within the Nemunas Delta

In the rivers of Eastern Lithuania, most of the tagged eels (N = 54, 86%) were released during late May-early June and nine eels (14%) were released in September. Thirty-one eels (49.2% of all eels released) were detected migrating through the Nemunas River Delta:

one eel (3%) arrived in May, five eels (16%) were detected in June, eight (26%) in July and one (3%) in September. The majority (N = 15, 49%) were detected in October and the one remaining (3%) was detected in November.

 $V_{\rm tran}$, estimated within the Nemunas Delta was 67.2 ± 39.9 km/ day (range-from 1 to 124 km/day) which was significantly (p < .05) higher compared to $V_{\rm long}$ in rivers.

Most (N = 22; 71%) eels in the Nemunas Delta were actively migrating between 1 hr after sunset and 4 hr before sunrise. Nevertheless, seven (22.5%) eels migrated within a few hours before sunset or after sunrise; and the remaining two eels (6.5%) were detected migrating around midday.

Scanning in smaller rivers (Neris, Žeimena and Siesartis), adjacent lake and section of Nemunas River below the Kaunas HPP did not result in detection of any eels, so the fate of 32 tagged eels (50.8%) remains unknown.

3.4 | Migration in the Curonian Lagoon and Klaipėda Strait

Out of 31 eels, which were detected entering the Curonian Lagoon, at least four (13%) were caught in fyke nets by fishermen. Until the end of transmitter battery operation, 22 eels (MS = 71%) were detected in Klaipéda Strait prior to entering the Baltic Sea, while the fate of the remaining 5 eels (16%) remains unknown. The mean V_{long} in the Lagoon was estimated to be 14.6 ± 16.9 km/day (range 0.5–66.5 km/day). V_{long} (in the rivers, in the Lagoon and total [rivers + lagoon]) was not significantly correlated with distance of the release site from the Baltic Sea, river slope, TL or K. Also, there was no significant difference (p > .05) between the mean V_{long} in rivers (11.6 ± 11.1 km/day) and the Curonian Lagoon (14.6 ± 16.9 km/day).

The V_{tran}, estimated in the Klaipėda Strait was 35.6 ± 25.8 km/day (range from 0.4 to 78.8 km/day). There is no significant differences (*p* > .05) between mean V_{tran} in the Nemunas delta and in the Strait, however V_{tran} was significantly (*p* < .05) higher compared to V_{long} in rivers and in the Lagoon.

The peak period of eels entering the Baltic Sea was observed during late fall: 18 eels (82%) were detected in the Klaipėda Strait during October-November while the remaining four eels were detected once each in June, July, December and January, respectively.

4 | DISCUSSION

Migration successes and mean migration speed among silver eels performing downstream migrations in free-flowing and dammed rivers was found to be similar. Eel migration speed estimated during the current study was considerably lower compared to those reported elsewhere. Previously reported migration rates in regulated rivers have been highly variable, ranging between 17.3 (Klein Breteler et al., 2007), 29.4 (Breukelaar et al., 2009), 53 (Verbiest, Breukelaar, Ovidio, & Belpaire, 2012) and 64.8–93.6 km/day (Tesch, 1994). Data on eel migration speeds in free flowing rivers are scarce, but Simon Applied Ichthyology

et al. (2011) reported mean migration speeds for different eel groups that varied between c. 5 and 70 km/day, while Bultel et al. (2014) reported a mean migration speed of 4.5 km/day. Prior to entering the Baltic Sea, eels pass through the highly eutrophic Curonian Lagoon. The V_{long} in the Lagoon was slightly faster when compared with migration speeds in rivers, but these differences were not statistically significant (p > .05). Speed of downstream migration was independent of eel body length in rivers and in the Lagoon, consistent with results reported by Haraldstad, Vøllestad, and Jonsson (1985), but in contrast with the conclusion of Bultel et al. (2014) that migration speed was correlated with total length and body weight. The lower migration speeds observed in the current study might be related to seasonal differences among eel spawning migrations. Downstream runs of silver eels in Western Europe typically start in autumn (Bruijs & Durif, 2009), yet along the South-Eastern Baltic coast, most intense spawning migrations start in early March and last until late May (Ložys et al., 2008). The earlier commencement of downstream migration has led to an assumption that eels enter the sea earlier as a consequence, but the results from the current study demonstrated that a majority of migrating eels caught in streams during spring did not enter the Baltic Sea until late autumn (October-November). It was suggested that spawners start their migrations from distant areas (e.g., Lithuania) earlier (in spring) (Bruijs & Durif, 2009). In contrast, more recently Righton et al. (2016) demonstrated that "the timing of autumn escapement and the rate of migration are inconsistent with the century-long held assumption that eels spawn as a single reproductive cohort in the spring time following their escapement from European waterways. They suggested that European eels adopt a mixed migratory strategy, with some individuals able to achieve a rapid migration, whereas others arrive only in time for the following spawning season". This may well explain the large differences in the speed of downsream migration observed during the current study where eels were migrating within a range of 1.5-46.0 km/day. Slow migration speed during the continental migration phase suggests that eel migration in this study was accompanied by long pauses. This is possibly due to longer stopovers for feeding (some eels at silvering stages SFV and SFIV were found to be feeding during downstream migrations (J. Dainys, unpubl. data; Westin, 2003)) and as suggested by Durif, Dufour, and Elie (2005) unfavourable weather conditions for migration in summer (e.g., calm weather, reduced flow velocity) might substantially reduce the rate of eel migration. In line with previous observations (Lowe, 1952) increased migration activity in the current study was observed during less-illuminated phases of the lunar cycle-most of the eels (81%) actively migrated during first and third quarter of the moon, whereas only 13% and 6% were recorded during the new and full moon, respectively. However, some recent studies have reported lunar phase had no significant influence on eel migration (Reckordt, Ubl, Wagner, Frankowski, & Dorow, 2014). Stein et al. (2016) reported that eels tagged in upstream river reaches were less likely to complete their migration and tended to dwell longer in the river system than eels that were tagged in the lower reaches. In contrast the current study showed no effect of eel release site or river slope on either migration speed or migration success. Moreover, previous studies (e.g., Aarestrup et al., 2008; Simon et al., 2011) have

DAINYS ET AL.

6 WILEY Applied Ichthyology

also demonstrated that some eels suspend their autumn migration to resume it during the following spring or autumn and in this way take more than a year to reach the outlet of even smaller rivers, or sometimes even revert from silver to yellow eel stage and cease migration (Durif et al., 2005; Stein et al., 2016; Svedäng & Wickström, 1997). It follows that overall downstream migration success is likely to be higher than was observed if some eels resumed their downstream migration after their tag transmitter batteries had discharged.

Previous behavioural studies (Boubée & Williams, 2006; Calles et al., 2010; Durif, Elie, Gosset, Rives, & Travade, 2003; Pedersen et al., 2012) suggested that HPPs and dams may have indirect negative effects on eel migration: eels often delay their passage through an obstruction and consequently their migration period becomes extended. Results of the current study partly support this observation as 36% of eels released upstream from the Kaunas HPP also delayed passing through the turbines for periods from one to 47 days, while 16% of eels did not migrate at all. The remaining eels passed through the turbines of the Kaunas HPP within 24 hr after their release. After the eels passed through the HPP only five transmitters (23.8%) were detected as stationary in the proximity of the Kaunas HPP within the period until the transmitter battery was exhausted (these eels presumably suffered lethal injuries), while more than half of all eels (52.4%) that passed through the turbines of Kaunas HPP were detected in the Nemunas Delta. The fate of the five eels (23.8%) remains unknown.

During downstream migration no eels were exposed to commercial fishing (except in the Lagoon) because they were released downstream of licensed fishing sites. The impacts of predation, recreational angling, poaching or other sources of mortality are nevertheless unknown. Scanning with boat-based receivers in the rivers, an adjacent lake, and the section of Nemunas River below the Kaunas HPP did not result in detection of any eels. Presumably the missing eels were either caught by anglers or predators and their tags were taken away from the river, or the eels stayed somewhere in the Nemunas River below the scanned reaches, or perhaps entered small tributaries of the main rivers and were missed during active scanning.

After downstream migration 31 eels entered the Curonian Lagoon. Despite fishing and predation pressure in the Curonian Lagoon being markedly higher (Pūtys, 2012) compared to rivers, the migration distance in the Lagoon was substantially shorter (c. 50 km) and the success rate of migration through the Lagoon was considerably higher. Relatively high migration success in the Lagoon might also be explained by eels reaching the Lagoon at the end of the continental migration phase and, as suggested by Righton et al. (2016), had adopted a rapid migratory strategy, such that most of these eels (N = 22) did not cease their migration through the Lagoon. Migration strategies of the four eels caught by fishermen and the five eels whose fate is unknown (they might also have been caught but not reported) remain unclear.

In line with previous findings of Brown, Haro, and Castro-Santos (2009) more than two-thirds of all eels actively migrated through the Nemunas River Delta during the night time—between 1 hr after sunset and 4 hr before dawn. However, some eels were detected migrating during the daytime or even at midday, especially in the Klaipėda Strait. Vøllestad and Jonsson (1986) and Durif (2003) suggested that eel migration during the daytime is related to increased water turbidity and rate of water flow. Water turbidity in the Curonian Lagoon is generally very high and the depth of Klaipėda Strait is c. 15 m, leading to presumed low illuminance conditions at the bottom, which might explain why 10 out of 22 eels migrating through the Lagoon to the Sea emigrated during the daytime. Eels entered the Baltic Sea when the water temperature was 5.1–10.1°C, which is within the optimal range reported for eel migrations (Vøllestad & Jonsson, 1986).

Overall migration success in the current study was 35%, but actual escapement success might be higher, because some tagged eels were never detected after release yet might have reached the Baltic Sea after their transmitter batteries had expired. Our results are consistent with those previously reported for eel migration success rates in regulated rivers, which are highly variable ranging from 10% to 37% (Marohn, Prigge, & Hanel, 2014; Verbiest et al., 2012; Winter et al., 2006). Eel migration success beyond their entry into the Baltic Sea remains unknown. This study highlights that production of spawners for any stock restoration endeavours needs to be calculated with caution by estimating not only impact of HPP but also other possible sources of mortality.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was granted by Fisheries Service under the Ministry of Agriculture of the Republic of Lithuania. Authors are grateful to staff of Klaipėda State Sea Port Authority, Lithuanian Maritime Safety Administration, Lithuanian Inland Waterways Authority and Kaunas Hydropower plant for their help during field research.

REFERENCES

- Aarestrup, K., Thorstad, E. B., Koed, A., Jepsen, N., Svendsen, J. C., Pedersen, M. I., ... Økland, F. (2008). Survival and behaviour of European silver eel in late freshwater and early marine phase during spring migration. *Fisheries Management and Ecology*, 15, 435–440.
- Aarestrup, K., Thorstad, E. B., Koed, A., Svendsen, J. C., Jepsen, N., Pedersen, M. I., & Økland, F. (2010). Survival and progression rates of large European silver eel Anguilla anguilla in late freshwater and early marine phases. Aquatic Biology, 9, 263–270.
- Amilhat, E., Farrugio, H., Lecomte-Finiger, R., Simon, G., & Sasal, P. (2008). Silver eel population size and escapement in a Mediterranean lagoon: Bages-Sigean, France. *Knowledge and Management of Aquatic Ecosystems*, 5, 390–391.
- Boubée, J., & Williams, E. K. (2006). Downstream passage of silver eels at a small hydroelectric facility. Fisheries Management and Ecology, 13, 165–176.
- Breukelaar, A. W., Ingendahl, D., Vriese, F. T., de Laak, G., Staas, S., & Klein Breteler, J. G. (2009). Route choices, migration speeds and daily migration activity of European silver eels *Anguilla anguilla* in the River Rhine, north-west Europe. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 74, 2139–2157.
- Brown, L. S., Haro, A., & Castro-Santos, T. (2009). Three-dimensional movements of silver-phase American eels in the forebay of a small hydroelectric facility. In J. M. Casselman & D. K. Cairns (Eds.), *Eels at the edge: Science, status and conservation concerns* (pp. 277–291). Bethesda, MD: American Fisheries Society Symposium.
- Bruijs, M. C. M., & Durif, C. M. F. (2009). Silver eel migration and behaviour. In G. Van den Thillart, S. Dufour, & J. C. Rankin (Eds), Spawning migration of the European eel. Reproduction index, a useful tool for conservation management (pp. 65–95). New York, NY: Springer.

- Bultel, E., Lasne, E., Acou, A., Guillaudeau, J., Bertier, C., & Feunteun, E. (2014). Migration behaviour of silver eels (Anguilla anguilla) in a large estuary of Western Europe inferred from acoustic telemetry. *Estuarine*, *Coastal and Shelf Science*, 137, 23–31.
- Calles, O., Olsson, I. C., Comoglio, C., Kemp, P. S., Blunden, L., Schmitz, M., & Greenberg, L. A. (2010). Size-dependent mortality of migratory silver eels at a hydropower plant, and implications for escapement to the sea. *Freshwater Biology*, 55, 2167–2180.
- Charrier, F., Mazel, V., Caraguel, J. M., Abdallah, Y., Le Gurun, L. L., Legault, A., & Laffaille, P. (2012). Escapement of silver-phase European eels, Anguilla anguilla, determined from fishing activities in a Mediterranean lagoon (Or, France). ICES Journal of Marine Science, 69, 30–33.
- Dekker, W., & Casselman, J. M. (2014). The 2003 Québec Declaration of Concern about eel declines – 11 years later: Are eels climbing back up the slippery slope? *Fisheries*, 39, 613–614.
- Durif, C. (2003). The downstream migration of the European eel, Anguilla anguilla: characterization of migrating silver eels, migration phenomenon, and obstacle avoidance. PhD thesis, University of Toulouse.
- Durif, C., Dufour, S., & Elie, P. (2005). The silvering process of the European eel: A new classification from the yellow resident stage to the silver migrating stage. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 66, 1025–1043.
- Durif, C., Elie, P., Gosset, C., Rives, J., & Travade, F. (2003). Behavioural study of downstream migrating eels by radio-telemetry at a small hydroelectric power plant. In D. A. Dixon (Ed.), *Biology, management and protection of catadromous eels* (pp. 345–356). Bethesda, MD: American Fisheries Society.
- Durif, C. M. F., van Ginneken, V., Dufour, S., Müller, T., & Elie, P. (2009). Seasonal evolution and individual differences in silvering eels from different locations. In G. Van den Thillart, S. Dufour, & J. C. Rankin (Eds), Spawning migration of the European eel. Reproduction index, a useful tool for conservation management (pp. 13–38). New York, NY: Springer.
- Gailiušis, B., Jablonskis, J., & Kovalenkovienė, M. (2001). Lithuanian rivers. Hydrography and runoff. Kaunas: Lithuanian Energy Institute. (In Lithuanian).
- Haraldstad, Ø., Vøllestad, L. A., & Jonsson, B. (1985). Descent of European silver eels, Anguilla anguilla L., in a Norwegian watercourse. Journal of Fish Biology, 26, 37–41.
- Jablonskis, J. (1962). Lithuanian rivers dataset. Part 3: 6, cadastral graphics. Vilnius, LT: State Political and Scientific Literature Publishing. (In Lithuanian).
- Klein Breteler, J., Vriese, T., Borcherding, J., Breukelaar, A., Jörgensen, L., Staas, S., ... Ingendahl, D. (2007). Assessment of population size and migration routes of silver eel in the River Rhine based on a 2-year combined mark-recapture and telemetry study. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 64, 1–7.
- Legault, A., Acou, A., Guillouet, J., & Feunteun, E. (2003). Survey of downstream migration of silver eels through discharge pipe on a reservoir dam. Bulletin français de la pêche et de la protection des milieux aquatiques, 368, 43–54.
- Lithuanian Hydropower Association. (2011). Hydropower in Lithuania. Kaunas, LT: Hydropower Association.
- Lowe, R. H. (1952). The influence of light and other factors on the seaward migration of the silver eel (Anguilla anguilla L.). Journal of Animal Ecology, 21, 275–309.
- Ložys, L., Repečka, R., Pūtys, Ž., & Gurjanovaitė, K. (2008). Scientific justification of European eel (Anguilla anguilla) management plan. Vilnius: Lithuanian Society of Hydrobiologists. (In Lithuanian).
- Marohn, L., Prigge, E., & Hanel, R. (2014). Escapement success of silver eels from a German river system is low compared to management-based estimates. *Freshwater Biology*, 59, 64–72.

Pedersen, M. I., Jepsen, N., Aarestrup, K., Koed, A., Pedersen, S., & Okland, F. (2012). Loss of European silver eel passing a hydropower station. *Journal of Applied Ichthyology*, 28, 189–193.

- Pūtys, Ž. (2012). Great Cormorant Phalacrocorax carbo sinensis diet and its effect on the fish populations and their community in the eutrophic Curonian Lagoon ecosystem. PhD thesis, Vilnius University.
- Reckordt, M., Ubl, C., Wagner, C., Frankowski, J., & Dorow, M. (2014). Downstream migration dynamics of female and male silver eels (Anguilla anguilla L.) in the regulated German lowland Warnow River. Ecology of Freshwater Fish, 23, 7–20.
- Ricker, W. E. (1975). Computation and interpretation of biological statistics of fish populations. Bulletin of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada, 191, 1–382.
- Righton, D., Westerberg, H., Feunteun, E., Økland, F., Gargan, P., Amilhat, E., ... Aarestrup, K. (2016). Empirical observations of the spawning migration of European eels: The long and dangerous road to the Sargasso Sea. Science Advances, 2, 1–14.
- Simon, J., Berends, K., Dörner, H., Jepsen, N., & Fladung, E. (2011). European silver eel migration and fisheries induced mortality in the Havel River system (Germany). *River Research and Applications*, 28, 1510–1518.
- Stein, F., Doering-Arjes, P., Fladung, E., Brämick, U., Bendall, B., & Schröder, B. (2016). Downstream migration of the European eel (*Anguilla Anguilla*) in the Elbe River, Germany: Movement patterns and the potential impact of environmental factors. *River Research and Applications*, 32, 666–676.
- Svedäng, H., & Wickström, H. (1997). Low fat contents in females silver eels: Indications of insufficient energetic stores for migration and gonadal development. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 50, 475–486.
- Tesch, F. W. (1994). Tracking of silver eels in the Rivers Weser and Elbe. Fischokologie, 7, 47–59.

Tesch, F. W. (2003). The eel. Oxford: Blackwell Scientific.

- Verbiest, H., Breukelaar, A. W., Ovidio, M., & Belpaire, C. (2012). Escapement success and patterns of downstream migration of female silver eel Anguilla anguilla in the River Meuse. Ecology of Freshwater Fish, 21, 395–403.
- Vøllestad, L. A., & Jonsson, B. (1986). Life-history characteristics of the European eel Anguilla anguilla in the Imsa River, Norway. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society, 115, 864–871.
- Westerberg, H., Lagenfelt, I., & Svedäng, H. (2007). Silver eel migration behaviour in the Baltic. ICES Journal of Marine Science, 64, 1457–1462.
- Westin, L. (2003). Migration failure in stocked eels Anguilla anguilla. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 254, 307–311.
- Winter, H. V., Jansen, H. M., & Bruijs, M. C. M. (2006). Assessing the impact of hydropower and fisheries on downstream migrating silver eel, *Anguilla anguilla*, by telemetry in the River Meuse. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish*, 15, 221–228.
- Zettler, M. L., & Daunys, D. (2007). Long-term macrozoobenthos changes in a shallow boreal lagoon: Comparison of a recent biodiversity inventory with historical data. *Limnologica*, 37, 170–185.

How to cite this article: Dainys J, Stakėnas S, Gorfine H, Ložys L. Silver eel, *Anguilla anguilla* (Linnaeus, 1758), migration patterns in lowland rivers and lagoons in the North-Eastern region of their distribution range. *J Appl Ichthyol.* 2017;00:1–7.

https://doi.org/10.1111/jai.13426

IV.

Are Lithuanian Eels, *Anguilla anguilla* (Linnaeus, 1758), Fat Enough To Reach The Spawning Grounds?

Justas Dainys^{1*}, Harry Gorfine², Eglė Šidagytė³, Eglė Jakubavičiūtė¹, Mindaugas Kirka¹, Žilvinas Pūtys¹, Linas Ložys¹

¹ Laboratory of Marine Ecology, Nature Research Centre, Vilnius, Lithuania
 ²School of BioSciences, University of Melbourne, Parkville Campus, Victoria, Australia
 ³ Laboratory of Evolutionary Ecology of Hydrobionts, Nature Research Centre, Vilnius, Lithuania

* Corresponding author E-mail: <u>dainys@ekoi.lt</u>, tel. no +370 66263430

Abstract

Stocks of the European eel Anguilla anguilla have been in a steep decline since the 1980s. Stocking of water bodies with juvenile eels captured in the wild to establish or enhance local populations has been a common practise in Europe for many decades. However, the degree of contribution by stocked eels to natural spawning capacity is poorly known and extensively debated. There have been suggestions that eels derived from stocking are less likely to contribute to the spawning stock due to a lack of navigational capability and lower fitness related to insufficiency of energetic resources. Results of the current study indicated that eels translocated long distances from the point of capture and released into inland waters in Lithuania are successfully undergoing the silvering process. A proportion of 23.7% (N = 27) among all migrating eels were described to be at the yellow (SI, SFII or SFIII) eel stage and downstream movements of these eels should be attributed to local movements, rather than spawning migration; 76.3% were assigned to the silver eel stage. This study suggests that 36.8% (N = 32) of downstream migrating silver eels of stocked origin had accumulated sufficient energetic resources for spawning migration and gonadal development and should be able to traverse the 7900-km distance to the presumptive spawning grounds in the Sargasso Sea. The rest of migrating silver eels (63.2%, N = 55) had insufficient energetic resources; the average potential swimming range of these eels was estimated to be 6135 ± 683 km.

Key words: Anguilla anguilla, spawning migration, silvering, energetic resources, fat content.

Introduction

Since the 1980's, for reasons that remain unknown, steep population declines have been observed over the entire range of European eel (Anguilla anguilla) distribution: estimates of decline in rates of recruitment range from 50% to 99% (Moriarty and Dekker 1997; Feunteun 2002; Dekker 2004; ICES 2010; Jacoby and Gollock 2014). In the Baltic, recruitment of yellow eel has been continuously in decline since the 1950's, and a decline by 90% occurred, when comparing with recruitment level observed in 1960-1979 (ICES 2011). Landings have also decreased in many parts of the Baltic. For example, landings in the Curonian Lagoon show a 90% decline compared to pre-WW2 landings (ICES 2011). In response to declines in eel stocks the European Union (EU) issued the Regulation of European Council No. 1100/2007 during September 2007, which lays down measures for stock restoration of European eels. In accordance with regulations as well as national eel management plans developed by member states, many European countries are releasing wild caught glass or aquaculturereared eels into coastal and inland waters in order to enhance the production of adult (silver) eels escaping to the sea for spawning migration (ICES 2014). After several years or even decades spent in fresh or brackish waters these stocked eels reach the silver eel stage and start their spawning migration (Prigge et al. 2013; Simon and Dörner 2014), however, the degree of contribution to the spawning stock from those eels is poorly known (Limburg et al. 2003).

Eels are often stocked at the glass eel stage; these eels are usually transported as freight prior to release (Bogdan and Waluga1980). Sometimes such transportation involves long distances; e. g. glass eels are shipped over 2000 kilometres from United Kingdom or France to the North-Eastern area of the species distribution range in Lithuania. Although it has been estimated that 80% of eels inhabiting Curonian lagoon and 98% of eels in coastal waters have recruited naturally (Lin et al. 2007; Ložys et al. 2008), evidences of previous studies shows that all eels inhabiting Lithuanian inland waters originate from the release of cultured stock (Shiao et al. 2006; Lin et al. 2007; Ložys et al. 2008, Ragauskas et al. 2014). Even after WWII when the population was generally in good condition, eel abundance in the Eastern part of Lithuania was extremely low and largely depended on pre-war releases during 1928-1939 (Anonymous 1976). Eel stock in eastern Lithuania was built again after stocking programmes were started in 1956. During the last decades there is no information about eel caught in water body which is not stocked or connected via river with such lake.

There have been suggestions that eels derived from aquaculture farms are less likely to contribute to the spawning stock. Consequently, the rationale of re-stocking with farmed eels as an approach to mitigating decline in wild eel populations is increasingly being questioned (Brämick et al. 2016). Simon and Döner (2014) found that wild-sourced European glass eels showed better overall performance of survival, growth and condition compared with farm-sourced eels over a 7-year study period after stocking. Moreover, Couillard et al. (2014) demonstrated that none of the American silver eels (*Anguilla rostrata*) of farmed origin that were migrating downstream had enough energetic reserves (fat content) to complete both migration and maturation, whereas 57% of the silver eels of natural origin had adequate reserves.

Migrating silver eels at the final silvering stage do not feed during their migration to the spawning grounds (Tesch 2003); therefore they completely rely on accumulating sufficient fat stores during the

sedentary yellow eel stage spent in coastal or inland waters to obtain energy for migration and gonad development (Tesch 2003). The migration distance to the presumed spawning areas is at least 4000 km, but from different areas of the species' range may differ up to more than 3500 km (Schmidt 1923; McCleave 1993; Clevestam et al. 2011). Eels migrating from the North-Eastern region of their distribution range obviously need more energetic resources and more time to reach the spawning grounds in the Sargasso Sea, compared to eels migrating from the Atlantic coast bordering Eastern Europe. Spawning migration from the Western part of Europe is estimated to be c. 5000 km (Van Ginneken et al. 2005; Aarestrup et al.2009), whereas from the inland waters of Eastern Lithuania migrating eels must cover almost 8000 km. Due to a lack of data about energy resources among stocked eels migrating to spawn, especially from the North-Eastern region of the species' natural distribution range, it is unclear if European eels translocated over long distances prior to stocking have sufficient capacity to accommodate the extended distances of migration caused by human intervention. Inability of stocked eels in North America to accumulate adequate fat reserves for migration and reproduction was reported by Couillard et al. (2014).

This study was conducted to reveal whether or not eels translocated from the coasts of Western Europe to the North-Eastern edge of their distribution range can accumulate enough energy for c. 7900 kilometre long spawning migration to the spawning grounds presumably located in the Sargasso Sea and gonadal development.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Eel sampling design and technique

During annual downstream migrations in April-November of 2014-2016, an aggregate of 114 eels were caught via a trap net of 5-8-mm mesh size, from 10 different rivers (Alauša, Kretuona, Lakaja, Metelytė, Peršėkė, Riešė, Siesartis, Spernia, Žeimena, Žežiebra) in the Eastern and Southern parts of Lithuania, (Fig. 1 and Table 1). All eels were collected in rivers outflowing from mesotrophic lakes. The most intensive spawning migrations downstream in north-eastern eel distribution range generally occur during spring, most of the samples (N=77) were collected in April, May and June, eight eels were caught during summer time in July and August, while the rest 29 eels were caught during October, November and December. Such sampling distribution in time scale is in line with previously reported eel migration patterns in Lithuania, when c. 60% of eels start their migration in spring, 10% in summer and rest 30% in autumn (Ložys et al. 2008). All sampled eels were euthanized immediately after capture applying a lethal blow to the head. Eels were stored at -22°C in a freezer until the laboratory analysis of their fat content. To avoid weight loss the eels were stored in vacuum packaging. The surface areas of lakes where the ongrown eels have been released and allowed to grow before being caught during their migration ranged from 0.6 to 23.3 km² in surface and 4.0 to 15.2 m in depth (Table 1). Waters temperature varied between $12-19^{\circ}$ C and dissolved oxygen $8.3-11.5 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$ in inverse proportion temperature among the lakes (Table 1.).



Fig. 1 Map of Lithuania depicting the ten sites sampled for eels during this study

Table 1 Hydromorphological and physico-chemical characteristics of Lithuanian lakes, stocked with eels, outflowing to sampled rivers: surface area, mean depth, water temperature (T), dissolved oxygen (O₂), total phosphorus and nitrogen (TP, TN) and chlorophyll *a* (Chl. *a*). Concentrations of chlorophyll-a were measured by a spectrometer in accordance with the ISO 10260:1992 standard. Multiannual averages of physico-chemical characteristics were compiled from available annual (spring–autumn) averages provided by the Lithuanian Environmental Protection Agency (http://vanduo.gamta.lt/cms/index?rubricId = 8ea41f73-9742-4d71-aa10-0a5988713fe5, accessed on 2016-05-26)

| Sampled river | Coordinates, WGS | Stocked lake | Surface area, km ² | Mean depth, m | T, ℃ | O ₂ , mg L ⁻¹ | ΤΡ, μg L ⁻¹ | TN, μg L ⁻¹ | Chl. <i>a</i> , µg L ⁻¹ |
|------------------|-------------------------|---------------------|-------------------------------------|------------------|------|--|---------------------------|---------------------------|---------------------------------------|
| Žežiebra | 55.232243, 25.39934 | Dūriai | 2.7 | 4.0 | 11.9 | 11.5 | 25 | 1010 | 12.1 |
| Kretuona | 55.270707, 26.081396 | Kretuonas | 8.6 | 5.2 | 16.9 | 8.3 | 18 | 459 | 4.8 |
| Alauša | 55.636321, 25.698559 | Alaušas | 10.7 | 11.9 | 15.5 | 9.2 | 7 | 660 | 2.5 |
| Metelytė | 54.331091, 23.747907 | Metelys | 12.9 | 6.8 | 16.8 | 9.2 | 29 | 775 | 4.2 |
| Peršekė | 54.329241, 23.829165 | Obelija | 5.7 | 4.5 | 17.9 | 9.4 | 34 | 1225 | 6.5 |
| Lakaja | 55.1814, 25.678833 | Juodieji Lakajai | 3.9 | 8.2 | 17.7 | 10.1 | 11 | 488 | 7.9 |
| Siesartis | 55.287674, 24.933283 | Siesartis | 5.0 | 11.3 | 16.0 | 10.2 | 9 | 858 | 2.5 |
| Spernia | 54.337942, 23.664945 | Dusia | 23.3 | 15.4 | 16.2 | 9.9 | 34 | 763 | 5.7 |
| Žeimena | 55.254464, 25.996888 | Žeimenys | 4.4 | 6.9 | 18.5 | 9.4 | 26 | 383 | 7.6 |
| Riešė | 54.785018, 25.329406 | Balsys | 0.6 | 15.2 | 17.5 | 10.1 | 16 | 550 | 8.2 |

2.2. Silvering stage determination

Morphometric measures (total body length and weight; gutted weight; height and width of the eye and length of the pectoral fin) were made on fresh carcasses immediately after euthanasia. Sex was determined by morphological examination of the gonad (Tesch 1977), aided by a stereoscopic binocular microscope for smaller eels. The silvering index is based on the following external body measurements: total body length (TL), body weight (M), pectoral fin length (LPF), and mean eye diameter (MD = [vertical eye diameter + horizontal eye diameter]/2) and was determined as described in Durif et al. (2005, 2009). It allows determination of the 'degree of silvering': SI-SFII are 'yellow' eels (SI - sexually undifferentiated); SFIII eels are pre-migrant females; SFIV and SFV are the last silvering stages for 'silver' females, and SMII is the last silvering stage for 'silver' males.

2.3. Determination of fat content

A section of lateral muscle from both sides of the body, 2.5 cm away from the anal vent, was removed for the analysis of muscle fat content (the total lipid content of the muscle). Soxtec method (Gerhardt Soxterm fat extraction system, Germany) was used to extract lipids from the sample (Anderson 2004). A sample of about 25–35 g of muscle tissue was homogenised. The proteins were digested by boiling the sample in hydrochloric acid (4M aquatic solution) for one hour to break the lipo-protein bonds. The solution was then filtered, and fats remaining on the filter were dried at 103°C for 20 minutes in a mechanical convection oven and then extracted with 150mL of petroleum ether, boiled for 90 min at 150°C and rinsed for 60 min. After fat extraction, the samples were dried at 103°C for one hour in a mechanical convection oven and weighed to the nearest 0.001 g. Muscle fat content (%) was calculated as the ratio of the initial sample weight and its weight after the treatment. The individual fat reserve (M_{fat}, g) wascalculated as described by Couillard et al. (2014):

 $M_{fat} = 10^{-2} \times \%$ lipid body mass $\times 0.8$ skin and bone excluded .

2.4. Calculation of swimming potential

Swimming potential was calculated according to Van Ginneken and Van den Thillart (2000). These authors suggest that 60% of the lipids are reserved for gonadal development, the caloric value of eel fat is 10.68 kcal g⁻¹, and the energy cost of swimming for eels is 0.137 Cal g⁻¹ km⁻¹ (using wet weight). The distance of migration from inland waters in Eastern Lithuania to presumed spawning grounds in the Sargasso Sea was estimated to be c. 7900 km based on Clevestam et al. (2011) who estimated the distance from Öresund in Sweden to be c. 6900 km. 1000 km were added for the eels to reach Öresund from the sampling sites via the Klaipėda Strait, which is the gateway to the marine environment for most migrating eels from Lithuanian inland waters (Fig. 1). Silver eels of different silvering stages (SMII, SFV and SFIV) were not pooled during the analysis because eels in the last silvering stage

(SMII and SFV) are known to cease feeding (Van den Thillart and Dufour 2009), whereas SFIV eels are still able to increase their fat stores. The swimming potential for yellow eels (SI, SFII and SFIII) was not calculated as these eels only undertake local movements but not spawning migrations.

2.5. Statistical analysis

The relationship between the silvering stage and fat content was determined using correlation analysis. As only 7 male individuals were caught (SMII), the correlation analysis was conducted on a dataset of undifferentiated and female eels (SI–SFV). Pearson's correlation test was used and silvering stage variable was log-transformed. One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was followed by generalised Tukey's HSD post-hoc tests (for the case of unequal sample sizes) to indicate homogenous stage groups (the assumption of homoscedasticity among data was met (Levene's tests: P>0.08)). The analysis was conducted using the statistical software package STATISTICA[®] 8.

2.6. Ethics statement

All applicable international, national, and/or institutional guidelines for the care and use of animals were followed. All animal work was conducted on public land and waterways, and complied with relevant national and international guidelines and legislation. Annual field permits to perform fish surveys (for collecting eels from Lithuanian rivers) were issued by the Environmental Protection Agency under the Ministry of Environment of the Republic of Lithuania for the duration of this 3-year study (No. 025 (2014); No. 016 (2015); and No. 002 (2016)). These permits covered all specific procedures carried out in the current study, including sampling locations, duration and method. No additional permits were required as no laboratory experiments involving live animals were

performed. An Animal Ethics Committee (AEC) of the Nature Research Centre was only recently established on 17 May 2016, whereas the current study was performed during April 2014 – May 2016, preceding the existence of the AEC.

3. Results

3.1. Maturation stage and sex structure

The majority of eels sampled (65.8%, N = 75) were at the last silvering stage (SFV for females or SMII for males), whereas eels of stage SFIV accounted for 10.5% (N = 12). The yellow eels (stages SI, SFII and SFIII) accounted for 23.7% (N = 27) of all eels sampled. Females dominated the samples, accounting for 88% (N = 100) of all the eels that were analysed. Smaller bodied males accounted for 6.1% (N = 7), whilst another 7 individuals (6.1%) were sexually undifferentiated young yellow eels.

3.2. Energetic resources and swimming potential

SMII

SFV and SMII

7

75

 48.0 ± 7.8

 68.3 ± 10.9

The results of total fat content analysis showed that there was a significant correlation between the silvering stage and fat content (r = 0.80, P < 0.001), although up to 40% variation in fat content would be due to other unspecified explanatory factors i.e. $r^2 = 0.63$. ANOVA also indicated a significant stage effect on fat content ($F_{5,108} = 62.5$, P < 0.001), and post-hoc tests separated the eels into four homogenous groups: SI, SFII, SFIII-SFIV-SFV and SFIV-SFV-SMII (P < 0.02). Migrating male eels of the latest SMII silvering stage had the highest muscle fat content, varying from 28.5 to 33.9% (31.0 \pm 1.9%, mean \pm SD) with their swimming potential varying from 7987 to 8462 km (8152 \pm 174km, mean \pm SD), while the females of the latest (SFV) silvering stage had an average fat content of 26.3 \pm 3.7 with average swimming potential of 6743 \pm 1116 km.Eels at silvering stage SFIV had an average fat content of 26.3 \pm 2.7%. The average swimming potential of these eels was equivalent to 6798 \pm 976km. The yellow eels possessed lower percentages of fat content – SFIII and SFII eels had 25.1 \pm 2.8 and 17.6 \pm 4.6% average fat content, respectively. The yellow eels at the silvering stage SI had the lowest fat content (average 4.6 \pm 1.9%).

The analytical results suggested that 100% (N = 7) of male eels of the latest silvering stage SMII and 30.9% (N = 21) of female eels at the latest silvering stage SFV possessed sufficient fat reserves to be capable of migrating from Lithuanian coastal waters to the Sargasso Sea (>7900 km). The remainder 69.1% (N = 47) of the female eels at stage SFV had insufficient energy resources to complete the migration. Four out of 12 (33.3%) eels sampled at the silvering stage SFIV had sufficient energy resources for spawning migration (Table 2).

| Silvering stage | Ν | Length, cm | Weight, g | Fat content,% | Swimming potential, km |
|-----------------|----|----------------|--------------|---------------|---------------------------|
| SI | 7 | 28.0 ± 8.8 | 39 ± 32 | 4.6 ± 1.9 | NA |
| SFII | 5 | 56.2 ± 5.4 | 254 ± 64 | 17.6 ± 4.6 | NA |
| SFIII | 15 | 70.7 ± 8.2 | 593 ± 224 | 25.1 ± 2.8 | NA |
| SFIV | 12 | 89.5 ± 7.1 | 1418 ± 303 | 26.3 ± 2.7 | 6798 ± 976 |
| SFV | 68 | 70.4 ± 8.9 | 634 ± 231 | 26.3 ± 3.7 | 6743 ± 1116 |

 194 ± 142

 593 ± 2582

 31.0 ± 1.9

 26.7 ± 3.8

 8152 ± 174

 6874 ± 1141

 Table 2 The main morphometric parameters, fat content and swimming potential of eels sampled from

 Lithuanian waters

The regression model for fat content of SI–SFV eels as a function of stage and chlorophyll a is presented in Table 3. It indicated that stage was the only significant predictor of eel fat content, whereas the coefficient for chlorophyll a was not significant.

4. Discussion

Our study results suggest that at least 37% of glass eels translocated by freight for more than 2000 kilometres from the United Kingdom or France and then released into Lithuanian inland waters at the final silvering stage (SFV and SMII) accumulate sufficient energetic stores of fat for gonadal development and spawning migration of c. 7900 km to the Sargasso Sea. The remaining 63% of eels at the final SFV and SMII silvering stages had insufficient fat stores, with average shortage of 2.5 \pm 0.9%. Eels of the last silvering stage (SFV or SMII) accounted 86% (N = 75) of all silver eels (SFIV, SFV and SMII) performing downstream migrations. Four out of 12 eels at the SFIV silvering stage had enough energetic resources to reach the spawning grounds, while the remaining eight eels were unable to successfully undertake the spawning migration due to insufficient energetic resources and a swimming potential that was too low to cover a distance longer than 7900 km. The remaining 27 eels in our study were described to be in the yellow (SI, SFII or SFIII) eel stage with relatively low fat content (18.4 \pm 9.3%). Swimming potential of these eels was not calculated, due to downstream movements of these eels could be linked to local movements, rather than actual spawning migration (Ovidio et al. 2013; Cobo et al. 2014). Despite yellow eels (SI-SFII) belonging to a life history category that is considered as a resident stage that does not engage in spawning migrations, Belpaire et al. (2009) suggested that the decrease in fat content in yellow eels may be a key element in the decline of stocks which raises serious concerns about the chances of the stock to recover. Decreases in the mean lipid content of yellow eels (from c. 21 to 13%) over a 30-year period have been observed in the Netherlands (De Boer et al. 2010), while very similar decreases (from 20 to 12%) have also been reported in Belgium between 1994 and 2006 (Belpaire et al. 2009). In contrast to previous findings, Oliver et al. (2015) reported increased fat content of yellow eels (mean fat content = 21% in 1986; and 37 % in 2004–2008) caught in different locations in Scotland, however these authors agree that 37% is an unusually high fat content for yellow eels. Maes et al. (2007) reported a mean fat content of 14.9% for yellow eels collected in Flanders, and McHugh et al. (2010) reported fat content to be ranging between 8.28 and 9.18% for mixed sex samples of silver eels taken from Irish waters. In Lithuania's case there are no historical data on yellow eel fat content, but the mean fat content of yellow eels (18.4%) measured in this current study was relatively higher when compared to quantities reported by Maes et al. (2007), Belpaire et al. (2009), De Boer et al. (2010) and McHugh et al. (2010). This suggests that stocked Lithuanian yellow eels are of good quality.

Even after decades of research, eel orientation mechanisms and migration routes to the presumptive spawning grounds that cover a vast area of more than 1.7×10^6 km² remain a mystery (Béguer-Pon et al. 2016). Moreover, anguillids are known to perform diurnal vertical migrations (Aarestrup et al. 2009; Beguer-Pon et al. 2012). Diel vertical migration in the field (200–700 m) may result in higher

efficiency at greater depth and pressure during the day, however temperatures at 700 m in the open ocean are around 6°C and it remains unknown whether silver eels are capable of swimming at such low temperatures (Palstra and Van den Thillart 2010). In this context, assessing the role of oceanic currents during the silver eel's migration appears to be potentially very important, but it has never been quantified (Béguer-Pon et al. 2016). Given these uncertainties regarding migration, calculation of energy demand for successfully reaching the Sargasso sea to spawn should be considered as a rough approximation at best and inadequate for drawing firm conclusions. Nevertheless, Lithuania is in the North-Eastern part of the European distribution range for eels, which is among the most distant regions from the presumptive eel spawning grounds in Sargasso Sea. It is known that in such distant areas from northern latitudes eel migration commences earlier (Bruijs and Durif 2009). This phenomenon is associated with species adaptation to reach spawning grounds in synchrony with eels from different areas of the distribution range (Bruijs and Durif 2009). Critically, it also enables them to feed during the early continental migration phase, especially in the Lithuanian case when passing through the highly eutrophic Curonian Lagoon that provides a rich food supply prior to entering the Baltic Sea. Aarestrup et al. (2008) reported that in Denmark the migration of silver eels may not always be a direct journey to the ocean, but may also include resident periods in coastal areas. Some of SFV and SFIV eels in the current study were similarly found to be feeding (the stomachs of 7 eels were filled with various marginally digested food items, e.g. insect larvae and small fish). Moreover, Svedäng and Wickström (1997) suggested that silver eels at the non-feeding stage with commensurate low fat content may temporarily halt their migration, revert to a feeding stage, and "bulk up" until their fat reserves are sufficient to carry out successful migration to the spawning area. Westin (1990) reported that tagged sea-running silver eels have been recaptured in the Baltic Sea after more than 4 years. This supports the idea that silver eels, especially at early silvering stages, are likely to be able to resume feeding during migration. Sjöberg et al. (2016), however, reported, that some of the migrating silver eels recaptured after overwintering lost their weight, nevertheless at least some of the eels were feeding. Despite weight loss, stored energetic resources were not examined as well as silvering stage was determined using ocular index only. Thus it remains unclear do those eel were at the final or early silvering stage and what shortage of energetic resources they had, if any. Moreover, Sjöberg et al. (2016) suggest that the weight decrease may not be associated with a migration failure but instead be a result of the maturation process where, for example, muscle tissue is replaced by fat.

Svedäng and Wickström (1997)showed that fat reserves among migrating silver eels ranged from 10 to 28%, which suggests that most Swedish silver eels of stocked origin cannot complete the journey to the spawning grounds. However, Van Ginneken and van den Thillart (2000) argue that mature females leaving the coasts of Europe have sufficient energy reserves to swim c. 6000 kilometres to the Sargasso Sea. Substantial individual variation in fat content among silver eels of unknown origin has been reported from a study of a lake in Norway: in this instance the eels contained between 12.5 and 41.9% fat (Bergersen and Klemetsen 1988). Clevestam and Wickström (2008) reported that silver eels of natural origin had higher fat content and exhibited a higher degree of maturity when caught during their migration out of the Baltic Sea compared with silver eels of stocked origin. Similar results were obtained when silver American eel (*Anguilla rostrata*) eels of stocked origin exhibited lower values of

silvering indices (Couillard et al. 2014). Clevestam et al. (2011) suggested that a large proportion of female silver eels (at least 26.4%) from the Baltic Sea catchment area will have inadequate or suboptimal reserves for successful migration and reproduction, but the origin of these eels was not identified. Limburg et al. (2003) noted that silver eels exiting the Baltic Sea had a higher fat content (21.1% of body weight) than those collected in the Southern Baltic near Denmark (18.6%), but differences were not significant between native eels and those presumed to have been stocked within the same geographic area. There are, however, indications that silver eels departing from fresh water bodies are less mature than those in the Baltic outlet, which concurs with other studies showing a gradual transition from yellow to latest silver stages (Durif et al. 2005). Couillard et al. (2014) compared energy reserves of migrant silver American Eels Anguilla rostrata from a stocking program with those originating from wild recruitment. It was estimated that 100% of the stocked eels had inadequate fat reserves for migration and reproduction, whereas 57% of the natural migrants had adequate reserves. Lithuanian silver eels (SFIV, SFV and SMII) of stocked origin had c. 26-27% fat in their muscles on average when migrating downstream. However, the average fat content of silver eels that were assessed as being capable of reaching the spawning grounds was somewhat greater at 30.3%. The fat content of Lithuanian silver eels of stocked origin was similar compared to that reported for eels migrating from the western region their geographic distribution range: Mariottini et al. (2006) reported fat content of 25-27% for eels collected migrating from lagoons of Italy, but the silvering stage of these eels was not determined. The fat content of seven SFIV downstream migrating eels caught in River Frémur (Northern France) was reported to be 18.3%, while thirteen SFV eels had 20.3% fat on average (Besson et al. 2016). The average fat content for silver eels caught during migration in Northern Ireland was 26.7% for males (SMII) and 22.7% for females (SFV) (Barry et al. 2016), while McHugh et al. (2010) reported between 14.3 and 20.9% for mixed sex silver eels sampled from Irish waters. Silver eels migrating in Germany were reported to have a mean fat content of 27.3% (Marohn et al. 2014). The results of the fat analysis from the current study are consistent with results from other studies which have shown that fat content in silver eels typically varies between 25 and 30% (Bertin 1956; Boetius and Boetius 1985; Bergersen and Klemetsen 1988; Larsson et al. 1990; Tesch 2003; Clevestam et al. 2011). In contrast to the results of Couillard et al. (2014) for American eel, these studies indicated that translocation over long distances does not affect ability to accumulate adequate energy reserves.

We estimated that the 19 out of 55 (34.5%) silver eels which possessed potential to swim distances further than 6500 km, but less than 7900 km, would have needed to increase their energy resources at least by an additional $1.5 \pm 0.3\%$ to be able to reach their spawning grounds. Some among the silver eels that we sampled were found to be feeding, suggesting that eels with a minor shortage of energy resources were likely to marginally increase their muscle lipid content to an adequate level for migration. The swimming range among the remaining 36 silver eels with insufficient energetic resources was estimated to be between 4584 and 6459 km. To reach the minimum required level of energy for successful migration to spawn, they needed to increase their fat reserves by at least an additional $2.9 \pm 0.7\%$. These eels, however, were also able to feed to potentially increase their energetic resources.

Svedäng and Wickström (1997) found no correlation between the maturity stage and muscle fat concentration among silver eels. Furthermore, testing for correlation between the muscle fat concentration, hepato-somatic and gonado-somatic indices revealed that relative liver size was unrelated to the maturation process as well as there were no correlation between fat content and maturation indices. In contrast, our study demonstrated that the correlation between maturity stage and muscle fat concentration in silver eels was significant, showing that fat concentration in muscle increased with the ongoing silvering process As all eels were collected in rivers outflowing of mesotrophic lakes our results can by applied only for mesotrophic waters.

Despite some limitations of our study it can nevertheless be concluded that more than one third of silver eels across all stages that were previously translocated for a considerable distance and then released into inland waters of North-Eastern Europe for restocking natural populations, had sufficient energetic resources for successful spawning migration and gonadal maturation. The remaining two thirds of silver eels had marginal shortages of energetic reserves, but when engaged in downstream migrations these eels were at early silvering stages and still able to feed to increase the fat reserves stored in their muscle tissue.

5. References

Aarestrup K, Økland F, Hansen M, Righton D, Gargan P, Castonguay M, et al. (2009) Oceanic Spawning Migration of the European Eel (*Anguilla anguilla*). Science 325:1660. doi: 10.1126/science.1178120

Aarestrup K, Thorstad EB, Koed A, Jepsen N, Svendsen JC, Pedersen MI, et al. (2008) Survival and behaviour of European silver eel in late freshwater and early marine phase during spring migration. Fisheries Manag Ecol 15:435–440. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2400.2008.00639.x

Anderson S (2004) Soxtec: Its principles and Applications. In: Luthria DL (ed) Oil Extraction and Analysis. Critical Issues and Competitive Studies. AOCS Publishing, pp 11-25

Anonymous (1976) Fishery in the inland waters of Lithuanian SSR during 1947-1973 (in Lithuanian). Committee for Environmental Protection. Vilnius, 195

Barry J, Newton M, Dodd JA, Lucas MC, Boylan P, Adams CE (2016) Freshwater and coastal migration patterns in the silver-stage eel *Anguilla anguilla*. J Fish Biol 88:676–689. doi: 10.1111/jfb.12865

Béguer-Pon M, Shan S, Thompson KR, Castonguay M, Sheng J, Dodson JJ (2016) Exploring the role of the physical marine environment in silver eel migrations using a biophysical particle tracking model. ICES J Mar Sci 73:57-74. doi:10.1093/icesjms/fsv169

Beguer-Pon M, Benchetrit J, Castonguay M, Aarestrup K, Campana SE, Stokesbury MJW, Dodson JJ (2012) Shark predation on migrating adult American eels (*Anguilla rostrata*) in the Gulf of St. Lawrence. PLoS One 7(10):e46830. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0046830

Belpaire CGJ, Goemans G, Geeraerts C, Quataert P, Parmentier K, Hagel P, De Boer J (2009) Decreasing eel stocks: survival of the fattest? Ecol Freshw Fish 18:197–214

Bergersen R, Klemetsen A (1988) Freshwater Eel *Anguilla anguilla* (L.) from North Norway, with Emphasis on Occurrence, Food, Age and Downstream Migration. Nord J Freshw Res 64:54-66

Bertin L (1956) Eels, a Biological Study. Cleaver-Hume Press, London

Besson ML, Trancart T, Acou A, Charrier F, Mazel V, Legault A, Feunteun E (2016) Disrupted downstream migration behaviour of European silver eels (*Anguilla anguilla*, L.) in an obstructed river. Environ Biol Fish 99:779. doi:10.1007/s10641-016-0522-9

Boetius I, Boetius J (1985) Lipid and protein content in *Anguilla anguilla* during growth and starvation. Dana 4:1–17

Bogdan E, Waluga D (1980) The effect of transport on the quality of eel stocking material. Aquaculture20:139-146. doi:10.1016/0044-8486(80)90043-5

Brämick U, Fladung E, Simon J (2016) Stocking is essential to meet the silver eel escapement target in a river system with currently low natural recruitment. *ICES* J Mar Sci 73:91-100. doi:10.1093/icesjms/fsv113

Bruijs MCM, Durif CMF (2009) Silver eel migration and behaviour. In Van den Thillart G, Dufour S, Rankin JC (eds) Spawning Migration of the European Eel. Reproduction Index, a Useful Tool for Conservation Management. Springer, Netherlands, pp 65-95

Clevestam P, Ogonowski M, Sjöberg NB, Wickström H (2011) Too short to spawn? Implications of small body size and swimming distance on successful migration and maturation of the European eel *Anguilla*. J Fish Biol 78:1073-89. doi: 10.1111/j.1095-8649.2011.02920.x

Clevestam P, Wickström H (2008) Save the eel and the eel fisheries – a national contribution to a European management plan. Final report from the pilot project of the Foundation for Fisheries development (in Swedish). Swedish Board of Fisheries

Cobo F, Sánchez-Hernández J, Vieira R, Servia MJ (2014) Seasonal downstream movements of the European eel in a Southwestern Europe river (River Ulla, NW Spain). Nova Acta Cient Compostel Biol 21:77-84

Couillard CM, Verreault G, Dumont P, Stanley D, Threader RW (2014) Assessment of Fat Reserves Adequacy in the First Migrant Silver American Eels of a Large-Scale Stocking Experiment. N Am J Fish Manage 34:802–813. doi:10.1080/02755947.2014.920738

De Boer J, Dao QT, Van Leeuwen SPJ, Kotterman MJJ, Schobben JHM (2010) Thirty year monitoring of PCBs, organochlorine pesticides and tetrabromodiphenylether in eel from The Netherlands. Environ Pollut 158:1228-1236. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2010.01.026

Dekker W (2004) Slipping through our hands: population dynamics of the European eel. Dissertation, University of Amsterdam

Durif C, Dufour S, Elie P (2005) The silvering process of *Anguilla anguilla*: a new classification from the yellow resident to the silver migrating stage. J Fish Biol 66:1025–1043. doi:10.1111/j.1095-8649.2005.00662.x

Durif C, Guibert A, Elie P (2009) Morphological discrimination of the silvering stages of the European eel. In: Casselman JM, Cairns DK (eds) Eels at the edge: science, status, and conservation concerns. American Fisheries Society Symposium 58, Bethesda, Maryland, pp 103-111

Feunteun E (2002) Management and restoration of European eel population (*Anguilla anguilla*): An impossible bargain. Ecol Eng 18:575–591. doi:10.1016/S0925-8574(02)00021-6

ICES (2010) Report of the Workshop on Baltic Eel (WKBALTEEL), 2–4 November 2010: Stockholm, Sweden

ICES (2011) Report of the 2011 Session of the Joint EIFAAC/ICES Working Group on Eels. Lisbon, Portugal.

ICES (2014) Report of the Joint EIFAAC/ICES/GFCM Working Group on Eel 3–7 November 2014: Rome, Italy.

Jacoby D, Gollock M (2014) *Anguilla anguilla*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened SpeciesAvailable: http://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2014-1.RLTS.T60344A45833138.en

Larsson P, Hamrin S, Okla L (1990) Fat content as a factor inducing migratory behaviour in the eel (*Anguilla anguilla* L.) to the Sargasso sea. Naturwissenschaften 77:488-490 doi:10.1007/BF01135929

Limburg KE, Wickstrom H, Svedang H, Elfman M, Kristiansson P (2003) Do stocked freshwater eels migrate? Evidence from the Baltic suggests "yes". Am Fish S S 33:275–284

Lin YJ, Ložys L, Shiao JC, Iizuka Y, Tzeng WN (2007) Growth differences between naturally recruited and stocked European eel *Anguilla anguilla* from different habitats in Lithuania. J Fish Biol 71:1773-1787. doi:10.1111/j.1095-8649.2007.01642.x

Ložys L, Repečka R, Pūtys Ž, Gurjanovaitė K (2008) Scientific justification of European eel (*Anguilla anguilla*) management plan. (In Lithuanian). Vilnius

Maes J, Belpaire C, Goemans G (2007) Spatial variations and temporal trends between 1994 and 2005 in polychlorinated biphenyls, organochlorine pesticides and heavy metals in European eel (*Anguilla anguilla* L.) in Flanders, Belgium. Environ Pollut 53:223-37. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2007.07.021

Mariottini M, Corsi I, Focardi S (2006) PCB levels in European eel (*Anguilla anguilla*) from two coastal lagoons of the Mediterranean. Environ Monit Assess 117:519–528. doi:10.1007/s10661-006-2767-9

Marohn L, Prigge E, Hanel R (2014) Escapement success of silver eels from a German river system is low compared to management-based estimates. Freshw Biol 59:64–72. doi:10.1111/fwb.12246

McCleave JD (1993) Physical and behavioural controls on the oceanic distribution and migration of leptocephali. J Fish Biol 43(supplement A):243-273. doi:10.1111/j.1095-8649.1993.tb01191.x

McHugh B, Poole R, Corcoran J, Anninou P, Boyle B, Joyce E, Foley MB et al. (2010) The occurrence of persistent chlorinated and brominated organic contaminants in the European eel (Anguilla anguilla) in Irish waters. Chemosphere 79:305-313. doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2010.01.029

Moriarty C, Dekker W (1997) Management of the European eel. Fisheries Bulletin, Dublin

Oliver IW, Macgregor K, Godfrey JD, Harris L, Duguid A (2015) Lipid increases in European eel (*Anguilla anguilla*) in Scotland 1986-2008: an assessment of physical parameters and the influence of organic pollutants. Environ Sci Pollut R 22:7519- 7528. doi:10.1007/s11356-015-4116-4

Ovidio M, Seredynski AL, Philippart JC, NzauMatondo B (2013) A bit of quiet between the migrations: the resting life of the European eel during their freshwater growth phase in a small stream. Aquat Ecol 47:291–301. doi:10.1007/SI0452-013-9444-1

Palstra AP, Van den Thillart G (2010) Swimming physiology of European silver eels (*Anguilla anguilla* L.): energetic costs and effects on sexual maturation and reproduction. Fish Physiol Biochem 36:297–322. doi:10.1007/s10695-010-9397-4

Prigge E, Marohn L, Hanel R (2013) Tracking the migratory success of stocked European eels *Anguilla anguilla* in the Baltic Sea. J Fish Biol 82:686–699. doi:10.1111/jfb.12032

Ragauskas A, Butkauskas D, Sruoga A, Kesminas V, Rashal I, Tzeng WN (2014) Analysis of the genetic structure of the European eel *Anguilla anguilla* using the mtDNA D-loop region molecular marker. Fisheries Sci 80:463-474. doi:10.1007/s12562-014-0714-1

Schmidt J (1923) Breeding places and migration of the eel. Nature 111: 51-54

Shiao JC, Ložys L, Iizuka Y, Tzeng WN (2006) Migratory patterns and contribution of stocking to population of European eel in Lithuanian waters as indicated by otolith Sr:Ca ratios. J Fish Biol 69:749-769. doi:10.1111/j.1095-8649.2006.01147.x

Simon J, Dörner H (2014) Survival and growth of European eels stocked as glass- and farmsourced eels in five lakes in the first years after stocking. Ecol Freshw Fish 23:40–48. doi:10.1111/eff.12050

Sjöberg NB, Wickström H, Asp A, Petersson E (2016) Migration of eels tagged in the Baltic Sea and Lake Mälaren—in the context of the stocking question. Ecol Freshw Fish doi:10.1111/eff.12296

Svedäng H, Wickström H (1997) Low fat contents in female silver eels: indications of insufficient energetic stores for migration and gonadal development. J Fish Biol 50:475–486. doi:10.1111/j.1095-8649.1997.tb01943.x

Tesch FW (1977) The eel: biology and management of anguillid eels. Chapman and Hall, London

Tesch FW (2003) The Eel. Blackwell Scientific, Oxford

Van den Thillart G, Dufour S (2009) How to estimate the reproductive success of European silver eels. In: Van den Thillart G, Dufour S, Rankin JC (eds) Spawning migration of the European eel. Reproduction index, a useful tool for conservation management. Springer, pp 3-12

Van Ginneken V, Antonissen E, Müller UK, Booms R, Eding E, Verreth J, van den Thillart G (2005) Eel migration to the Sargasso: remarkably high swimming efficiency and low energy costs. J Exp Biol 208:1329–1335. doi:10.1242/jeb.01524

Van Ginneken VJT, van den Thillart G (2000) Physiology: Eel fat stores are enough to reach the Sargasso. Nature 403:156–157. doi:10.1038/35003110

Westin L (1990) Orientation mechanisms in migrating European silver eel (*Anguilla anguilla*): temperature and olfaction. Mar Biol 106:175–179. doi:10.1007/BF01314798